
 

-1- 

 
 

UNALASKA CITY COUNCIL 
P. O. Box 610 ▪ Unalaska, Alaska 99685 

Tel (907) 581-1251 ▪ Fax (907) 581-1417 ▪ www.ci.unalaska.ak.us 
 

Vincent M. Tutiakoff Sr., Mayor 
Erin Reinders, City Manager 

Marjie Veeder, City Clerk mveeder@ci.unalaska.ak.us 

 

COUNCIL MEETING ATTENDANCE 
The community is encouraged to attend meetings of the City Council: 

• In person at City Hall 

• Online via ZOOM (link, meeting ID & password below) 

• By telephone (toll and toll free numbers, meeting ID & password below) 

• Listen on KUCB TV Channel 8 or Radio Station 89.7 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
The Mayor and City Council value and encourage community input at meetings of the City Council. There is a time 
limit of 3 minutes per person, per topic. Options for public comment: 

• In person 

• By telephone or ZOOM - notify the City Clerk if you’d like to provide comment using ZOOM features (chat 
message or raise your hand); or *9 by telephone to raise your hand; or you may notify the City Clerk during 
regular business hours in advance of the meeting 

• Written comment is accepted up to one hour before the meeting begins by email, regular mail, fax or hand 
delivery to the City Clerk, and will be read during the meeting; include your name 

ZOOM MEETING LINK: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/85203975430 
Meeting ID: 852 0397 5430 / Passcode: 977526 

TELEPHONE: Meeting ID: 852 0397 5430 / Passcode: 977526 
Toll Free numbers: (833) 548-0276; or (833) 548-0282; or (877) 853-5247; or (888) 788-0099 
Non Toll Free numbers: (253) 215-8782; or (346) 248-7799; or (669) 900-9128 

 

AGENDA 
1. Call to order 

2. Roll call 

3. Pledge of Allegiance 

4. Adoption of Agenda 

5. Oath of Office 

a. DPS Officer Kody Decker 

b. DPS Officer Grant Dowty 

6. Employee Anniversary Awards 

a. Marjie Veeder – 10 years 

b. Erin Reinders – 10 years 

Unalaska City Hall 
Council Chambers 

43 Raven Way 
 
 
 

Council Members 
Dennis M. Robinson 
Alejandro R. Tungul 

Shari Coleman 
 

 

Regular Meeting 
Tuesday, August 24, 2021 
6:00 p.m. 
 
 
 

Council Members 
Thomas D. Bell 
Darin Nicholson 
Daneen Looby 

Council Packet Page 1 

http://www.ci.unalaska.ak.us/
mailto:mveeder@ci.unalaska.ak.us
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/85203975430


 

-2- 

7. Approve Minutes of Previous Meeting August 10, 2021 

8. City Manager Report 

9. Community Input & Announcements Members of the public may provide information to council; and 

make announcements of interest to the community. Three-minute time limit. 

10. Public Comment on Agenda Items Time for members of the public to provide information to Council 

regarding items on the agenda. Members of the public may also speak when the issue comes up on the regular 

agenda by signing up with the City Clerk. Three-minute time limit. 

11. Public Hearing Members of the public may testify about any item set for public hearing. Three-minute time 

limit. 

a. Ordinance 2021-15 (second reading): Creating FY22 Budget Amendment #1, to receive 
$7,200 from Aleutian Pribilof Islands Association and appropriating $7,200 in the 
General Fund for the Senior Exercise Program; appropriating $197,884 in the General 
Fund for PSEA employee compensation per the CBA; and recognizing $1,069,850 of 
American Rescue Plan Act revenue and appropriating $1,069,850 for expenditures in 
the Coronavirus Relief Fund 

12. Consent Agenda Approval of non-controversial and routine items, accomplished without debate and with 

a single motion and vote. Council members may request an item be moved to the regular agenda for 

discussion purposes. 

a. Ordinance 2021-15 (second reading): Creating FY22 Budget Amendment #1, to receive 
$7,200 from Aleutian Pribilof Islands Association and appropriating $7,200 in the 
General Fund for the Senior Exercise Program; appropriating $197,884 in the General 
Fund for PSEA employee compensation per the CBA; and recognizing $1,069,850 of 
American Rescue Plan Act revenue and appropriating $1,069,850 for expenditures in 
the Coronavirus Relief Fund 

b. Resolution 2021-56: Authorizing the City Manager to enter into an agreement with HDR 
Engineering, Inc. to prepare a cost/benefit analysis for the Captains Bay Road and 
Utilities Improvements Project in the amount of $234,019.75 

13. Regular Agenda Persons wishing to speak on regular agenda items must sign up with the City Clerk. 

Three-minute time limit. 

a. Resolution 2021-57: Encouraging community wide COVID-19 protective measures 

b. Resolution 2021-58: Authorizing the City Manager to enter into a contract with Parkside 
Development, LLC to construct primary electric, water and sewer utility service 
extensions for the Parkside Estates Subdivision  

14. Council Directives to City Manager 

15. Community Input & Announcements Members of the public may provide information to council; and 

make announcements of interest to the community. Three-minute time limit. 

16. Adjournment 

 

Council Packet Page 2 



 

-1- 

 
 

UNALASKA CITY COUNCIL 
P. O. Box 610 ▪ Unalaska, Alaska 99685 

Tel (907) 581-1251 ▪ Fax (907) 581-1417 ▪ www.ci.unalaska.ak.us 
 

Vincent M. Tutiakoff Sr., Mayor 
Erin Reinders, City Manager 

Marjie Veeder, City Clerk mveeder@ci.unalaska.ak.us 
 

MINUTES 

1. Call to order Vice Mayor Robinson called the regular meeting of the Unalaska City Council to order 
on Tuesday, August 10, 2021 at 6:00pm in the Unalaska City Hall council chambers. 

2. Roll call 
 
Present:      Absent/Excused: 
Dennis Robinson, Vice Mayor   Mayor Vincent Tutiakoff, Sr. 
Thomas D. Bell 
Darin Nicholson 
Alejandro Tungul 
Daneen Looby 
Shari Coleman 
    

3. Pledge of Allegiance Vice Mayor Robinson led the Pledge of Allegiance 

4. Adoption of Agenda  

Tungul made a motion to adopt agenda; Bell seconded; adopted by consensus. 
 

5. Approve Minutes of Previous Meeting July 27, 2021 

Bell made a motion to approve July 27, 2021 meeting minutes; Nicholson seconded. 
Minutes approved by consensus. 
 

6. Reports City Manager 

City Manager highlighted the following items from the manager’s report: 
 Strategic Planning Sessions with City Council 
 Senator Murkowski and Secretary of Energy August visit is canceled 
 COVID-19 update provided by Melanee Tiura, IFHS Director 

 
City Manager answered Council questions regarding: 

 Aleutian-Airways update 
 Alaska Airline miles program 

Public Works Director answered Council questions regarding line painting on the roads 

  

Unalaska City Hall 
Council Chambers 

43 Raven Way 
 
 
 

Council Members 
Dennis M. Robinson 
Alejandro R. Tungul 

Shari Coleman 

Regular Meeting 
Tuesday, August 10, 2021 
6:00 p.m. 
 
 
 
Council Members 
Thomas D. Bell 
Darin Nicholson 
Daneen Looby 

Council Packet Page 3 



 

-2- 

 

7. Community Input & Announcements  

 Heart of the Aleutians Festival August 14, 2021 
 City of Unalaska General Election October 5, 2021 
 Declaration of Candidacy period ends August 23, 2021 
 Deadline to register to vote September 5, 2021 
 Open Board Seat – Planning Commission/Historic Preservation Commission 
 First Installment property tax due August 20, 2021 

 
8. Public Comment on Agenda Items – None. 

9. Public Hearing  

Vice Mayor Robinson opened the Public Hearings for Ordinance 2021-11; Ordinance 2021-12; 
Ordinance 2021-13; and Ordinance 2021-14. Hearing no testimony, the Public Hearings closed. 

a. Ordinance 2021-11: Amending Unalaska Code of Ordinances Chapter 6.40, Sales Tax, 
to increase the rate of the sales tax levy from 3% to 4.5% for the purpose of creating a 
Utility Supplement Fund 

b. Ordinance 2021-12: Amending UCO 9.04, Business Licenses and Regulations, to clarify 
the due date for applications to renew business licenses and to add a late fee 

c. Ordinance 2021-13: Amending the Port of Dutch Harbor Unalaska Marine Center 
Terminal Tariff 

d. Ordinance 2021-14: Amending Unalaska Code of Ordinances, Chapter 4, City Elections, 
to establish that wages of non-employee Election Judges and Clerks shall be 
determined by council resolution, and to allow certification of election results at either a 
regular or a special meeting of the City Council 

10. Work Session  

Coleman made a motion to move into Work Session; Tungul seconded.  
Motion passed by consensus. 
 

a. Discussion: Proposed use of American Rescue Plan Act funds 

City Manager provided Council with an update on the American Rescue Plan Act. 
Interim Finance Director outlined proposed use of the funds and answered Council 
questions. Fire Chief answered Council questions specific to the COVID-19 isolation site 
and upgrades to the EOC. 
 

Coleman made a motion to reconvene to Regular Session; Looby seconded. 
Motion passed by consensus. 

 
11. Consent Agenda 

Coleman made a motion to adopt Consent Agenda; Looby seconded. 
 
Roll Call Vote: Robinson – yes; Tungul – yes; Coleman – yes; Looby – yes; Bell – yes; Nicholson – 
yes. Motion passed 6-0.  
 

a. Ordinance 2021-12: Amending UCO 9.04, Business Licenses and Regulations, to clarify 
the due date for applications to renew business licenses and to add a late fee 

b. Ordinance 2021-13: Amending the Port of Dutch Harbor Unalaska Marine Center 
Terminal Tariff 

Council Packet Page 4 



 

-3- 

c. Ordinance 2021-14: Amending Unalaska Code of Ordinances, Chapter 4, City Elections, 
to establish that wages of non-employee Election Judges and Clerks shall be 
determined by council resolution, and to allow certification of election results at either a 
regular or a special meeting of the City Council 

12. Regular Agenda  

a. Unfinished Business 

Ordinance 2021-11: Amending Unalaska Code of Ordinances Chapter 6.40, Sales Tax, 
to increase the rate of the sales tax levy from 3% to 4.5% for the purpose of creating a 
Utility Supplement Fund 

Tungul made a motion to adopt Ordinance 2021-11; Nicholson seconded. 
 
Roll Call Vote: Bell – yes; Looby – yes; Nicholson – yes; Robinson – yes; Coleman – 
yes; Tungul – yes. Motion passed 6-0. 
 

b. New Business 

Ordinance 2021-15: Creating FY22 Budget Amendment #1, to receive $7,200 from 
Aleutian Pribilof Islands Association and appropriating $7,200 in the General Fund for 
the Senior Exercise Program; appropriating $197,884 in the General Fund for PSEA 
employee compensation per the CBA; and recognizing $1,069,850 of American Rescue 
Plan Act revenue and appropriating $1,069,850 for expenditures in the Coronavirus 
Relief Fund 

Coleman made a motion to move Ordinance 2021-15 to Public Hearing and Second 
Reading on August 24, 2021; Nicholson seconded. 
 
Roll Call Vote: Bell – yes; Nicholson – yes; Looby – yes; Robinson – yes; Coleman – 
yes; Tungul – yes. Motion passed 6-0. 
 

13. Council Directives to City Manager – None. 

14. Community Input & Announcements – None.  

15. Adjournment – Vice Mayor adjourned the meeting at 7:25 pm. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

_______________________________ 
Marjie Veeder, CMC 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
rfw 

Council Packet Page 5 



- 1 - 
 

 

MEMORANDUM TO COUNCIL 
 

 
To:  Mayor and City Council Members 
From:  J. R. Pearson, Acting City Manager 
Date:  August 24, 2021 
Re: City Manager Report 
 

 
Ravn Alaska: On August 12 Ravn Alaska announced that they now have a mileage agreement 
with Alaska Airlines. 
 
Strategic Planning: Strategic Planning took place as scheduled August 9-13, 2021. The 
facilitator met with the Executive Team as a group and, with their input, met with the Mayor and 
City Council. This process set focus areas for the near future to best address community needs 
and Council’s vision. With added focus, this will help us to use our resources more effectively.  
 
State Legislative Fly-In to Unalaska: The Fly-in was a huge success, and was a good follow-
up up to the virtual lobbying effort earlier this year where Council Members advocated for 
Unalaska and Council’s priorities with legislators and others. The Fly-In provided an opportunity 
to see in person what was discussed and to meet numerous community members. It was also an 
opportunity to advocate for PCE and demonstrate the City’s trilateral partnership with the Tribe 
and OC. As we move forward, Dianne Blumer suggests we alternate a lobby trip to Juneau with 
hosting a Legislative Fly-in to Unalaska every other year. She did however suggest we plan on a 
trip to Juneau in the spring of 2022 because we missed this past year due to COVID-19 
restrictions. 
 
COVID-19 Update: On August 17, 2021, Unified Command moved the COVID-19 risk level in the 
community to high, and a special news release was issued that afternoon. This was due to an 
increase in the local case count combined with known widespread exposure that was also 
supported by a significant increase of the COVID-19 virus loading in the wastewater stream. 
Additionally, with the increasing COVID-19 related hospitalizations in Anchorage, IFHS has 
recently seen some of their medevac patients being diverted to other hospitals. In accordance 
with the City’s COVID-19 Emergency Response Plan for high risk, City facilities moved to limited 
public access and implemented a mask mandate for City employees while data and cases are 
being monitored.  
 
The Mayor, IFHS director Melanee Tiura and City Manager continue to meet on a weekly basis 
for a status review and to discuss potential responses. The clinic continues their ability to meet 
the need of local patients and surrounding industry members. The number of cases and 
hospitalizations statewide continue to grow. We issued a special news release on July 28, 2021, 
addressing the increased local risk factor to medium, the delta variant of the virus, local case 
counts, vaccination counts, and encouraging all eligible folks to get vaccinated. However, as 
indicated above the local risk factor was increased to high on August 17.  
 
Through ongoing domestic wastewater surveillance, the composite samples for August 12 and 
14 showed increasingly high viral loads. A follow-up sample collected on August 17, showed a 
high, but decreasing viral load. Further sampling upstream was being conducted the remainder 

Council Packet Page 6 



- 2 - 
 

of the week to help determine the general areas that the high viral loads may be coming from. 
The increasing COVID-19 case count was confirmation that local cases were in fact rising as the 
increased viral load indicated.  
 
While our risk level threshold and potential mitigation measures outlined in our Emergency 
Response Plan still serve as a guide, we are considering updating the plan to address the change 
in environment (i.e. widely available vaccines and increased understanding of the virus). Melanee 
Tiura will likely be available during the meeting to provide a timelier update. 
 
Senator Murkowski Visit: Unfortunately, this visit that was scheduled for August 16 was 
canceled. 
 
Federal Lobby Efforts: Sebastian O’Kelly, with City’s Federal lobbyist team, will be available to 
meet with City Council members and the Mayor on Monday, August 30, between 9 and 11 at 
City Hall. Please let the Mayor or I know if you are interested. I also plan to have staff meet with 
Seb to review some of the challenges that the City might encounter as we prepare for and 
transition to geothermal. Together, I want to begin researching related opportunities and support 
programs that may be available. The more brains thinking about this and developing solutions, 
the better.  
 
As you recall, Council focused on the later suggested dates for a potential three-day federal lobby 
trip to Washington DC when we discussed this at the last Council meeting. Brad Gilman says he 
needs four weeks lead time to plan for the trip. Focus is now on the following dates: 
 

 November 29 – December 2  
 December 6 – December 9  

 
As a reminder, Brad and team will do their best to fill the schedule, but there is continued 
uncertainty about meeting in-person due to changing COVID-19 restrictions, and what the 
requirements might be. Brad suggests bringing proof of vaccination and purchasing refundable 
tickets in case the trip is canceled. 
 
Given the travel dates above and the local election in October, we plan to address these two items 
at the October 12 Council meeting (with Brad or Seb hopefully participating via ZOOM): 
  

 Travel approval for Washing DC Lobbying Trip 
 Adopt State and Federal Priorities 

 
Fiscal Sustainability: As you recall, City Council has requested criteria for use of the rainy day 
fund and triggers to assist with the City’s overall fiscal sustainability. The Interim Finance Director 
and I continue discussions with financial advisors from Alaska Permanent Capital Management 
(APCM) to see how they might assist in this effort and other efforts to better address our fiscal 
sustainability. We plan on having a Special Council Work Session on September 13th to 
discuss the strategy for the Rainy Day Fund and other investments with APCM, including the 
potential for a Permanent Fund to help supplement our revenues. This will include an educational 
piece as well. APCM will be at the regular Council Meeting the following night, September 14, to 
provide their annual APCM Investment Presentation. 
 
 
 

Council Packet Page 7 



- 3 - 
 

Current Directives to the City Manager:  
 
 Cost Benefit Analysis for Captains Bay Road Project (March 30, 2021). Progressing. The 

directive reads, “Implement a cost-benefit analysis for the proposed road improvements and 
utility expansion for Captains Bay Road.” Given the magnitude of the Captains Bay Road 
project, we are confident that this analysis will serve us well. Resolution 2021-56 to award a 
contract for this project is being brought forward for Council approval in today’s meeting.  
 

 Utility Infrastructure Fund (May 25, 2021). Complete. The directive reads, “Work with the City 
Attorney to prepare an ordinance amending Chapter 6.40 of the Unalaska Code of Ordinances 
to increase the sales tax levy by one percent (1%) for the purpose of funding a Utility 
Infrastructure Fund to supplement the Utility Proprietary Funds.” On August 10, 2021, Council 
approved Ordinance 2021-11 Amending Unalaska Code Chapter 6.40, Sales Tax, to increase 
the rate of the sales tax levy from three percent (3%) to four and one half percent (4.5%) for 
the purpose of creating a Utility Supplement Fund. This will be on the ballot in October. 

 
 Haystack Communications Site (July 27, 2021). Initiated. The directive reads, “Start the 

process to terminate leases on Haystack for communications and work to upgrade and allow 
equal access to facilities for communications on Haystack with new leases.”  
 
The Planning Director is taking the lead here. The Planning Department has long managed 
the leases on Haystack, and has been striving to improve the lease process and situation for 
years. Within the next month or so, Staff plans to provide a report of the complex situation on 
Haystack, work that has been done so far, and hopefully, some options. We can then discuss 
next steps and receive further direction. In the meantime, Planning provided a brief overview 
below to describe some of the complexity and plans going forward (also see Figure 1): 
 

In 2017 when OptimEra requested lease space, the Planning Department began reviewing 
Haystack leases and learned that all of the City leases with telecom companies lacked a 
termination option for the City. The lease agreements do have a 90-day termination clause 
for the companies (lessees), so Planning is unsure why the same option was not included 
for the City. Planning has discussed this issue with legal counsel on several occasions, 
however a definitive answer/solution was never completed due to other ongoing projects. 
 
There are currently five (5) towers atop Haystack; one is the City of Unalaska’s and the 
other four are situated on land leased by telecom companies including AT&T, Alaska 
Wireless, and TelAlaska. We are discovering other users with subleases, which appear to 
have not been reported to the City by the lessee per the lease agreements. Planning is 
still conducting research to see if the lessee’s sent an amendment request, if it was 
misfiled, or if none exist at all.  
 
Except for the TelAlaska lease, the other tower leases expire in 2022, 2023 and 2024. The 
City renewed TelAlaska’s lease in 2014.  It’s a 20 year lease and will not expire until 2034. 

 
At this time, Planning is assembling a small team of professionals to investigate legal options 
for terminating lease agreements that lack a termination clause. We plan to hire a title 
company to assist with part of this research, and the company we use regularly has a 6 - 8 
week process period. In the meanwhile Planning will assemble help from the offices of City 
Clerk, Finance, Administration and City Attorney to flush out any other issues pertaining to the 
Haystack leases. 

Council Packet Page 8 



- 4 - 
 

 
Figure 1: 
 

 

Council Packet Page 9 



This is a non-code ordinance.Classification:Section 1.

This Ordinance becomes effective upon adoption.Effective Date:Section 2.

The City of Unalaska FY22 Budget is amended as follows:Content:Section 3.

A. That the following sums of money are hereby accepted and the following sums of money
are hereby authorized for expenditure.

B. The following are the changes by account line item:

RevisedRequestedCurrent
I.  OPERATING BUDGETS
A. General Fund

Sources:
5,694,458Appropriated Fund Balance 197,884$ 5,892,342$ $       

-Local Support - APIA 7,200$ 7,200$ $              

Uses:
PSEA Employee Com 4,953,919pensation 197,884$ 5,151,803$ $       

20,340PCR Other Professional Services 7,200$ 27,540$ $            

B. Coronavirus Relief Fund
Sources:

-ARPA Grant 1,069,850$ 1,069,850$ $       

Uses:
-EOC Upgrade 50,000$ 50,000$ $            
-Isolation Site 64,000$ 64,000$ $            
-Temporary Hires 82,232$ 82,232$ $            
-Utility Credit Program 873,618$ 873,618$ $          

Vincent M. Tutiakoff, Sr.
Mayor

ATTEST:

________________________________________
Marjie Veeder, CMC
City Clerk

PASSED AND ADOPTED by a duly constituted quorum of the Unalaska City Council on August 24, 2021.

Amendment #1 to Ordinance 2021-07

BE IT ENACTED BY THE UNALASKA CITY COUNCIL:

EXPENDITURES IN THE CORONAVIRUS RELIEF FUND
RECOGNIZING $ 1,069,850 OF AMERICAN RESCUE PLAN ACT REVENUE AND APPROPRIATING $ 1,069,850 FOR 
ASSOCIATION EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION PER THE COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT; AND 
EXERCISE PROGRAM; APPROPRIATING $197,884 IN THE GENERAL FUND FOR PUBLIC SAFETY EMPLOYEES 
PRIBILOF ISLANDS ASSOCIATION AND APPROPRIATING $7,200 IN THE GENERAL FUND FOR THE SENIOR 
CREATING BUDGET AMENDMENT #1 TO THE FISCAL YEAR 2022 BUDGET, ACCEPTING $7,200 FROM ALEUTIAN 

ORDINANCE 2021-15

UNALASKA, ALASKA
CITY OF UNALASKA

Council Packet Page 10 



City of Unalaska Ordinance 2021-15, Page 2

Budget Amendment #1 to the FY22 Budget

1) General Fund - Operating Budget
Public Safety

Add $197,884 to Appropriated Fund Balance
Add a total of $197,884 to the Police, Communications, Corrections and Fire/EMS personnel budgets per the PSEA collective b

 
Parks, Culture and Recreation

Add $7,200 to Other PCR Revenue to record grant from APIA for the senior exercise program
Add $7,200 to Other Professional Services for senior exercise program instructor

2) Coronavirus Relief Fund
Add $1,069,850 to ARPA Grant Revenue distributed through AK DCCED per the Coronavirus Local Fiscal Recovery Fund agre
Add $50,000 to General Supplies for upgrades to the emergency operations center
Add $1,019,850 to Community Grants for the residential utility credit program

Org Object Project Current Requested Revised
1) General Fund Operating Budget

Public Safety
Sources:

Appropriated Fund Balance 01010049 49900 5,694,458$ 197,884$    5,892,342$ 

Uses:
Police

Police - Salaries & Wages 01021151 51100 1,858,759$ 72,167$      1,930,926$ 
Police - FICA & Medi 01021151 52200 159,032$    5,521$        164,553$    
Police - PERS 01021151 52300 589,934$    17,772$      607,706$    

Communications
Communications - Salaries & Wages 01021251 51100 464,185$    27,469$      491,654$    
Communications - FICA & Medi 01021251 52200 38,289$      2,101$        40,390$      
Communications - PERS 01021251 52300 137,532$    6,901$        144,433$    

Corrections
Corrections - Salaries & Wages 01021451 51100 573,779$    6,334$        580,113$    
Corrections - FICA & Medi 01021451 52200 46,973$      485$           47,458$      
Corrections - PERS 01021451 52300 170,532$    (977)$          169,555$    

Fire/EMS
Fire/EMS - Salaries & Wages 01021551 51100 651,351$    44,048$      695,399$    
Fire/EMS - FICA & Medi 01021551 52200 59,286$      3,370$        62,656$      
Fire/EMS - PERS 01021551 52300 204,267$    12,694$      216,961$    

Parks, Culture and Recreation
Sources:

Other PCR Revenue 01012047 43780  -$            7,200$        7,200$        

Uses:
Other Professional Services 01023252 53300  20,340$      7,200$        27,540$      

2) Coronavirus Relief Fund
Sources:

ARPA Revenue 130A2041 42149 -$            1,069,850$ 1,069,850$ 
Uses:

Temporary Hires 130A2051 51200 -$            76,000$      76,000$      
FIC & Medicare 130A2051 52200 -$            6,232$        6,232$        

Supplies 130A2052 56100 -$            50,000$      50,000$      
Rent/Lease 130A2052 54410 -$            32,000$      32,000$      
Electricity 130A2052 56220 -$            8,000$        8,000$        
Other Professional Services 130A2052 53300 -$            24,000$      24,000$      
Community Grants 130A2052 58400 -$            873,618$    873,618$    

Summary of Budget Amendment and Schedule of Proposed Accounts

Council Packet Page 11 



-1- 

 

MEMORANDUM TO COUNCIL 
 

 
To:  Mayor and City Council Members 
From:  Jim Sharpe, Interim Finance Director 
Through: Erin Reinders, City Manager 
Date:  August 10, 2021 
Re: Ordinance 2021-15: Creating FY22 Budget Amendment #1, to receive $7,200 from 

Aleutian Pribilof Islands Association and appropriating $7,200 in the General Fund 
for the Senior Exercise Program; appropriating $197,884 in the General Fund for 
PSEA employee compensation per the CBA, and recognizing $1,069,850 of 
American Rescue Plan Act revenue and appropriating $1,069,850 for expenditures 
in the Coronavirus Relief Fund  

 

 
SUMMARY: Ordinance 2021-15 creates budget amendment #1 to accept $7,200 to fund the 
Senior Exercise Program and increase PCR personnel costs in the same amount; increases 
Public Safety personnel costs by $197,884 as a result of the approved Collective Bargaining 
Agreement (CBA); and adopts American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) funding budget to include 
revenue and expenditures in the amount of $1,069,850.42. 
  
PREVIOUS COUNCIL ACTION:  
 
On September 19, 2019, Council adopted Ordinance 2019-09 creating Budget Amendment #1 to 
the FY 2020 operating and capital budget. This ordinance included an amendment to PCR’s 
budget in the amount of $7,200 to start the Senior Exercise Program.  
 
On May 25, 2021, City Council adopted the Fiscal Year 2022 Operating and Capital budget 
through Ordinance 2021-07; this is the first amendment. 
 
On May 25, 2021, City Council approved Resolution 2021-17 Authorizing the City Manager to 
Sign a CBA between the City of Unalaska and the Public Safety Employees Association (PSEA) 
for represented employees. 
 
On June 22, 2021, City Council approved Resolution 2021-50 accepting an award for coronavirus 
Local Fiscal Recovery Funds to Non-entitlement units of local governments from the Alaska 
Department of Commerce, Community and Economic Development.  
 
BACKGROUND:  
 
PCR – Senior Exercise Program 
 
The Aleutian Pribilof Islands Association (APIA) partnered with the Department of Parks, Culture 
and Recreation (PCR) to develop a senior exercise program, held at the Unalaska Senior Center. 
APIA received a grant to fund the program and is working with PCR to provide an instructor. PCR 
requests a budget amendment to allocate an additional $7,200 to 01023251-51200 (Temporary 
Employees) to hire the instructor for this program. This $7,200 reflects the amount of money APIA 
received to fund the personnel portion of the program. 
 

Council Packet Page 12 



-2- 

PCR will invoice APIA for the hours worked by the instructor and we will receive reimbursement 
for those hours up to the $7,200 outlined in the APIA grant. The result is $0 net loss to the city, 
and gives PCR the ability to provide a much-needed senior exercise class in cooperation with 
APIA. The program will end when the grant funds are exhausted. 
 
The program was successful, with funding from APIA. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic and the 
inability to offer regular instructor led classes in FY21, this funding request was not made in 2020. 
 
Public Safety and Fire Personnel Costs 
 
PSEA represents the following Public Safety and Fire positions: Police Sergeants, 
Communication Sergeant, Corrections Sergeant, Fire Captains, Fire Fighters, Corrections 
Officers, Communications Officers, Police Officers, Animal Control Officer and DMV Agent. Every 
3 years, the City and PSEA enter contract negotiations to agree upon a CBA for a new 3-year 
term. The recently approved agreement is effective July 1, 2021 through June 30, 2024. PSEA 
and City Staff completed negotiations the week of April 5, 2021.  
 
ARPA Funding 
 
On March 11, 2021, Congress passed the federal act known as the American Rescue Plan Act 
of 2021. The Act is a $1.9 trillion coronavirus rescue package designed to facilitate the United 
States’ recovery from the devastating economic and health effects of the COVID-19 pandemic. A 
portion of the package ($350,000,000,000) is to be distributed to cities, states, tribal governments 
and U.S. Territories. 
 
Communities receiving these payments will be required to certify compliance with federal 
guidance regarding expenditures of ARPA funds. Communities will be required to reimburse the 
State for any misspent funds.  
 
The City has submitted all required paperwork to the State in order to receive the first tranche of 
funding ($534,925) in the next week or two. The second tranche will be received at approximately 
the same time in 2022. The delay in receiving the second tranche does not prohibit the City from 
committing the entire amount through a spending plan, but will not be reimbursed until the second 
tranche has been received. 
 
DISCUSSION:  
 
PCR – Senior Exercise Program: This amendment to the FY22 budget allows for $7,200 to pay 
the Instructor for the Senior Exercise Class held twice a week at the Senior Center.  This will be 
supported with funding from APIA, also addressed in the amendment. 
 
Public Safety and Fire Personnel Costs: This amendment to the FY22 budget is to account for 
the new CBA with PSEA. The final CBA was developed in accordance with Council direction. The 
PSEA CBA was ratified by PSEA members on May 7, 2021, and signed on May 18, 2021. City 
Council approved the CBA on May 25, 2021. 
 
ARPA Funding: This amendment to the FY22 budget will create a budget for the Coronavirus 
Relief special revenue fund for the entire amount of the grant award and the anticipated 
expenditures. 
 

Council Packet Page 13 



-3- 

The City’s costs related to COVID-19 have largely been encountered. It is our anticipation that 
future related costs will include lease and maintenance of the isolation site, which is expected to 
be operational through the end of 2021, and personnel costs for temporary hires to meet incoming 
flights. 
 
In July 2021, the City was notified that the State has discontinued the PCE program, at least for 
the short term, formally reducing the PCE rate to $0.00 effective July 1, 2021. This move directly 
increases electricity bills for community residents, the City and IFHS. Previously, staff determined 
that City residents would benefit from the receipt of a utility credit, and the need for that credit is 
even greater today. Should PCE not be reinstated, the impact to the City for FY22 would be 
approximately $300,000, most likely resulting in a budget amendment in early 2022. If Council 
wishes to proactively appropriate funding for the impact to the City as a result of the elimination 
of PCE credits, the budget amendment would require revision. If that is the case, staff 
recommends reducing the utility credit portion to $573,618 and increase each departmental 
budget to compensate for the loss of PCE credit. Staff has not yet made that calculation; however, 
it would be available for the second reading and adoption of the ordinance. 
 
The City has established agreements with processors to continue operating the isolation site and 
will collect $300 per person, per night stay at the isolation site. The amount collected will not fully 
offset the anticipated costs of keeping the site operational. However, it will offset a portion of the 
costs, with the remaining costs to be covered by ARPA funding. 
 
Given the significantly reduced amount, compared to CARES funding, staff has determined that 
the most streamlined approach of administering the funds is to: 
 

 Cover the net costs of the Isolation site from September to December 2021 ($64,000) 
 Fund personnel costs related to two temporary hires; they currently meet incoming flights, 

informing passengers of City COVID-19 policies and obtain contact tracing information 
($82,232) 

 Provide utility credits to residential customers in a similar manner to the CARES funding 
($873,618) 

 Complete upgrades to the EOC to make the facility more easily scaled and improve our 
ability to handle all Emergency Operations ($50,000) 

 
ALTERNATIVES: Council can approve the budget amendment as presented, alter it, or decide 
not to approve it. Lack of approval would result in PCR cancelling the Senior Exercise Program, 
Public Safety and Fire exceeding their FY22 personnel budgets and the City not receiving the 
benefit of ARPA funds. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS:  
 
PCR – Senior Exercise Program: Appropriates $7,200 for personnel costs to PCR for the FY22 
operating budget, while also recognizing revenue in the same amount. 
 
Public Safety and Fire Personnel Costs: Appropriates a $137,773 to Public Safety for 
personnel costs and $60,111 to Fire for personnel costs for the FY 2022 operating budget. 
 
ARPA Funding: Appropriates $1,069,850 of funding for the City’s coronavirus relief efforts and 
recognizes revenue in the same amount. 
 

Council Packet Page 14 



-4- 

LEGAL:  None 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends approval of Ordinance 2021-15. 
 
PROPOSED MOTION: I move to schedule Ordinance 2021-15 for second reading and public 
hearing on August 24, 2021. 
 
CITY MANAGER COMMENTS: I support staff’s recommendation. 
 

Council Packet Page 15 



 

 

CITY OF UNALASKA 
UNALASKA, ALASKA 

 
RESOLUTION 2021-56 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE UNALASKA CITY COUNCIL AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER 
TO ENTER INTO AN AGREEMENT WITH HDR ENGINEERING, INC. TO PREPARE A 
COST/BENEFIT ANALYSIS FOR THE CAPTAINS BAY ROAD AND UTILITIES 
IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT IN THE AMOUNT OF $234,019.75 

WHEREAS, the Captains Bay Road and Utilities Improvements Project is an approved 
component of the City of Unalaska Capital & Major Maintenance Program; and 

WHEREAS, the Unalaska City Council directed Staff to arrange for the preparation of a 
Cost/Benefit Analysis to assist with decision making for the Project; and  

WHEREAS, Staff publicly advertised a Request for Proposals to prepare a Cost/Benefit Analysis 
and received two (2) proposals; and 

WHEREAS, HDR ENGINEERING, INC., an experienced engineering firm, was determined 
through a transparent and impartial scoring process to be the most qualified firm to perform the 
work; and 

WHEREAS, funding is available in the Capital Project budget to award the work. 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Unalaska City Council authorizes the City 
Manager to enter into an Agreement with HDR ENGINEERING, INC., to perform a Cost/Benefit 
Analysis for the Captains Bay Road and Utilities Improvements Project for $234,019.75. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by a duly constituted quorum of the Unalaska City Council on August 
24, 2021. 

 
 
      ___________________________________ 
      Vincent M. Tutiakoff, Sr. 
      Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
__________________________ 
Marjie Veeder, CMC 
City Clerk 
 

Council Packet Page 16 



 

- 1 - 
 

 

MEMORANDUM TO COUNCIL 
 

 
To:  Mayor and City Council Members 
From:  Tom Cohenour, Director, Department of Public Works 
Through: JR Pearson, Acting City Manager 
Date:  August 24, 2021 
Re: Resolution 2021-56: Authorizing the City Manager to enter into an agreement with 

HDR Engineering, Inc. to perform a Cost/Benefit Analysis for the Captains Bay 
Road and Utilities Improvements Project in the amount of $234,019.75 

 

 
SUMMARY: Resolution 2021-56 will award the preparation of a Cost/Benefit Analysis for the 
Captains Bay Road and Utilities Project to HDR Engineering, Inc., at a cost of $234,019.75. 

PREVIOUS COUNCIL ACTION: The FY19 Capital Budget, Ordinance 2018-04, approved and 
adopted on May 22, 2018, initiated the project with $250,000 from the General Fund. Budget 
Amendment, Ordinance 2018-08, passed on July 24, 2018, provided an additional $1,000,000 
from the General Fund. Ordinance 2019-07, the FY20 Capital Budget, provided a further 
$750,000 from the General Fund. On July 10, 2018, via Resolution 2018-48, the design work for 
the Project was awarded to HDL Engineering Consultants, LLC, for $195,868. Change Orders to 
HDL’s contract total $1,237,080, for a total contract value of $1,432,948. 

BACKGROUND: The Captains Bay Road and Utility Improvements Project consists of 
approximately 7,000 feet of paving and other improvements from the intersection of Captains Bay 
and Airport Beach Roads to the Westward Seafoods facility, plus an additional 6,696 feet of 
paving, utility upgrades, utility extensions, and other improvements along Captains Bay Road 
from Pyramid Valley Road to the entrance to Offshore Systems’ facility where the City right-of-
way ends. Due to the extensive, complicated, and expensive nature of this construction project, 
Staff was directed by Council to hire a consultant to perform a Cost/Benefit Analysis of the Project. 

DISCUSSION: Staff sent a Request for Proposals (RFP) to perform a Cost/Benefit Analysis via 
email directly to several engineering firms and posted the document on the City’s website. Two 
firms submitted proposals in response to the RFP: (1) Northern Economics in association with 
HDL Engineering Consultants LLC; and (2) HDR Engineering, Inc. City staff reviewed and scored 
the proposals utilizing the criteria set out in the RFP, and HDR’s proposal was selected as the 
best organized and most responsive proposal. Staff requested HDR provide a Price Proposal to 
perform the work and their Price Proposal of $234,019.75 was deemed fair and reasonable.  

HDR’s proposal includes assistance to prepare the most appropriate Federal Infrastructure Grant 
Application once the final Cost/Benefit Analysis is complete. In most years, the USDOT issues a 
Notice of Funding Opportunity (NOFO) in late January or early February of each year, establishing 
the grant requirements of each of the different grant programs.  
 
Upon issuance of the Federal NOFO, HDR will: 

 Identify the most appropriate grant opportunity 
 Work with the City to identify the most feasible segment of the Captains Bay Road project  

Council Packet Page 17 



- 2 -

 Use the newly completed Cost/Benefit Analysis to develop a grant application as the basis
for the application package

ALTERNATIVES: Council directed Staff to obtain a Cost/Benefit Analysis on the Project. Council 
could elect to re-advertise the RFP, decide not to move forward with the Cost/Benefit Analysis, or 
other options as they deem appropriate. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: As of this writing, the Project’s total available budget is $496,206. 

LEGAL: Not Applicable 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends Council adopt Resolution 2021-56 and award 
the Cost/Benefit Analysis to HDR for $234,019.75. 

PROPOSED MOTION: I move to approve Resolution 2021-56.  

CITY MANAGER COMMENTS: I recommend Council approve Resolution 2021-56. 

ATTACHMENTS:  

1. Request for Proposals
2. Northern Economics/HDL Proposal
3. HDR Proposal
4. Scoring Sheet Summary
5. Form of Agreement with Fee Proposal 

Council Packet Page 18 



 

1 
 

 
 

 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS 

Qualified Architectural / Engineering / Economics Services 

to Perform a  

Cost/Benefit Analysis  

for the 

Captain’s Bay Road & Utilities Improvements Project 

 

Issue Date:  June 11, 2021 

Due Date:  July 15, 2021 

 

If Questions arise, contact the following:  
  
 Lori Gregory, City of Unalaska, Administrative Office Manager, at 907-581-1260 
 Tom Regan, Regan Engineering, at 360-903-5064, tom@reganengineering.com 

Council Packet Page 19 



 

2 
 

Table of Contents 
 

I.  PURPOSE OF THE COST/BENEFIT ANALYSIS .............................................................................................. 3 

II. DESCRIPTION OF THE EXISTING CONDITIONS ........................................................................................... 3 

IV. TIMELINES AND PRESENTATION OF WORK PRODUCT ............................................................................ 6 

V.   PROPOSAL REQUIREMENTS .................................................................................................................... 6 

VI. PROPOSAL SUBMISSION REQUIREMENTS ............................................................................................... 7 

VII.  PROPOSAL EVALUATIONS AND SELECTION PROCESS ............................................................................ 8 

VIII. OTHER ITEMS ......................................................................................................................................... 8 

 

Council Packet Page 20 



 

3 
 

I.  PURPOSE OF THE COST/BENEFIT ANALYSIS 

The City of Unalaska is soliciting Requests for Proposals from qualified firms to conduct a 

Cost/Benefit Analysis for the Captain’s Bay Road & Utilities Upgrades Project (The Project).  The 

Project will construct drainage, utilities, and pavement on Captains Bay Road from Airport 

Beach Road to Offshore Systems, Inc, a distance of 2.6 miles.  The typical road section would 

include two 13-foot-wide paved travel lanes, 2-foot-wide paved shoulders, ocean side rolled 

curb and gutter and a 6-foot-wide asphalt walkway.  The Project would also include utility 

relocations/upgrades/extensions (electrical, communications, sanitary sewer, and potable 

water) and the installation of street lighting.  Considering the high cost of completing the above 

summarized improvements, The City desires a professional systematic evaluation of the 

economic advantages (benefits) and disadvantages (costs) provided by each of the 6 phases of 

the improvements.  It is anticipated that The Project will be completed at an estimated total 

cost of $54,000,000.  

The results from the analyses will be used to determine if one or more of the 6 phases should 

be pursued or not.  See Scope of Services in Section III for phasing breakdown. 

 

II. DESCRIPTION OF EXISTING CONDITIONS 

This description is provided for general informational purposes only and is not a substitute for 

site inspection and completion of other necessary due diligence by interested respondents.  

Respondents must make their own independent assessment of the conditions and shall not rely 

on any representation, description, or diagram provided by the City in preparing their proposal.  

The City of Unalaska has about 4,500 permanent residents and supports the largest seafood 

industry in the U.S. in terms of volume.  During various seafood processing seasons, the total 

population may swell to more than 8,000 due to an influx of transient employees hired to work 

for the seafood processors.   

Captains Bay Road is a high traffic area of heavy vehicles that are used by the fishing and 

support industries which are vital to the community’s economic welfare.  During the public 

meetings regarding the 2011 Road Improvement Master Plan, residents and industry 

representatives discussed the hazards that the high road crown, which is needed for adequate 

drainage, creates for the large trucks and school buses traveling the existing gravel road.  In 

addition, the gravel surface cannot sustain the heavy truck traffic and deteriorates to potholes 

and washboard conditions shortly after grading, causing significant wear and tear and damage 

to the commercial vehicles.  These conditions are compounded by the narrow road width and 

sharp curves in several sections of the road.  

Captains Bay Road was originally constructed by the U.S. military and is a relatively flat gravel 

surfaced road with shot rock base from the adjoining cliffs. In general, it is adjoined by a rock 

Council Packet Page 21 



 

4 
 

cliff on the inland side and armor stone clad coastline on the shore side. The shot rock is 

underlain with bedrock, very shallow in some locations, and there appears to be a shallow rock 

shelf beneath the road at the former coastline. Various locations may be underlain with native 

soils, some of which can be unsuitable for foundations.  

At intervals the terrain opens up at the outlets of various creeks and drainages into flatter areas 

of which the larger areas are developed. Captains Bay Road serves as a primary transportation 

route for Westward Seafoods, Alaska Chadux Network, North Pacific Fuel, Offshore Systems, 

Trident Seafoods, Alaska Marine Lines, Bering-Shai Rock & Gravel, other small businesses as 

well as residential concerns. Many of the employees of the industries do not own vehicles and 

regularly walk along the road. ADOT traffic counts measured average daily traffic of 1,057 and 

2,100 daily vehicle miles traveled in 2013.  

The extent of the work is from the intersection of Captains Bay Road with Airport Beach Road 

to the entrance of Offshore Systems, Inc. facility, totaling approximately 13,696 feet.  

 

Intersection of Captains Bay Road and Airport Beach Road 

The intersection of Airport Beach Road and Captains Bay Road is a heavily traveled intersection 

commonly known as Agnes Beach. The pedestrian access is an awkward transition from the 

shore side of Captains Bay Road walkway to the walkway on the opposite side of Airport Beach 

Road leading to the South Channel Bridge and Amaknak Island.    

 

Agnes Beach to Pyramid Valley Road (Westward Seafoods) 

Agnes Beach to Westward Seafoods had 35 KVA electrical power installed in 2017. The 35 KVA 

line also branches to feed Pyramid Creek Road which was installed in 2013. Above ground 

electrical gear is predominantly installed on the coastal side and all conduits are below ground.  

Communications spares were installed with both the 2013 and 2017 35 KVA upgrades. They are 

City of Unalaska owned. TelAlaska installed fiber optics cable in their existing conduits in 2017 

which closely follow the City of Unalaska electrical gear. 

Local speed limits are unlikely to exceed 30 mph.  

Streetlights will be installed at 200’ intervals on the ocean side.  

The existing drainage structures are a mixture of pipe culverts.  

The sanitary sewer is a 6” diameter ductile iron force main installed in 1989 along the cliff side.  

The water main is 24” Class 52 ductile iron installed in 1989.  

 

 

Council Packet Page 22 



 

5 
 

Westward Seafoods to Offshore Systems, Inc     

The 35 KVA electrical power installed in 2017 ends at the Westward Seafoods Powerhouse at 

the entrance to the facility. There is a 15 KVA service extension to the North Pacific Fuel facility. 

The sanitary sewer is the 6” diameter ductile iron force main installed in 1989 originating in a 

lift station located on an easement within the Westwards Seafoods facility.   There are gravity 

sanitary sewer lines with manholes located in the Westward Seafoods area. 

The water main water main installed in 1989 terminates in the Westward Seafoods Facility near 

the entrance to the facility and becomes a private 16” diameter main.       

There are a great deal of private utilities in the North Pacific Fuel Facility crossing the ROW.  

There is a tight corner against a particularly high cliff overhanging the ROW known as 

Deadman’s Curve.  

The bridge over Pyramid Creek is fairly new and does not need replacement.  

The City of Unalaska committed $2,000,000 for engineering and design. 

Cost estimate based on 35% design is $54,000,000. 

Grant funding to complete the project has been applied for but not yet secured.  

For detailed information, see Attachment A, Executive Summary with 65% partial plan set.  

Complete 65% plan set available upon request. 

 

III. SCOPE OF SERVICES 

Respondents shall provide a narrative description of the methods proposed to accomplish a 

Cost/Benefit Analysis Report that addresses each of the 6 phases of The Project individually.  

Describe the Firm’s qualifications to perform the requested services including the following key 

elements outlined below: 

1. Perform a Cost/Benefit Analysis of each of the following aspects of the Project: 

A: Vehicle safety improvements (realignment of existing roadway) 
B: Pedestrian safety improvements (asphalt pathway and streetlights) 
C: Utility Extension (water, sewer, electric) 
D: Paving of road surface 

2.  Perform the cost/benefit analysis for each segment of Captain’s Bay Road 

a. Airport Beach Road to Westward Seafoods(STA 100 to STA 168) 

b. Westward Seafoods to North Pacific Fuel (STA 168 to STA 220) 

c. North Pacific Fuel to Offshore Systems, Inc (STA 220 to STA 235) 

3. Illustrate the effects of the investments in monetary terms and account for the accrual 

of benefits projected year by year, 20 years into the future, compared to the short term 

construction costs. 

Council Packet Page 23 



 

6 
 

4. Produce a Cost-Benefit Analysis of transportation related elements that can be 

monetized such as travel time costs, vehicle operating costs, safety costs, and ongoing 

maintenance costs.    

5. Evaluate future economic development potential for areas served by Captains Bay Road. 

6. Identify potential funding sources (grants/cost-sharing/low interest loans) for each of 

the 6 phases. 

7. Identify and evaluate potential use of Local Improvement Districts as funding sources. 

8. Identify and evaluate potential effects of property tax assessments as they relate to 

future economic development for areas served by Captains Bay Road. 

 

IV. TIMELINES AND PRESENTATION OF WORK PRODUCT  

A. Submittal of proposals due:      July 15, 2021. 

B. Interview selected finalists:     July 19, 2021. 

C. Award of Contract:        July 27, 2021. 

D. Anticipated performance period:   4 months. 

The final report should be presented to the Unalaska City Council in Unalaska, Alaska on 

December 14, 2021.  The City may, in its sole discretion, extend any or all timelines set forth 

herein. 

 

V.   PROPOSAL REQUIREMENTS  

It is expected that each respondent will undertake all inspections or investigations reasonably 

deemed necessary to become thoroughly acquainted with the project prior to preparation of a 

proposal.  Consultants should demonstrate the professional/technical expertise necessary to 

accomplish the services.  Unique solutions are encouraged which would result in a marked 

advance in scheduling, cost savings, or would use a state-of-the-art technique.  For purposes of 

comparison, any unique solutions proposed should be made supplemental to, and not instead 

of, the Scope of Work as outlined. 

To achieve a uniform review process and obtain the maximum degree of comparability, it is 

required that proposals be organized in the manner specified below. 

A.   Title Page: Show the Request for Proposal subject, the name of the firm, local address, 

telephone number, name of contact person, and the date. 

B. Table of Contents: Identify the material clearly by section and page number. 

C. Letter of Transmittal: Limit to no more than two printed pages.  Briefly state the firm’s 

understanding of the services to be provided and include the names of persons who will 

Council Packet Page 24 



 

7 
 

be authorized to make representations for the firm, their titles, addresses, and 

telephone numbers.  This letter must be signed by an individual who has the authority 

to bind the firm.   

D. Qualifications/Proposal for Work as outlined in the rating criteria below. 

Proposals should be organized to address the following rating criteria in a clear and 

concise manner. Proposal lengths should be as short as practical and all material 

included should be germane to the project.  All drawings or documentation in support of 

the proposal must be complete at the time of submittal. 

1. Professional Qualifications:  Briefly describe the proposed methodology used to 

complete the Condition Assessment.  The descriptions should be clearly 

expressed and should reflect the major, individual elements of the overall effort 

set out as tasks to be accomplished.  The proposal should be logical, reasonable, 

and should indicate an understanding of the project. 

2. Schedule and Deliverable Products:  A schedule should be included, which 

represents the consultant's reasoned estimate of the time required for 

completion of each task.  The schedule should be related to the Scope of Work.  

Deliverable products should be discussed and approximate submission dates 

included on the schedule. 

3. Team Experience:  Describe briefly the type of firm or firms comprising the 

project team and briefly explain areas of technical competence.  Give specific 

examples of only related past projects, annotating those projects that parallel 

this proposal. 

Identify and include the resumes for the partners, managers, and supervisors 

who will work on the project. 

The satisfactory completion of similar projects of equal size and complexity will 

be an important element in the proposal's evaluation.  Include information on all 

subcontractors that will be used. 

The City reserves the right to approve or disapprove the use of any or all 

subcontractor(s). 

 

VI. PROPOSAL SUBMISSION REQUIREMENTS  

One complete hard copy of proposal along with one electronic copy in PDF format must be 

submitted to the Office of the City Clerk by 2:00 P.M., July 15, 2021.  Tele-faxed proposals will 

not be accepted.  It is the respondent’s sole and independent responsibility to timely submit 

their proposals and respondents assume the risk of delays in delivery of mail or delay or 

interruption of electronic transmissions.  Note that mail service to Unalaska is regularly delayed 

Council Packet Page 25 



 

8 
 

due to bad weather.  The City may, in its sole discretion, relax or extend the submission 

deadline if reasonably deemed necessary in the interest of justice and fair administration. 

The qualifications and proposals must be in a package clearly marked Captains Bay Road – Cost 

Benefit Analysis – Proposal and submitted to:  

  Office of the City Clerk 

  City of Unalaska 

  43 Raven Way 

  P.O. Box 610 

  Unalaska, AK 99685 

 

VII.  PROPOSAL EVALUATIONS AND SELECTION PROCESS  

The factors to be evaluated and the points available for each are as follows:   

A.  The presentation and completeness of the proposal and the proposal’s responsiveness 

in clearly stating an understanding of the work to be performed, including evidence of 

adequate planning and commitment of staff resources (maximum 25 points). 

B. Professional Qualifications:  The qualifications and experience of the individuals who will 

be assigned to the project (maximum 25 points). 

C. Schedule and Deliverable Products:  (maximum 25 points) 

D.  Team Experience:  The firm’s experience with similar engagements (maximum 25 

points). 

 

VIII. OTHER ITEMS 

The City reserves the right to reject any or all proposals received, or to negotiate for terms and 

conditions that may end up substantially different from the initial proposal received. 

The selection of a successful proposal shall be at the sole discretion of the City of Unalaska.  No 

proposed agreement between the City and any proposer shall be effective until approved by 

the City Council of the City of Unalaska and signed by the City Manager or authorized City 

official. 

The City is not liable for any costs incurred by proposers in preparing or submitting proposals.    

In submitting a proposal, each proposer acknowledges that the City shall not be liable to any 

person for any costs incurred therewith or in connection with costs incurred by any proposer in 

anticipation of City Council action approving or disapproving any agreement without limitation.  

Council Packet Page 26 



 

9 
 

Nothing in this request for proposal or in subsequent negotiations creates any vested rights in 

any person. 

Payment will be made upon receipt of detailed invoices listing specific activities for which the 

charge is being made.   

Relationship of Parties: The contractor shall perform its obligations hereunder as an 

independent contractor of the City.  The City may administer the contract and monitor the 

architect firm's compliance with its obligations hereunder.  The City shall not supervise or direct 

the architect firm other than as provided in this section; provided, however, that nothing in this 

paragraph shall preclude the City from insisting on complete and timely performance of 

obligations under the contract. 

Nondiscrimination:  The contractor will not unlawfully discriminate against any employee or 

applicant for employment because of race, color, religion, national origin, ancestry, age, sex, 

marital status, or mental or physical handicap. 

The contractor shall state, in all solicitations for employees to work on contract jobs, that all 

qualified applicants will receive consideration for employment without unlawful discrimination 

based upon race, color, religion, national origin, ancestry, age, sex, marital status, or mental or 

physical handicap. 

Permits, Laws and Taxes:  The contractor shall acquire and maintain in good standing all 

permits, licenses, and other entitlements necessary to its performance under this contract.  All 

actions taken by the contractor under this contract shall comply with all applicable statutes, 

ordinances, rules, and regulations.  The contractor shall pay all taxes pertaining to its 

performance under this contract. 

Required Insurance:  The contractor shall carry and maintain throughout the life of this 

contract, at its own expense, insurance not less than the amounts and coverage herein 

specified, and the City, its employees, agents, and officials, both elected and appointed, shall be 

named as additional insured under the insurance coverage so specified and where allowed with 

respect to the performance of the work.  There shall be no right of subrogation against the City 

or its agents performing work in connection with the work, and this waiver of subrogation shall 

be endorsed upon the policies.  Insurance shall be placed with companies acceptable to the 

City; and these policies providing coverage thereunder shall contain provisions that no 

cancellation or material changes in the policy relative to this project shall become effective 

except upon 30 days prior written notice thereof to the City. 

Prior to commencement of the work, the contractor shall furnish certificates to the City, in 

duplicate, evidencing that the Insurance policy provisions required hereunder are in force.  

Acceptance by the City of deficient evidence does not constitute a waiver of contract 

requirements. 

The contractor shall furnish the City with certified copies of policies upon request.  The 

minimum coverages and limits required are as follows: 

Council Packet Page 27 



 

10 
 

Workers’ Compensation insurance in accordance with the statutory coverages required by the 

State of Alaska and Employers Liability insurance with limits not less than $1,000,000 and, 

where applicable, insurance in compliance with any  other statutory obligations, whether State 

or Federal, pertaining to the compensation of injured employees assigned to the work, 

including but not limited to Voluntary Compensation, Federal Longshoremen and Harbor 

Workers Act, Maritime and the Outer Continental Shelf’s Land Act. 

Commercial General Liability with limits not less than $1,000,000 per Occurrence and 

$2,000,000 Aggregate for Bodily Injury and Property Damage, including coverage for Premises 

and Operations Liability, Products and Completed Operations  

Liability, Contractual Liability, Broad Form Property Damage Liability, and Personal Injury 

Liability.   

Commercial Automobile Liability on all owned, non-owned, hired, and rented vehicles with 

limits of liability of not less than $1,000,000 Combined Single Limit for Bodily Injury and 

Property Damage per each accident or loss. 

Umbrella/Excess Liability insurance coverage of not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence and 

annual aggregate providing coverage in excess of General Liability, Auto Liability, and Employers 

Liability. 

If work involves use of aircraft, Aircraft Liability insurance covering all owned and non-owned 

aircraft with a per occurrence limit of not less that $1,000,000. 

If work involves use of watercraft, Protection and Indemnity insurance with limits not less than 

$1,000,000 per occurrence. 

Professional Liability insurance with limits of not less than $1,000,000 per claim and $1,000,000 

aggregate, subject to a maximum deductible $10,000 per claim.  The City has the right to 

negotiate increases of deductibles subject to acceptable financial information of the 

policyholder. 

Any deductibles or self-insured retentions must be declared to and approved by the City.  At 

the option of the City, either: the insurer shall reduce or eliminate such deductibles or self-

insured retentions as respects the City, its officers, officials, employees, and volunteers; or the 

contractor shall provide a financial guarantee satisfactory to the City guaranteeing payment of 

losses and related investigations, claim administration, and defense expense. 

All insurance policies as described above are required to be written on an “occurrence” basis.  

In the event occurrence coverage is not available, the contractor agrees to maintain “claims 

made” coverage for a minimum of two years after project completion. 

If the contractor employs subcontractors to perform any work hereunder, the contractor agrees 

to require such subcontractors to obtain, carry, maintain, and keep in force during the time in 

which they are engaged in performing any work hereunder, policies of insurance which comply 

Council Packet Page 28 



 

11 
 

with the requirements as set forth in this section and to furnish copies thereof to the City.  This 

requirement is applicable to subcontractors of any tier.    

Council Packet Page 29 



Captains Bay Road Paving and Utility Extension 
City of Unalaska, Alaska 

 
Project Need:  Captains Bay Road Is: 

 Flat, narrow, gravel-surfaced coastal road 

 Primary transportation route for business traffic 

 Supports the largest (by tonnage) seafood industry in the United States   

 Serves Westward Seafoods, North Pacific Fuel, Northland Services, Alaska Marine Lines, 
and Offshore Systems, Inc.    

 Heavily traveled by truck traffic associated with fishing and support industries 

 Receives approximately 1,200 total vehicles daily 

 A safety hazard for pedestrians near large trucks on narrow road 

 Frequent rock slides off tall, steep cliffs is a safety hazard for pedestrians and vehicles 
 
Project Description:  This Project Will:   

 Improve storm drainage systems to minimize sediment impact on fish 

 Extend/upgrade electrical, water, sewer, and comms utilities in support of fishing industry 

 Enhance pedestrian safety by installing a 6 foot wide walkway 

 Increase nighttime visibility/safety by installation of street lighting 

 Improve traffic flow by upgrading 2.6 miles of roadway to current design standards 

 Reduce road and vehicle maintenance costs 

 Provide public utilities for current and future development 
 
Project Status:  As of April 9, 2019 

 Design firm selected 

 Preliminary work completed by design firm: 
o Surveying 
o geotechnical investigation 
o rock mapping 
o Existing utilities located and mapped 
o Environmental overview study 
o Identified design criteria 
o Studied alternate roadway alignment options 
o Prepared preliminary roadway design 
o Prepared preliminary cost estimate 

 Designated by City Council resolution as the City of Unalaska’s number one funding priority 

 Statewide Transportation Improvement Program (STIP) funding application in process 

 Preliminary total project cost estimate is $59,000,000 

 Project to be phased over 3+ years 

Executive Summary 

Council Packet Page 30 

tcohenour
Text Box
                        Attachment A



CITY OF UNALASKA 
Captains Bay Road Paving and Utility Extension 

City of Unalaska Project No. 19201 
F

ac
t S

he
et

 
Ja

nu
ar

y 
20

19
 

Project Scope 
The City of Unalaska has contracted with HDL Engineering Consultants, LLC, (HDL) to provide 
professional engineering services for paving and utility extensions on Captains Bay Road (CBR). In 
general, the project will: 

• Pave CBR 30 feet wide for approximately 7,000 feet, from Airport Beach Road past 
Westward Seafoods.  Include a 6-foot wide pedestrian walkway and illumination on the 
shore side.   

• Extend and upgrade approximately 6,700 feet of utilities from Pyramid Creek Road to the 
end of CBR, including electrical, communications, sewer, and water. 

• Optionally extend paving another 6,400 feet to the end of the roadway at Offshore 
Systems, including the pedestrian walkway and illumination. 

• Upgrade the roadway to current design standards for criteria such as roadside clear zones, 
superelevation on curves, and stopping sight distance. 

In the first phase of the project, HDL performed 
surveying, conducted a geotechnical investigation with 
rock mapping, mapped utilities, provided an 
environmental overview study, prepared technical 
memorandums identifying design criteria for the 
roadway and utilities, and prepared a preliminary 
roadway design and a construction cost estimate.  After 
initial review, HDL prepared additional preliminary 
roadway designs and cost estimates to study 
alternative alignments.  HDL will perform additional 
surveying, expand the geotechnical investigation, and 
prepare roadway plans, specifications, and estimates 
for the selected alignment.  HDL will also assist to 
obtain permits and to acquire needed right of way and 
easements for the project.  

Project Purpose and Need 
The purpose of the project is to improve traffic and pedestrian safety, reduce road and vehicle 
maintenance costs, and provide public utilities for current and future development. 

CBR is a relatively flat, narrow, gravel-surfaced coastal road that serves as the primary 
transportation route for businesses supporting the largest (by tonnage) seafood industry in the US, 
including Westward Seafoods, North Pacific Fuel, Northland Services, Offshore Systems, and 
several smaller businesses, as well as a residential area.  The road is heavily traveled by truck traffic 
associated with fishing and supporting industries (estimated at 10% of 1,200 total vehicles per day).  
The truck traffic exacerbates the typical maintenance issues of gravel roads, and the relatively high 
travel-speeds on the frequently uneven gravel surface causes safety concerns.  Additionally, the 
narrowness and proximity to tall rock faces poses a safety hazard associated with rock fall.   

Many industry employees are transient and do not own vehicles in Unalaska; thus, they regularly 
walk along the roadway shoulder.  The combination of frequent rough road conditions, higher 
traffic speeds, large trucks, and pedestrians creates a safety hazard.   

Council Packet Page 31 



 

F
ac

t S
he

et
 

The city water distribution and wastewater collection systems extend only to Westward Seafoods.  
The lack of public water and sewer beyond Westward Seafoods limits development in the area.  
Although North Pacific Fuel is served with public water from a private pipeline starting near the 
Pyramid Water Treatment Facility, this pipeline is known to leak and waste significant quantities 
of stored and treated city water.  This project will facilitate elimination of the private pipeline and 
the associated water loss, and may eliminate the need to build a second chlorine contact (CT) tank. 

Roadway Design Constraints 
City staff and HDL have identified the following roadway design constraints: 

• Provide realignment and general straightening for curve radii and sight distances using a 
40 mph design speed, anticipating a signed 30 mph speed limit, except through Westward 
Seafoods and North Pacific Fuel, use 20 mph design speed. 

• Provide parking and access for traditional and subsistence uses and access for adjacent 
property owners. 

• Minimize tall rock cuts by moving the roadway seaward where necessary; scale any unsafe 
rock overhangs. 

• Minimize ocean fills. 

• Minimize easement and right-of-way acquisitions. 

• Reuse the Pyramid Creek bridge. 

• Improve Airport Beach Road and Pyramid Creek Road intersections, including ADA 
upgrades. 

Funding and Cost  
The City of Unalaska has approved $1.25 million for design and initial project costs and has 
identified a rough overall project cost of $24 million in its Capital Improvement Plan.  

Preliminary Estimated Project Cost 
Realignment, paving, and related work from Airport Beach Road 
through Westward Seafoods 

$15,000,000 

Utility extension and related work from Westward Seafoods 
through NPF 

$  7,000,000 

Realignment, paving, and related work from Westward Seafoods 
through NPF 

$29,000,000 

Utility extension and related work from NPF to OSI $  3,000,000 
Realignment, paving, and related work from NPF to OSI $  5,000,000 

Total $59,000,000 
 

Council Packet Page 32 

tcohenour
Text Box
Revised Estimate =  $54,000,000

tcohenour
Line

tcohenour
Line

tcohenour
Text Box
$2 Million



Captains Bay Road 
2.5 miles from Agnes Beach to Offshore Systems 

Council Packet Page 33 



Most industry employees are transient and do not own vehicles in Unalaska; thus 
they regularly walk along the roadway shoulder.  The combination of frequent 

rough road conditions, higher traffic speeds, heavy truck traffic mixed with large 
numbers of pedestrians create a safety hazard. 

Council Packet Page 34 



Captains Bay Road is flat, narrow, hugs the cliff, and is very curvy as it follows the 
shoreline.  These features require slow moving traffic, continual maintenance, and 

unsafe pedestrian / driving conditions. 
 

This is the only transportation route for Westward Seafoods, North Pacific Fuel, 
Northland Services, Offshore Systems, and Alaska Marine Lines all of which support 

the seafood industry. 

Council Packet Page 35 



The narrow road and proximity to tall rock cliffs poses very serious daily safety 
hazards associated with falling rock. 

Council Packet Page 36 



Captains Bay Road Paving and Utility Extension  
Unalaska, Alaska 
 

Phase 1:   Safety Improvements 

Description:  The first phase of this 7 phase project will eliminate the danger posed by tall rock cliffs by drill-

ing, blasting, and shaving the sheer rock face back at a stable angle.  The sheer cliffs continue shedding small 

rocks to large boulders onto the driving surface creating hazards for pedestrians and vehicles associated with 

falling rock.  The first phase will also straighten very curvy sections of the roadway that snake along between 

the ocean and the rock cliffs.  The curvy roadway is especially dangerous in winter when roads ice up. 

Cracks in the cliff face collect water 

that freezes in the winter causing “ice

-jacking” which breaks off truck sized 

boulders that land on the road. 

Council Packet Page 37 



Phase 1 work will also straighten curvy sections of the roadway which are dangerous in summer and 

treacherous in winter with snow and ice accumulations.    

Council Packet Page 38 



Sub
m

itte
d

to
 L

eg
isl

at
ur

e
Project Title:  Unalaska - Captains Bay Road and Utility Improvements
TPS Number: 59616

Priority:  1

Agency: Commerce, Community and Economic Development

Grants to Municipalities (AS 37.05.315)

Grant Recipient: Unalaska

FY2022 State Funding Request:  $4,000,000

Future Funding May Be Requested

Brief Project Description:  

This project will provide drainage improvements, paving, and utilities upgrades to Captains Bay Road in Unalaska, Alaska. Unalaska City

Council has identified this project as the number one project funding priority. 

Funding Plan:

Total Project Cost:  $54,000,000 

Funding Already Secured:  ($2,000,000)

FY2022 State Funding Request:  ($4,000,000)

Project Deficit:  $48,000,000 

Explanation of Other Funds:

The City has funded $2,000,000 (in FY19-FY20)to complete design, geotechnical investigation and permitting.  $4,000,000 requested in

FY22 to complete Phase 1 Safety Improvements.  Additional funding will be requested in a phased approach.

Detailed Project Description and Justification:

This project will construct drainage, utilities, and pavement out Captains Bay Road to the entrance of Offshore Systems, Inc. (OSI).  This

will involve approximately 2.5 miles of drainage improvements from Airport Beach Road to OSI, 2.5 miles of road

realignment/paving/walkways/lighting from Airport Beach Road to OSI, and 1.3 miles of water/sewer/electric utility extensions from

Westward Seafood Processors to OSI along Captain's Bay Road in Unalaska, Alaska. 

  

The Captain's Bay area is the logical location for future commercial and residential expansion for the community of Unalaska.  Captain's

Bay has the docking facilities and space for equipment storage to accommodate this, and other industrial growth.  However, Captain's Bay

Road and the existing utilities are inadequate to support any expansion of industrial or residential growth. Oil companies have expressed

interest in Unalaska's deep water port as a resupply port for their northern seas oil exploration and drilling operations.  Construction of the

road and utility improvements needs to begin now so Unalaska can meet the current and future needs of the community.

Captain's Bay Road is three miles in length and connects the southern portion of Unalaska Island to the City of Unalaska. Captain's Bay

Road serves as a primary transportation route for Westward Seafoods, Crowley Marine Transportation, North Pacific Fuel, Northland

Services, Offshore Systems, Inc., and several smaller businesses as well as residential homes. The section of road making up this project

is a high traffic area of heavy vehicles that are used by the fishing and support industries which are vital to the community's economic

welfare. During the public meetings regarding the 2011 Road Improvement Master Plan, residents and industry representatives discussed

the hazards that the high road crown, which is needed for adequate drainage, creates for the large trucks and school buses traveling the

road.  In addition, the gravel surface cannot sustain the heavy truck traffic and deteriorates to potholes and washboard conditions shortly

after grading, causing significant wear and tear and damage to the commercial vehicles.  These conditions are compounded by the

narrow road width and sharp curves in several sections of the road.  There is strong support from the public for improvements to Captain's

Bay Road.  This project will rebuild the road base, widen and straighten the road and provide upgraded drainage along all of Captain's

Bay Road.  It will also install pavement on the first mile of road to Westward Seafoods.

  

In 2017, The City upgraded the electrical service on the first mile of Captains Bay Road to 35KV, from Airport Beach Road to Westward

Seafoods. An additional 2 miles of upgrades are required to extend the 35KV to Offshore Systems, Inc.  This final section of the electrical

7:04 PM 2/20/2021Council Packet Page 39 

tcohenour
Text Box
City Funding Allocated



service line is 30 years old and is at its maximum capacity. This project will replace the 15KV primary electrical line with 2 miles of 35KV

primary electrical line, from Westward Seafoods to Offshore Systems, Inc.

Captain's Bay Road also has water and sewer line services from the intersection of Airport Beach Road to Westward Seafoods, a

distance of one mile. This project will extend the water and sewer utility lines two miles further to Offshore Systems, Inc.  

Unalaska is the number one commercial fishing port in the nation. Our contribution to Alaska's tax base exceeds $27 million per year

which is twice the State of Alaska per capita average. Investment in Unalaska's infrastructure also strengthens this tax producing

infrastructure.

Project Timeline:

Predesign 01/2019 to December 2019 -COMPLETED-

Engineering and Design 01/2020 to 9/2021 -UNDERWAY-

Construction 06/2022 to 12/2027 -IN THE FOLLOWING PHASED APPROACH:

2022 Safety improvements / Road realignment

2023 Extend waterline

2024 Extend electric

2025 Install sewer

2026 Install curb & gutter, sidewalk, streetlights

2027 Paving

Entity Responsible for the Ongoing Operation and Maintenance of this Project:

City of Unalaska 

Grant Recipient Contact Information:

Name: Erin Reinders

Address: 43 Raven Way

Unalaska, AK 99685

Phone Number: (907)581-1251

Email: ereinders@ci.unalaska.ak.us

This project has been through a public review process at the local level and it is a community priority.

7:04 PM 2/20/2021Council Packet Page 40 



Road 

Electric 

Water/Sewer 

City of Unalaska 
 

Captains Bay Road and Utility Improvements 

Council Packet Page 41 



LOCATION MAP

VICINITY MAP

Council Packet Page 42 



° 

Council Packet Page 43 



° 

° 

Council Packet Page 44 



° 

Council Packet Page 45 



° 

° 

Council Packet Page 46 



 

 

Cost/Benefit Analysis: Captain’s Bay Road 
and Utilities Project  
 
 
 

Proposal 
 
 
 
 
 
Prepared for 

The City of Unalaska 
 
 
 

July 15, 2021 
 
 
 
 
Prepared by 

 
 
Contact: Marcus Hartley, President 
 
 
 

In Association with  

 

Council Packet Page 47 



 

 Proposal i 

 Contents 

Section Page 

Letter of Transmittal ................................................................................................................................. 1 

Professional Qualifications: Methodology .................................................................................................. 3 

Schedule and Deliverables ......................................................................................................................... 8 

Team Experience ....................................................................................................................................... 9 
Team Firms ........................................................................................................................................ 9 
Key staff ........................................................................................................................................... 10 

Northern Economics ................................................................................................................... 10 
HDL ......................................................................................................................................... 11 
DOWL ....................................................................................................................................... 11 

Relevant Project Experience ............................................................................................................. 12 
Northern Economics ................................................................................................................... 12 
HDL ......................................................................................................................................... 14 
DOWL ....................................................................................................................................... 14 

Resumes ................................................................................................................................................. 16 
 
 
Table Page 

Table 1. Task List, Deliverables and Project Schedule for the Cost/Benefit Analysis ............................. 8 
 
 

 
 

 

Council Packet Page 48 



 

 

 
 
 
July 15, 2021 
 
 

Office of the City Clerk 
City of Unalaska 
43 Raven Way 
P.O. Box 610 
Unalaska, AK 99685 
 
 
Dear Selection Committee: 

Northern Economics is pleased to submit the following proposal to assist the City of Unalaska with its 
Cost/Benefit Analysis of Captain’s Bay Road & Utilities Improvements Project. Northern Economics has 
completed more than 30 projects for the City of Unalaska over our firm’s 39-year history, including 
economic development, port planning, rate and tariff setting, and feasibility and demand analyses. Our 
economists have also completed dozens of cost/benefit analyses around the state, and have a long history 
studying the massive fisheries of the Bering Sea and Aleutian Islands that regularly place Unalaska/Dutch 
Harbor among the top fishing and processing ports in the U.S. 

The Captain’s Bay Road and Utilities Improvements Project is both complex and costly. While the Project 
is deemed a high priority by the City of Unalaska, it has not qualified as part of the Alaska Statewide 
Transportation Improvement Program (STIP) and is therefore not qualified to receive funding through the 
Federal Highway Administration. Because of this, the City of Unalaska, along with its residents and 
businesses, must either pay for the project on its own, or search out alternative sources of funding. These 
alternative funding sources are typically highly competitive, and because they want to get the “most bang 
for their buck”, they require that applicants submit technically sound and well-documented assessments of 
costs and benefits. In general, projects are much less likely to be awarded funding if the net present value 
of quantifiable benefits attributable to the project do not exceed the project costs over the expected service 
life of the proposed infrastructure. It is also true that these alternative funding sources do not have unlimited 
resources, and it appears they may be more likely to fund smaller projects over larger ones.  

It is apparent that the combination of these issues has led to a Request for Proposals not simply for a 
cost/benefit analysis of the project a whole, but indeed for a cost/benefit analysis that could be utilized to 
apply for separate funding on a phase-by-phase basis.  

Because of the complexity of the proposed project, Northern Economics has teamed with two strong partner 
firms: HDL Engineering Consultants, LLC, and DOWL Engineers. As the engineers working with the City of 
Unalaska on the road design project to date, HDL brings vital historical knowledge of the project 
development, and will provide understanding of the project background, design considerations, and many 
other critical pieces of the puzzle. HDL also supplies needed expertise in use of widely accepted models 
that can provide estimates of the quantifiable benefits attributable to surface transportation infrastructure 
improvements. DOWL, our second partner, will supply a fresh set of eyes to verify project capital costs, and 
will develop realistic estimates of the costs of operations and maintenance (O&M). They also bring unique 
expertise in understanding utility rate analysis and potential funding options. 

Council Packet Page 49 



2 

As President of Northern Economics, Inc., I am authorized to make representations for, and bind, the firm. 

We hope the following proposal meets the City of Unalaska’s needs, and we are open to discussion of 
changes to the proposed scope and schedule to better serve the City.  

Sincerely, 

Marcus Hartley 
President  

Northern Economics, Inc. 
800 E Dimond Blvd, Suite 3-300 
Anchorage, AK 99515 
907-274-5600

Council Packet Page 50 



Cost/Benefit Analysis: Captain’s Bay Road and Utilities Project 

 Proposal 3 

 Professional Qualifications: Methodology 
Northern Economics has extensive experience with CBAs, including several following the USDOT’s Benefit-
Cost Analysis Guidance for Discretionary Grant Programs,1 which covers most benefit categories seen in 
Alaska BCAs and which will serve as the primary guide for our analysis. We have worked with other 
agencies’ guidance documents as well. For benefits that aren’t specifically addressed in these guides, we 
structure the analysis to be consistent with their approach to be acceptable to reviewers.  

During our nearly 40 years of economic consulting in Alaska we have found that it is critically important 
that we specifically define the types of economic analysis that we will be developing. In the broad sense, a 
cost/benefit analysis examines both internal and external costs and benefits of a proposed project or 
investments. The internal costs and benefits are those experienced by the project developer—in many cases 
the internal assessment is referred to a feasibility study because it answers the question “will the 
developer/investor be able to recoup the funds spent to develop the project through revenues and payments 
from the users of the project’s outputs?” The external costs and benefits are those experienced by a much 
broader group or society in general. External benefits for this Project include the transportation and safety 
benefits that are experiences by the users of the road and the utilities, many of which are called out in the 
RFP including: improved safety of pedestrians, improvements to vehicle safety, reduction of wear and tear 
on vehicles using the road, reduced travel times of vehicles using the road, and reduced costs of electricity 
and water. From an even broader perspective, society in general benefits through improved air quality 
through dust abatement and reduced siltation of Captain’s Bay.  

The guidance document described earlier covers the technical aspects of conducting a CBA, but we build 
in additional tasks to ensure our projects meet our standards and our client’s for excellence. These additional 
tasks include: 

• kick-off meetings to ensure consistency of understanding, discuss objectives and available data, and 
establish good working relationships; 

• data collection and estimation efforts, supported through research, interviews, and other methods; 

• Interim deliverables, built into our projects to ensure that we and our clients are working with the 
same set of assumptions about the work and the project finding that are under development; 

• model development to ensure our work is well organized and understandable to both our clients and 
grant application reviewers; 

• regular progress meetings to address any issues that might arise, ensure progress in the right direction, 
and coordinate use of the CBA in a grant application, if applicable; and  

• draft and final reports to document findings.  

In addition to these tasks that apply to most CBAs, our staff have knowledge and experience with a variety 
of advanced sensitivity analysis, decision analysis, and other tools to support more complex situations and 
decisions. While reviewing agencies do not always want to see alternatives addressed in grant applications, 
these tools can be beneficial for internal evaluations and decision-making prior to the application process. 

A frequent challenge is the availability of quantitative and qualitative data to support the CBAs. We 
incorporate as much quantitative information as possible in our CBAs, relying on workarounds such as 
developing estimates and assumptions to account for data gaps and unknowns. Qualitative information 
doesn’t directly contribute to the benefit-cost ratio since it can’t be incorporated into calculations, but it is 

 
1 Available at Benefit Cost Analysis Guidance 2021.pdf (transportation.gov). 

Council Packet Page 51 

https://www.transportation.gov/sites/dot.gov/files/2021-02/Benefit%20Cost%20Analysis%20Guidance%202021.pdf


Cost/Benefit Analysis: Captain’s Bay Road and Utilities Project 

4 Proposal  

valuable in developing supporting narratives and can further the idea that the benefit-cost ratio is a 
conservative estimate. 

Description of Major Tasks  

For the Captain’s Bay Road CBA we have developed a set of 14 tasks, many of which include interim 
deliverables that describe our work plan for the study. A table summarizing the major tasks, their 
deliverables and our proposed schedule is provided in the next section of the proposal. 

1. Kick-off Meeting. A meeting with the City will be scheduled to occur immediately following the award 
and receipt of the notice to proceed. The meeting objectives will be as follows: a) introduce key staff 
from Northern Economics, DOWL and HDL; b) discuss project tasks and schedule; c) review and 
finalize the “constructable phasing plan” around which the CBA will be built; d) identify data needs 
and data sources, and key informants; e) discuss other project expectations and communication 
protocols.  

2. Determine a “Constructable Phasing” Plan. While the RFP suggests six project phases, it is not entirely clear 
how those phases are defined. In discussions with HDL during the development of this proposal, six 
distinct phases could not be defined with certainly. The eight-phase list below (which includes an initial 
construction schedule by fiscal year (FY) was provided by HDL and represents what they believe is a 
logical sequence for constructing the Project in its entirety. We believe this list represents a good start 
to a phasing plan around which the CBA can be developed. It is our intent to make this initial phasing 
plan one of the key discussion points of the kickoff meeting. HDL will lead this task of the CBA. It is 
presumed that both parties will agree to the final version of the Project Phasing Plan and that this plan 
with serve to as the guide for the final outline of the CBA.  

Initial Draft of the Project Phasing Plan2 

i. FY22 – Pave Segment 1 (no realignment), partial excavation and realignment in Segment 2 
(Deadman’s Curve 

ii. FY23 – Remaining excavation and realignment of Segment 2; install water and sewer in 
Segment 2 

iii. FY24 – Realignment of Segment 3; install water and sewer in Segment 3; install elec/comms in 
Segments 2 and 3 

iv. FY25 – Realignment of Segment 1 (partial) 

v. FY26 – Realignment of Segment 1 (remaining) 

vi. FY27 – Install storm drains; Realign water, sewer, and elec/comms in Segment 1 

vii. FY28 – Construct pathway, street lights, and pave Segment 1 

viii. FY29 - Construct pathway, street lights, and pave Segments 2 and 3 

3. Develop framework and initial models for estimating external benefits (and potentially cost) of the project. 
Estimation of the external benefits and costs of the project in general will follow the guidelines described 
in U.S. DOT’s Benefit-Cost Analysis Guidance for Discretionary Grant Programs. We will also incorporate 

 
2 The following segment definitions are used: Segment 1 = BOP (Agnes Beach) to Westward Seafoods (WSI); Segment 
2 = WSI to North Pacific Fuels (NPF); Segment 3 = NPF to EOP (Offshore Systems, Inc). 

Council Packet Page 52 



Cost/Benefit Analysis: Captain’s Bay Road and Utilities Project 

 Proposal 5 

methodologies, models, and data developed by AASHTO3 in its Highway Safety Manual.4 Finally, we 
will review previously completed CBAs from around the U.S. to find methodologies for quantifying 
benefits that may not be explicitly documented in the either of the guidance resources described above. 
HDL will lead the effort to quantify these benefits, with extensive participation from Northern 
Economics. We are proposing to include quantitative estimates of the following benefits:  

• Improved safety for pedestrians 

• Improved safety for vehicle drivers and passengers 

• Reduction in vehicle wear and tear 

• Reductions in travel times 

• Reductions in costs due to rock falls and slides 

• Reductions in amount of water treated at the water treatment facility (This savings is created by the 
elimination the existing leak-prone system that currently provides water to users at the far end of 
Captain’s Bay Road)  

• Fuel use savings for electrical generation by connecting Offshore Systems and North Pacific Fuel to 
the City electric grid; this also reduces greenhouse gas emissions, which will be quantified. 

• Other potential costs and benefits that may be identified during the course of the project. A 
potential benefit could be reductions in vehicle fuel use and greenhouse gas emissions resulting 
from paving and realignment of the road. A potential cost might be the need to purchase additional 
right-of-way from current property owners. 

We that note several of the benefit categories will include probabilistic likelihoods that an event occurs 
(e.g. the likelihood of a vehicle accident or a catastrophic rock fall). The assessment of benefits for these 
types of probabilistic events will include the use of the @RISK software program within the Excel 
spreadsheet template. @RISK is an add-in to Excel that enables Northern Economics to analyze the 
probabilities associated with event using Monte Carlo simulation. @RISK can show the possible 
outcomes for any of these situations and informs the user how likely they are to occur in any given year. 

In addition to costs and benefits that can be quantified, we will identify and describe qualitatively other 
benefits and/or costs that are believed to result from the Project. These are likely to include reduction 
in airborne dust from paving the road and reductions in silt flowing into Captain’s Bay.  

4. Review of existing designs and engineering work. We believe having both DOWL and HDL on the team for 
the CBA gives our proposed approach the added benefit of a detailed review of the existing designs 
and engineering work for the Project. By teaming with DOWL we assure ourselves, and the City, that 
the existing design and engineering work will withstand serious scrutiny from a third party, such as a 
lender or granting entity. The fact that HDL is on the project team means they are readily available to 
answer questions that a third-party review will raise—particularly with respect to issues regarding the 
decision-making process for choosing design elements. DOWL’s review of capital costs will note any 
potential improvements to the design that may reduce the project’s capital cost, speed up the schedule, 

 
3 AASHTO is a nonprofit, nonpartisan association representing highway and transportation departments throughout the 
U.S. 

4 Additional information about the development and content of AASHTO’s Highway Safety Manual is available at 
http://www.highwaysafetymanual.org/Pages/About.aspx.  

Council Packet Page 53 

http://www.highwaysafetymanual.org/Pages/About.aspx


Cost/Benefit Analysis: Captain’s Bay Road and Utilities Project 

6 Proposal  

reduce the long-term operational cost, and/or increase the safety of the design.5 The capital cost will be 
broken out by the following segments:  

i. Airport Beach Road to Westward Seafoods 

ii. Westward Seafoods to North Pacific Fuel 

iii. North Pacific Fuel to Offshore System, Inc. 

5. Estimate operating and maintenance costs (O&M costs) under existing conditions (the status quo) and with 
the Project by segment and/or phase as appropriate. DOWL’s engineers will evaluate the annual O&M 
costs along with periodic repair and replacement costs. The difference between O&M costs under the 
status quo and O&M costs with the Project will represent a project benefit. 

6. Data collection and key informant interviews with City employees (including the city manager, city assessor, 
emergency personnel (police, fire, medical), directly affected property owners, the Ounalashka 
Corporation, and other local business interests. Data collection will include information on vehicle and 
pedestrian traffic, information on historic accidents including single vehicle incidents, multiple vehicle 
incidents, and vehicle-pedestrian incidents. We will also seek to obtain information on occurrences of 
rock falls, with a particular emphasis on rock falls that create a safety or navigational issue. Data on 
electricity and water use will also be collected. Key informant interviews will be conducted with 
managers of Westward Seafoods, North Pacific Fuel and Offshore Systems to determine how they 
believe the infrastructure improvement with impact their businesses and employees. In addition, other 
owners of property on or directly adjacent to Captain’s Bay Road will be asked to participate in order 
to determine whether the road and utility improvements will lead to cost savings or additional revenue 
(i.e., project benefits). 

7. Assessment of economic development potential resulting from improvements including an assessment in changes 
in property tax assessments. This assessment will be a direct result of key informant interviews. To the 
extent that business and property owners indicate that the Project will lead to economic development, 
these potential changes will be incorporated into the report.  Discussions with the City Manager and 
the City Tax Assessor will provide an indication of the relationship between: a) services provided by the 
City, b) levels of business activity and changes in business profitability, and c) assessed property values 
and property taxes.  

8. Identify and assess potential external funding sources for capital costs. DOWL will lead the effort to investigate 
potential funding sources for the project phases. They will use existing lists and contacts to identify 
existing and potential state and federal grants, cost-sharing, and low-interest loans. The effort will 
include compilation of application requirements and evaluation criteria (where available) from program 
websites, as well as interviews with existing contacts at state and federal agencies to determine 
appropriate courses of action. If available, they will include application deadlines, competitiveness, and 
other relevant information. For low-interest loan programs, the DOWL team will include the basis for 
rate determination and loan terms. 

9. Assess feasibility of Local Improvement Districts for financing capital improvements and/or O&M costs of the 
project. Special Assessment Districts are authorized in the City of Unalaska Code of Ordinances under 
Chapter 6.16: Special Assessments. The study will provide a summary of the code as currently 
authorized and generate estimates of the annual costs to property owners if they are required to pay 
for the improvement. The study will also estimate annual cost to property owners under a range of 
alternative obligation percentages. 

 
5 Neither DOWL nor HDL will provide any redesign of the road or utilities if the review finds potential savings or other 
issues with initial designs.  

Council Packet Page 54 



Cost/Benefit Analysis: Captain’s Bay Road and Utilities Project 

 Proposal 7 

10. Assess utility rate changes for water and electricity if costs of improvements and O&M are shared by the City, 
local businesses, and residents. DOWL staff will perform a simplified rate analysis for electric and 
water/sewer utilities. Using available financial information, current tariffs, and the change in annual 
operating costs, depreciable expenses, and sales, they will make an estimate for future utility rates 
needed to cover the extended utilities. The assessment can include a sensitivity analysis based on: 
a) change in utility sales and/or customers, and b) percentage of capital costs paid for by customer 
revenue.  

11. Complete the assessment of cost and benefits of the Project and other sections of the study and integrate into 
a draft report and submit the report to the City. An annotated outline of the report will be provided as 
an interim deliverable. Based on the USDOT guidelines, the CBA will assume a 30-year time horizon 
for the Project. This corresponds to the standard design service life of road project. We note that design 
service lives of water and electrical utility lines are generally longer than 30 years, and there the CBA 
will include an estimate of the residual value of capital improvement to utility infrastructure using a 
straight-line depreciation schedule. As per the USDOT guidelines a 7% percent discount rate will be 
used to calculate the net present value (NPV) of the quantified costs and benefits of the Project. Costs 
and benefits that cannot be easily quantified in terms of dollars will be addressed qualitatively. Costs 
and benefits will be developed for the overall project, and for each project phase as developed and 
agreed to in Task 2. As specified in the next section, we are proposing to deliver the draft report on 
11/21/21. 

12. Receive comments from the City. We are requesting that the City provide written comments on the draft 
report to Northern Economics no later than12/03/21.  

13. Revise and submit final report to the City. Comments will be addressed, and the final report submitted to the 
City on 12/13/21.  

14. Present findings of the CBA to the City Council. We are proposing to present the study results to the City 
Council via remote teleconference on 12/14/2014. 

Council Packet Page 55 



Cost/Benefit Analysis: Captain’s Bay Road and Utilities Project 

8 Proposal  

 Schedule and Deliverables 
The following table summarizes the major project tasks discussed above and identifies their associated 
deliverables and the proposed project timeline. 

Table 1. Task List, Deliverables and Project Schedule for the Cost/Benefit Analysis 

Task Scheduled Delivery 

1. Kickoff Meeting with the City of Unalaska. No later than 8/6/21. 

2. Determine a “Constructable Phasing Plan” around which to 
build the analysis. Initial concepts will be discussed at the 
kickoff meeting.  

Start on Notice to Proceed. 
Concept memo will be provided and discussed at kickoff meeting. 
Final phasing plan by 08/16. 

3. Develop framework and initial models for estimating external 
benefits and costs of the project. 

Start after kickoff meeting. 
Deliver methodology memo by 08/30. 

4. Review of existing designs and engineering work. Start on Notice to Proceed. 
Deliver draft assessment by 09/17. 

5. Estimate operating and maintenance costs of overall project 
and of project phases. 

Start after kickoff meeting. 
Deliver draft assessment by 10/04. 

6. Data collection and interviews with property owners and other 
local business interests. 

Start after kickoff meeting. 
Deliver summary memo by 10/04. 

7. Assessment of economic development potential resulting from 
improvements including an assessment in changes in property 
tax assessments. 

Start after completion of data collection and interviews.  
Assessment will be included in draft report. 

8. Identity and assess potential external funding sources for capital 
costs. 

Start after kickoff meeting. 
Summary included in draft report. 

9. Assess feasibility of Local Improvement Districts for financing 
improvement and O&M of: a) road; b) water system, 
c) electricity infrastructure improvements. 
• Develop and deliver initial framework memo 
• Include full assessment with draft report 

Start after kickoff meeting. 
Initial framework memo by 09/30. 
Assessment will be included in draft report. 

10. Assess utility rate changes for water and electricity if costs of 
improvements and O&M are shared by the City, and local 
businesses and residents. 

Start no later than 10/4. 
Assessment will be included in draft report. 

11. Complete the assessment of cost and benefits of the Project 
and other sections of the study and integrate into a draft report. 
An annotated outline of the report will be provided as an interim 
deliverable. The full deliverable is considered to the draft report. 

Annotated outline of the report by 10/04. 
Draft report delivered no later than 11/22. 

12. Receive comments from the City. No later than 12/03. 

13. Revise and submit final report to the City. No later than 12/13. 

14. Present findings of the CBA to the City Council. 12/14. 

Note: This schedule is dependent on the date of the award of the project and the notice to proceed. If the award date of the contract 
or delivery of the notice to proceed is delayed through no fault of the contractor, then it is assumed that the project schedule will be 
adjusted accordingly.  

Council Packet Page 56 



Cost/Benefit Analysis: Captain’s Bay Road and Utilities Project 

 Proposal 9 

 Team Experience 

Team Firms 
Northern Economics, Inc. is Alaska’s leading economic consulting firm, with over 35 
years of experience in transportation economics within Alaska. The company’s work 
experience extends from Ketchikan to Adak to Kaktovik. No one knows Alaska 
economics better. Northern Economics has assisted the City of Unalaska with more 
than 30 projects including economic development, port planning, rate and tariff 
setting, and feasibility and demand analyses. Our projects for the City include 
economic development plans for the City and for the Port of Dutch Harbor, rate and 

tariff studies for port facilities, revenue models for the City and the Unalaska Marine Center (UMC), and 
regional vessel needs and harbor demand studies. Northern Economics has also assisted the City with two 
benefit-cost analyses of proposed improvements to the UMC dock as part of the City’s applications for 
TIGER grant assistance in 2014 and 2015. 

HDL Engineering Consultants, LLC specializes in civil, geotechnical, and 
transportation engineering, environmental services, planning, surveying 
and mapping, construction administration, and material testing. What 
began as a small consulting firm 20 years ago has expanded to a full-
service, multi-disciplinary organization of highly skilled professionals 

who can identify challenges and deliver creative solutions. With offices in Anchorage, Palmer, and Kenai, 
HDL has provided consulting and engineering services to federal, state, and municipal projects throughout 
Alaska. 

DOWL is a multi-disciplined consulting firm that has been providing 
civil engineering and related services for nearly 60 years. Since its 
founding in Anchorage, Alaska in 1962, the firm has grown and 
expanded their technical capabilities to provide a comprehensive 
suite of consulting services, including complex roadway analyses in 

urban and rural settings, relevant to this project. DOWL maintains in-house expertise in civil engineering, 
transportation and airfield engineering, hydrology, sanitary engineering, environmental services and 
permitting, geotechnical engineering, structural engineering, public involvement, master planning and 
project permitting, landscape architecture, land surveying, Geographic Information Systems, construction 
administration services, and construction inspection. The firm is 425 employees strong and has a solid 
western U.S. regional presence with 16 offices spread throughout Alaska, Arizona, Montana, Oregon, 
Washington, and Wyoming. 

Council Packet Page 57 



Cost/Benefit Analysis: Captain’s Bay Road and Utilities Project 

10 Proposal  

Key staff 
The following section provides profiles of project leads for each of the team firms. Detailed resumes for 
each person are provided at the end of the proposal. 

Northern Economics 

Mike Fisher, MBS, MSPM | Project Management, Cost/Benefit Analysis Lead 

Mike Fisher’s transportation projects include the development or improvement of 
airports, ports, harbors, and roads. He has led a number of CBAs, many in support of 
discretionary grant applications. His recent DOT&PF CBA projects include the 
Tanana Road Upgrade Project (as well as earlier iterations in 2017 and 2018), Cowles 
Street Reconstruction, Kodiak Harbor Channel Bridge Improvement, and Parks 
Highway Milepost 231 Improvements. His other recent work includes the Haines 
Borough’s Lutak Dock Replacement CBA for a BUILD Grant, and the Mat-Su Borough 
Rail Extension CBA for an INFRA Grant. He was also Northern Economics’ internal 
project manager for the Northwest Alaska Transportation Plan Phase II Update.  

Mike’s work for the City of Unalaska includes rate structure studies for Port of Dutch Harbor facilities, a ten-
year port and harbor development plan, a Little South America Harbor revenue model, an analysis of 
potential benefits of upgrading Position 1 at the Unalaska/Dutch Harbor Marine Center, and a five-year 
sustainable revenue forecasting model for the City of Unalaska. He has also led a Little South America (LSA) 
land development study for the Ounalashka Corporation. 

Mike has an M.S. in Project Management, an MBA, and a B.S. in Physics, and is a certified Project 
Management Professional.  

Marcus Hartley, M.S. | Economic Modeling and Fisheries Industry Subject Matter Expert 

Marcus Hartley is Northern Economics’ President and Principal Economist. He has 
over 29 years of experience, with his work focusing primarily on natural resource 
issues, and the way that regulations concerning natural resources, and natural 
resource use, affect industries and stakeholders, as well as local, state, and federal 
governments and economies. Mr. Hartley is our primary fisheries economist and a 
nationally recognized expert in fishery management issues. He has worked with key 
players in the Bering Sea pollock pacific cod and crab fisheries for over 30 years and 
is intimately familiar their contributions to the City of Unalaska economic well-being. 

Marcus has been a professional economist since receiving his M.Sc. in Agricultural 
and Natural Resource Economics from Oregon State University 1989. Working as an applied economist to 
help communities and individuals make good decisions about their resources became a priority for Marcus 
after 2 years in the Peace Corps. Working in Nepal as a fisheries extension officer, Marcus witnessed the 
power of economic thinking and the consequences of uninformed decisions. Before joining NEI in 1997, 
he was Senior Economist at the North Pacific Fishery Management Council 

Council Packet Page 58 



Cost/Benefit Analysis: Captain’s Bay Road and Utilities Project 

 Proposal 11 

HDL 

Trevor Strait, PE, PTOE (AELC14864) | Transportation Engineer 

As a traffic design engineer, Trevor has worked on various roadway and 
highway projects throughout urban and rural Alaska, from pavement 
preservation to rehabilitation and reconstruction projects. Trevor’s roadway 
engineering experience, paired with his thorough knowledge of AASHTO, will 
assist the team in determining the transportation-related benefits such as 
crashes eliminated, the travel time saved, the vehicle travel miles reduced, and 
maintenance cost reduction. 

Trevor is currently serving as the Project Engineer for the Chiniak Highway 
Rehabilitation: Milepost 15-31 project. He conducted numerous cost-benefit 
analyses using crash data to assess and compare the construction costs and 

benefits of curvature improvements. For the same project, Trevor led a team to develop a Corridor Health 
Index, which adapted the available transportation asset management data into a planning tool that helped 
the DOT&PF determine how to segment the project and prioritize improvements. 

David Lundin, PE (AELC10127; AELV14314) | HDL Project Manager 

David has managed many roadway and utility projects throughout Alaska for 
over 20 years. He is currently Contract/Project Manager for the Captains Bay 
Road Paving and Utility Extension project, making him intimately familiar with 
this project's history and current evolution. His familiarity with current 
construction costs and design plans for Captains Bay Road brings an 
understanding to this project that is unmatched. His relationship with the City 
of Unalaska will ensure that the City’s priorities and needs are met for this cost-
benefit analysis.   

DOWL 

Rich Pribyl, PE | Road Engineering 

Rich has 14 years of experience on Alaska roadway projects for clients such as 
the State of Alaska Department of Transportation and Public Facilities, federal 
entities, and rural cities and boroughs. He has participated in seven value 
engineering studies in Alaska with services similar to the proposed road in 
Unalaska, including highway and hydrologic and hydraulic design. Other projects 
Rich has worked on that required similar services include the Ambler Mining 
District Industrial Access Project, Akutan Harbor Access Road Design, and 
Sterling Highway Milepost (MP) 58-79 and MP 157-169. Rich spent a decade 
leading the preliminary engineering effort for the Ambler Mining District 
Industrial Access Project, including development of the preliminary road design, 
alternatives analysis, and cost estimating. On the Akutan Harbor Access Road 

Design project, he held a key role investigating the proposed roadway alignment, completing the H&H 
report, and completing the drainage design. For the Sterling Highway MP 58-79 and MP 157-169 
projects, Rich was the engineer of record. Components of the Sterling Highway projects included typical 
section and pavement design, cost/benefit analysis of passing lane alternatives, geometric improvements, 
pedestrian and trail facilities, and utility coordination. Rich’s rural Alaska expertise and thorough 
knowledge of roadway design will allow him to efficiently lead road engineering efforts to evaluate design 
alternatives and provide valuable input on benefits gained from various alternatives. His comprehensive 

Council Packet Page 59 



Cost/Benefit Analysis: Captain’s Bay Road and Utilities Project 

12 Proposal  

understanding of road corridor design and strong communication skills will help provide the City of 
Unalaska with a clear understanding of the potential returns on investment for this project. 

Kevin Johnson, PE | Water/Wastewater Engineering 

Kevin is the leader of DOWL’s water supply and wastewater practice area. He has 
more than two decades of experience in the facility planning, grant writing, design, 
and construction administration of diverse and complex municipal projects, 
including pump stations, pipelines, water storage tanks, and water and wastewater 
treatment facilities. These projects involved extensive cost estimating and life-cycle 
alternatives analysis of major capital facilities and planning evaluations. Kevin 
brings recent, related experience providing quality control for design of multiple 
sewer lift stations in Sitka and Kodiak and a major water transmission pipeline in 
Ketchikan, which is in complex geologic conditions. As part of funding pursuits for 
recent projects from Bethel to Kodiak, the capital and long-term operations costs 
were a major part of assessing the cost-benefit relationships among infrastructure 

alternatives under consideration. Kevin will leverage this experience to assist in evaluating the overall cost 
and benefits of the water and sewer system extensions for the Captains Bay Road Improvement project. 

Neil McMahon, MS | Rate Analysis/Funding Options/Project Management 

Neil brings strong research, data analysis, and planning skills to the team from his 12 
years of experience in Alaska energy planning, consulting, and project management. 
He is practiced in identifying and implementing creative solutions to complex 
problems, including economic analyses, project funding solutions, managing state 
grant programs, and quantitative and qualitative data analysis. Neil has analyzed the 
benefits and costs of dozens of energy-related proposals, projects, technologies, and 
resources across Alaska. He developed and modified multiple economic and 
scenario models of various complexity to make funding decisions and developed 
decision-making processes. 

Relevant Project Experience 
The Northern Economics team has a wealth of relevant project experience. The following examples provide 
descriptions of recent relevant work. 

Northern Economics 

UMC TIGER Grant BCA, 2015 

In 2015 the City of Unalaska contracted with Northern Economics to conduct a 
benefit-cost analysis (BCA) of a proposed expansion and improvement project for the 
Unalaska Marine Center Dock Positions III and IV. The BCA was prepared in support 

of the city’s application for funds from the Transportation Investment Generating Economic Recovery 
(TIGER) Grant program. The study documented “baseline” and “alternative” scenarios, where the baseline 
referred to the current, or “without-project” option, and “alternative” referred to the proposed project and 
consisted of the partial replacement and upgrade (with backfill) of UMC dock positions III and IV, as well 
as an upgrade to the crane rail and associated concrete work.  

The study included a description of the affected population, including fishing vessels, fuel tankers and 
barges, container ships, Ferries, cruise ships, oil exploration and mining project traffic, dock workers 
(particularly from a safety perspective) and other support operations at the UMC. 

Council Packet Page 60 



Cost/Benefit Analysis: Captain’s Bay Road and Utilities Project 

 Proposal 13 

The study then examined capital costs, and benefits (principally in the form of avoided costs) which included 
major maintenance, fuel expenditures, the social cost of carbon, and the economic value of injuries. 

Finally, the study included a sensitivity analysis that tested the sensitivity of the Benefit-cost ratio to the 
addition of the avoided cost of Position IV repairs 

City of Unalaska TIGER Grant BCA, 2014 

Northern Economics prepared a benefit-cost analysis for the City of Unalaska of proposed improvements to 
the Unalaska Marine Center dock. The work was done as part of a grant application to the U.S. Department 
of Transportation to fund a project that would improve the functionality and extend the life of the dock. 

Little South America (LSA) Land Development Study, 2013 

Northern Economics was contracted to provide economic analysis of suitable land development options for 
Ounalashka Corporation’s land holdings on LSA in Unalaska, Alaska. The first phase of the analysis consisted 
of a study to determine the potential for LSA to support outer continental shelf oil and gas exploration and 
development activities, and to conduct a highest and best use analysis of the lands for a range of other 
potential purposes. For Ounalashka Corporation, 2012-2013. 

Tanana Road Phase II Benefit-Cost Analysis for BUILD Grant, 2018  

Northern Economics was contracted by the Alaska Department of Transportation and Public Facilities to 
conduct a BCA to support the City of Tanana’s BUILD grant application for the Tanana Road Phase II 
project.  

The BCA was conducted according to the U.S. Department of Transportation’s 2018 Guidance for 
Discretionary Grant Programs, which specifies five categories of benefits for consideration: 1) Value of Travel 
Time Savings, 2) Vehicle Operating Cost Savings, 3) Safety Benefits, 4) Emissions Reduction Benefits, and 5) 
Other Issues in Benefits Estimation. 

The fifth category, and particularly the sub-category of Benefits to Existing and Additional Users, was the 
primary source of benefits considered in the analysis, including benefits from reduced costs of transporting 
cargo (air cargo, barge freight, and barge fuel), passengers (air), and mail (air). The values associated with 
those savings were estimated based on a study Northern Economics conducted in 2012–2013 that 
considered benefits of the road that would accrue to Tanana and other downriver communities it could 
support. Other benefits not addressed in the BCA but discussed qualitatively included resiliency and 
emergency response. This project was follow-on work to our 2017 Benefit-Cost Analysis for a TIGER 
Discretionary Grant on the Tanana Road Upgrade Project. 

Tanana Road Upgrade Project Benefit-Cost Analysis for TIGER Discretionary Grant, 2017 

Northern Economics was contracted by the Alaska Department of Transportation and Public Facilities to 
conduct a benefit-cost analysis to support the City of Tanana’s TIGER grant application for the Tanana Road 
Upgrade Project.  

Benefit-Cost Analysis of the Emmonak Barge Ramp and Dock Project, 2018 

This BCA prepared for the City of Emmonak and the Yukon Delta Fishery Development Association, was 
prepared in support of a BUILD Grant Application for the barge dock and ramp project in Emmonak. The 
BCA was developed using the U.S. Department of Transportation’s “Benefits-Cost Analysis Guidance for 
Discretionary Programs.” The study assessed quantifiable costs and benefits of the Project including capital 
costs, operations and maintenance (O&M), residual value of assets, direct project revenues, and benefits to 
commercial fisheries. The study also qualitatively discussed three unquantified benefits: cost savings from 
erosion control, cost savings from reductions in barge operating costs, and reductions in cost of goods and 

Council Packet Page 61 



Cost/Benefit Analysis: Captain’s Bay Road and Utilities Project 

14 Proposal  

services. In 2018 the City of Emmonak was awarded a grant of $23.1 million from the U.S. Department of 
Transportation. 

FASTLANE Grant Cost Benefit Analysis, 2016 

At the request of the Matanuska Susitna Borough, Northern Economics analyzed the cost and societal 
benefits of completing a rail spur from Houston to Port Mackenzie for use in a USDOT transportation grant 
proposal. The team assembled and compared the net present value of cost and operations, with the net 
present value of benefits including rail transportation savings, safety from truck removal, and avoided 
maintenance cost. After developing a flexible modeling framework, the team performed sensitivity analysis 
using two different future shipping demand assumptions, along with two different discount rates to provide 
a likely range of future benefit cost ratios as opposed to a static figure. 

HDL 

Captains Bay Road Paving and Utility Extension, Unalaska 

HDL, led by Contract/Project Manager David Lundin, conducted this 
project providing planning and engineering services for upgrades and 

realignments to the roadway, and extensions to water, wastewater, and power utilities. The proposed 
project will improve vehicle and pedestrian safety, reduce road and vehicle maintenance costs, and provide 
public utilities for current and future development in this portion of Unalaska that is dominated by seafood 
and support sector businesses. 

Chiniak Highway, MP 15-31 Rehabilitation 

The purpose of this project was to rehabilitate 16 miles of rural highway on Kodiak Island. The first task of 
this project was to determine how to segment the project and prioritize improvements into a phased 
construction approach. The HDL team developed a Corridor Health Index, adapting the transportation asset 
management data available into a planning tool implemented to complete the task. Project Engineer Trevor 
Strait also conducted numerous cost-benefit analyses using crash data to assess and compare the 
construction costs and impacts of curvature improvements. 

DOWL 

Bethel Avenues Piped Water and Sewer Preliminary Engineering Report 
(PER)/Environmental Assessment (EA) 

DOWL staff prepared a PER and EA for the extension of municipal piped water and sewer to The Avenues 
neighborhood in the Bethel, Alaska. The PER included a high-level assessment of the extension’s capital 
cost and an analysis of the current and proposed operational costs of the system. 

Sterling Highway Milepost (MP) 45-79 

The Sterling Highway MP 45-79 corridor has experienced substantial improvements over the course of 10 
years with $500M in investments. This 34-mile corridor traverses environmentally sensitive lands, high-
valued wildlife habitat, federally managed conservation lands, and challenging hydrology and geotechnical 
conditions. The work is about 1/3 complete, with MP 60-79 constructed and MP 45-60 in the midst of final 
design using Construction Manager/General Contractor procurement. The project includes large and small 
bridges, wildlife crossings, and land agreements, and requires substantial agency coordination. DOWL was 
awarded the 2016 Outstanding Partner Award for the Alaska Region of the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service 
for the work they did in the Kenai National Wildlife Refuge, including designing six wildlife underpass 
culverts and a new bridge over the East Fork of Moose River, as well as material site restoration. The Sterling 
Highway design has included considerable cost/benefit analysis throughout the life of the project to weigh 

Council Packet Page 62 



Cost/Benefit Analysis: Captain’s Bay Road and Utilities Project 

 Proposal 15 

capital costs against road safety, environmental concerns, and long-term maintenance. Solutions developed 
for challenging terrain and cut-fill balances on Sterling Highway will also be directly relevant for 
consideration on Captains Bay Road. 

Ambler Mining District Industrial Access Project 

DOWL staff provided a wide variety of services for this 200+ mile industrial road through northwest Alaska. 
DOWL conducted reconnaissance engineering and environmental studies for the Alaska Department of 
Transportation and Public Facilities to evaluate several potential road and rail corridors from the Ambler 
Mining District to potential port sites on Alaska's west coast and to road and rail connections to the east of 
the District. When the project was transferred to the Alaska Industrial Development and Export Authority, 
the team continued to provide a variety of services in support of the project. The bulk of the preliminary 
design efforts on this project to date have centered around providing an economically efficient roadway 
corridor to meet project objectives while minimizing maintenance costs and environmental impacts and 
maximizing the safe operation of the road. DOWL’s development of construction and operation cost 
estimates and design alternatives that met challenging topographic constraints will be directly applicable 
when considering roadway cost/benefit analysis for Captains Bay Road. 

Akutan Harbor Access Road Design 

The Native Village of Akutan hired DOWL for a new, two-mile road on Akutan Island, connecting Akutan 
with a small boat harbor constructed by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. The Village obtained federal 
Bureau of Indian Affairs dollars to fund the project. Akutan Island is characterized by steep topography and 
remoteness, sizeable mountainside watersheds and streams, and conflict with protected wildlife. After 
evaluating a number of alignments, a shoreline alignment was selected to improve constructability and cost 
effectiveness. The project schedule was aggressive given the complexity but was successfully completed in 
15 months. The Akutan Harbor access road required similar design considerations as Captains Bay Road, 
including similar terrain, geology, and ocean-side constraints. Construction and maintenance costs will likely 
be similar for the two roads on a per-mile basis. 

 

Council Packet Page 63 



Cost/Benefit Analysis: Captain’s Bay Road and Utilities Project 

16 Proposal  

 Resumes 
Resumes for key staff are provided on the following pages. 

Council Packet Page 64 



 

 

MICHAEL FISHER, MSPM, MBA, PMP 
Vice President and Principal Consultant 
 

EDUCATION and CERTIFICATION 
2006 Master of Science in Project Management, University of Alaska Anchorage 

2005– Project Management Professional #278257, Project Management Institute 

2001 Master of Business Administration, Western Washington University 

1999 Bachelor of Science in Physics, Western Washington University 

NORTHERN ECONOMICS EXPERIENCE 
July 2001–Present  

Vice President, September 2017–Present 
Principal Consultant, June 2015–Present 

Areas of concentration include ports and harbors, financial analyses, business planning, feasibility 
studies, and risk analysis. Projects include: 

Projects 

• Cape Blossom Road Benefit-Cost Analysis. Principal in Charge. The Northwest Arctic Borough 
contracted with Northern Economics to update a benefit-cost analysis for a 2020 BUILD Grant 
application. The borough has worked with the Alaska Department of Transportation and Public 
Facilities to design a 10.5-mile road and deepwater port site at Cape Blossom, near Kotzebue, 
Alaska. Northern Economics documented the project benefits and costs in accordance with 
USDOT grant application guidance. 2020. 

• Parks Highway MP 305–325 Reconstruction Benefit-Cost Analysis. Principal in Charge. 
Northern Economics conducted a benefit-cost analysis of reconstruction of and improvements 
to a 20-mile stretch of the Parks Highway between Nenana and Fairbanks, to support a future 
Alaska Department of Transportation and Public Facilities discretionary grant application. 2019. 

• Kodiak Harbor Channel Bridge Improvement Benefit-Cost Analysis for BUILD Grant. Principal 
in Charge. Northern Economics conducted a benefit-cost analysis to support a BUILD Grant 
application for replacement of the bridge’s surface and approaches. For Alaska Department of 
Transportation and Public Facilities, 2019. 

• Tanana Road Phase II Benefit-Cost Analysis for BUILD Grant. Principal in Charge. Benefit-cost 
analysis to support the City of Tanana’s BUILD grant application for the Tanana Road Phase II 
project. For this iteration, additional consideration was given to benefits the road would provide 
to mining and tourism activities. For the City of Tanana, 2019. 

• Lutak Dock Replacement Benefit-Cost Analysis for BUILD Grant. Principal in Charge. Northern 
Economics conducted a benefit-cost analysis of replacement of the Lutak Dock to support 
Haines Borough’s BUILD Grant application. For Haines Borough, 2019. 

• Matanuska-Susitna Borough Rail Extension Benefit-Cost Analysis for INFRA Grant. Project 
Manager. Updated a BCA for a rail extension from Alaska Railroad Corporation’s main rail line 
near Houston to Port MacKenzie. For the Matanuska-Susitna Borough, 2018–2019. 

Council Packet Page 65 



Resume of Michael Fisher, MSPM, MBA, PMP 

2   

• Tanana Road Upgrade Project Benefit-Cost Analysis for TIGER Discretionary Grant. Principal in 
Charge. Northern Economics was contracted by the Alaska Department of Transportation and 
Public Facilities to conduct a benefit-cost analysis to support the City of Tanana’s TIGER grant 
application for the Tanana Road Upgrade Project. For the Alaska Department of Transportation 
and Public Facilities and City of Tanana, 2017. 

• Port MacKenzie Rail Extension Benefit-Cost Analysis for FASTLANE Assessment and Economic 
Effects of the Port MacKenzie Rail Extension Project. Principal in Charge. Updated a 2007 study 
looking at the economic effects of the proposed Port MacKenzie Rail Extension Project, which 
would connect the port to the existing Alaska Railroad Corporation line to the north, near 
Houston, Alaska. 2016. 

• Benefit-Cost Analysis of the Lutak Dock Replacement. Principal in Charge. Haines Borough 
contracted with Northern Economics to conduct a benefit-cost analysis of replacing the aging 
Lutak Dock, for use in a FASTLANE grant application. For the Haines Borough, 2016. 

• Susitna-Watana Hydroelectric Project: Benefit-Cost and Economic Impact Analyses. Northern 
Economics conducted separate studies to evaluate the merits of the proposed Susitna-Watana 
Hydroelectric Project. Mike’s work was focused on a benefit-cost analysis of the facility. For the 
Alaska Energy Authority, 2014–2015. 

• Noatak Airport and Road Benefit-Cost Analysis. Conducted a detailed analysis of the costs and 
benefits of a road linking the Native Village of Noatak to the Delong Mountain Transportation 
System—a road and port system that serves Red Dog, the world’s largest zinc mine. The 
economic analysis quantified the monetary costs and benefits of the road and airport upgrade 
options. The analysis also examined non-monetary issues including access to private and public 
lands and disturbance of wetlands. For Alaska Department of Transportation and Public 
Facilities, 2004–2005. 

• Little South America (LSA) Land Development Study. Project Manager. Northern Economics 
was contracted to provide economic analysis of suitable land development options for 
Ounalashka Corporation’s land holdings on LSA in Unalaska. The first phase of the analysis 
consisted of a study to determine the potential for LSA to support outer continental shelf oil 
and gas exploration and development activities, and to conduct a highest and best use analysis 
of the lands for a range of other potential purposes. For Ounalashka Corporation, 2012–2013. 

• Port of Dutch Harbor Rate Structure Study. Project Manager. Northern Economics worked on 
a rate structure study for Port of Dutch Harbor facilities. The goal of the study was to make the 
rate structure consistent across all port and harbor facilities, while allowing for differences in 
use types, capabilities, and amenities. For the City of Unalaska, 2014–2016. 

• Arctic Deep Draft Port Comments. Project Manager. Northern Economics conducted interviews 
and collected information about historical and planned use of Unalaska and Port of Dutch 
Harbor facilities by vessels operating in the Arctic, including oil and gas exploration activities. 
This information was compiled for the City of Unalaska to prepare comments on an upcoming 
report by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. For the City of Unalaska, 2014–2015. 

• Benefits of Upgrading Position 1. Describe potential benefits of upgrading Position 1 at the 
Unalaska/Dutch Harbor Marine Center. Work includes identifying and describing potential 
benefits of the upgrade, providing qualitative and quantitative justifications for benefits, and 
report preparation. For the City of Unalaska, 2003. 

Council Packet Page 66 



 

 

Marcus Hartley 
President and Principal Economist 
 

EDUCATION 
1989 M.S. in Agricultural and Resource Economics, Oregon State University 

Thesis: “An Evaluation of Input Purchasing Behavior at Cooperatives.”  
1980 B.A. in History with additional coursework in Natural Sciences,  

Lewis and Clark College, Oregon; nominated for honors.  

EXPERIENCE 
2014–present 
President & Principal Economist, Northern Economics, Inc., Anchorage, Alaska 

1997-2013 
Vice President (since 2001) & Senior Economist, Northern Economics, Inc., Anchorage, Alaska 

Published works and presentations for Northern Economics are listed separately below. 

1989–1997 
Senior Economist and Staff Economist, North Pacific Fishery Management Council, Anchorage, Alaska  

Author or co-author of economic analyses on major allocation issues between sport and 
commercial halibut fishers, inshore and offshore pollock processors, and users of trawl and fixed 
gears for Pacific Cod, as well as assessments of Individual Fishing Quotas for sablefish and halibut.   

Projects 

• A Benefit Cost Analysis (BCA) of the development of proposed port infrastructure in the City of 
Emmonak on the Yukon River Delta was a part of a successful application for a $23.1 million 
grant through the U.S. Department of Transportation’s Better Utilizing Investments to Leverage 
Development (BUILD) program. 

• An assessment of the costs and benefits of the transition to the Interagency Electronic Reporting 
System (also known as the eLandings System) for Alaska fishery management agencies and 
stakeholders. For NMFS-Alaska Region and AK Dept. of Fish and Game in 2014–2015. 

• Benefit Cost Analysis and Economic Impact Assessment of road and airport options linking the 
Native Village of Noatak to the Delong Mountain Transportation System, for the Alaska 
Department of Transportation and Public Facilities in 2004. The study incorporated an 
innovate approach to calculating benefits that included reductions in local building costs, 
reductions in travel time and changes in commuting patterns. 

• Feasibility assessment of a fish meal plant and other alternative measures to eliminate fish 
processing waste discharges in St. Paul Alaska; for the Central Bering Sea Fishermen’s 
Association in 2013. 

• An assessment of social and economic impact of the proposed road linking Cold Bay and King 
Cove as part of the U.S. Fish Wildlife Environment Impact Statement in 2012. 

• A spreadsheet model to assess the feasibility of replacing trawl catcher vessels in the Bering Sea 
shore-based pollock fishery for Great Pacific Alaska, LLC in 2012. 

Council Packet Page 67 



Resume of Marcus Hartley, M.S. 

2   

• A programmatic review of the impacts of the American Fisheries Act on the pollock fisheries of 
the Bering Sea and its participants. For the North Pacific Fishery Management Council. February 
2017. 

• An assessment of the economic importance of the Bristol Bay commercial salmon fishery; for 
the Bristol Bay Economic Development Corporation in 2012.  

• Assessment of existing conditions in communities and fisheries likely to be affected by the 
proposed offshore lease sale in Area 214 of the North Aleutian Basin for the Aleutians East 
Borough and the US Minerals Management Service in 2009 and 2010. 

• An historical overview of the importance of the Bristol Bay salmon fishery to the regional 
economy and the impact of declining participation of local residents. For the Bristol Bay 
Economic Development Corporation in 2009. 

• Development of commercial fishing engagement and dependency profiles of communities of 
Dutch Harbor/Unalaska, Akutan, King Cove, and Kodiak in partnership with EDAW, Inc. for 
the North Pacific Research Board in 2004. The study demonstrates the different amount of 
information that can be provided for communities under state and federal confidentiality 
rules with varying levels of involvement in the fisheries. 

• Southwest Alaska and Prince William Sound long-range transportation planning studies, for 
Alaska Department of Transportation and Public Facilities and Parsons Brinckerhoff. Estimated 
ridership changes and revenue impact of alternative ferry systems including fast ferries and 
traditional ferries. 

• Development of market report and non-binding price formula for the 2005 Aleutian Island 
Brown King Crab Fishery. This pioneering study developed a justifiable price formulation 
algorithm for use in arbitration in the event that price negotiations fail under the newly 
implemented individual fishing quota program for King and Tanner crab in the Bering Sea. 

• Developed decision process and methodology to estimate potential impacts of the 
designation of critical habitat for Steller's eiders; reviewed U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service 
document Draft Economic Analysis of Critical Habitat Designation for the Steller's Eider; for the 
City of Unalaska, 2000. 

• Assessment of economic importance of commercial salmon fisheries to communities of the 
Aleutians East Borough, with particular attention to proposed changes in the management 
regime in response to federal takeover of subsistence fisheries in Alaska; for the Aleutians East 
Borough in 2000. 

• An assessment of the Importance of the Seafood harvesting and processing industry to the 
State of Alaska in 2008; for the Marine Conservation Alliance. 

• Evaluation of the use of ice and refrigerated seawater fish chilling systems in the Bristol Bay 
salmon fishery. For the Bristol Bay Regional Seafood Development Association in 2008. 

• An econometric model of the impact of management changes on the price of Bristol Bay set 
gillnet permit prices; for the Bristol Bay Economic Development Corporation; 2013. 

• Economic modeling and feasibility assessment of a processing and cold-storage facility and 
related infrastructures including a power plant, fuel storage tanks, seawall and sheet-pile dock 
for the Yukon Delta Fisheries Development Association in 2008. 

• A review of Alaska’s economy and prospects for the interstate and international marine shipping 
industry for Matson Navigation, Inc. 

Council Packet Page 68 



 

 

 
 
 
TREVOR 
STRAIT, PE, 
PTOE 
 

Registrations 
■ Professional Civil Engineer,  

Alaska: 14864 
 

 
Education 
■ M.S., Civil Engineering, University 

of Alaska Anchorage, 2014 
■ B.S., Engineering, Northwest 

Nazarene University, 2004 
■ B.S., Engineering Physics,  

Northwest Nazarene University, 2004 
 

 
Certifications 
■ Certified Professional Traffic 

Operations Engineer 
 

 
Publications 
■ “Calibration of the Highway Safety 

Manual Model for Application Cold 
Regions”, Western Institute of 
Transportation Engineers 
Newsletters, June 2011. 

Trevor is a traffic design engineer at HDL and a life-long Alaskan 
who takes a common-sense approach to design and 
construction projects. Trevor has a wide range of engineering 
experience, including traffic and safety studies, urban and rural 
roadway design, and pavement preservation, rehabilitation and 
reconstruction projects. He is also very knowledgeable of the 
AASHTO “Greenbook,” MUTCD, and Alaska Highway PCM. In 
addition, Trevor has been responsible for producing numerous 
DSRs, plansets, and submittals. Trevor has performed research 
determining local calibration factors for the AASHTO Highway 
Safety Manual as a research associate at the University of Alaska 
Anchorage where he has also taught Traffic Engineering as an 
adjunct professor. Trevor currently serves on the PE 
Transportation Civil Exam Committee for NCEES. 

Relevant Project Experience 
Chiniak Highway, MP 15-31 Rehabilitation. Trevor is currently 
serving as the Project Engineer for this project to rehabilitate 16 
miles of rural highway on Kodiak Island. The first task of this 
project was to determine how to segment the project and 
prioritize improvements into a phased construction approach.  
To accomplish this, Trevor led a team to develop a Corridor 
Health Index, adapting the transportation asset management 
data available into a planning tool implemented to complete 
the task. Trevor also conducted numerous cost-benefit analyses 
using crash data to assess and compare the construction costs 
and impacts of curvature improvements. 

East 120th Avenue Traffic Study. For this project, Trevor 
performed a traffic study in support of this Municipality of 
Anchorage project.  Efforts included studying traffic volumes 
and turning movements, performing traffic forecasting and 
parking analyses, conducting elementary school trip 
generation, and determining sight distance. 

Trunk Road Connector Traffic and Safety Report. Trevor 
produced the traffic and safety report for this project that 
included the design of a new roadway connecting Trunk Road 
with Stringfield Road/Old Trunk Road and providing a new 
signalized access for the Pioneer Peak Elementary School. 

Parks Highway, MP 44-52, Wasilla to Big Lake Road. Trevor 
served as Project Engineer to design the rehabilitation of Parks 

Council Packet Page 69 



 

Trevor Strait, PE, PTOE 2 

Highway between Wasilla and Big Lake Road. In addition, he was responsible for addressing access 
management issues, determining trip generation for access points, and improving intersection 
safety with left-turn and right-turn offsets. He was responsible for the geometric design and 
development of plans for the Parks Highway, new frontage roads, realigned existing frontage roads, 
and side streets between Wasilla and Big Lake Road. The overall design included upgrading 8 miles 
of a two-lane rural/urban highway to a four-lane highway with adjacent two-way frontage roads and 
four signalized intersections. Additionally, Trevor provided support to DOT&PF Central Region staff 
in developing a Wiki database to store Frequently Asked Questions to provide consistency in 
responses to public questions. 

New Seward Highway/92nd Avenue. As Staff Engineer, Trevor was responsible for designing the 
frontage roads, highway ramps, and a signalized intersection in this grade-separated crossing 
project. His responsibilities included developing various interchange alternatives. 

Lucus Road Rehabilitation. Trevor served as Staff Engineer and was responsible for conducting a 
crash analysis on this project. He also prepared the Utility Conflict Report and evaluated right-of-way 
impacts. 

C Street, 40th Ave to Minnesota, Pavement Preservation. Trevor served as Project Engineer for 
this project that rehabilitated the existing pavement by constructing a new asphalt pavement 
overlay and improved accessibility conforming to ADA Standards for Accessible Design. The project 
included striping, bridge deck improvements, erosion control, curb ramp improvements, 
Automated Traffic Recorder rehabilitation, pathway reconstruction, minor drainage improvements, 
and signal pole relocations. 

Parks Highway Seward Meridian to Lucus Road, Pavement Preservation. Trevor was the Project 
Engineer for this project that rehabilitated the existing pavement by constructing a new asphalt 
pavement overlay and improved accessibility conforming to ADA Standards for Accessible Design. 
The project included striping, erosion control, curb ramp improvements, guardrail replacement, and 
Automated Traffic Recorder rehabilitation. 

HSIP: Seward Highway Rockfall Mitigation. As Project Engineer, Trevor responsible for the traffic 
control design of this project.  With limited space available at eight work locations, Trevor designed 
traffic control methods that allowed for minimal disruption to traffic on this critical highway while 
providing the Contractor with the time and flexibility to complete the work. 

Southcoast Regionwide Non-NHS Slope Stabilization. As Project Engineer, Trevor was responsible 
for the traffic control design of this rockfall mitigation project.  With several project sites in Ketchikan, 
Trevor designed traffic control methods that allowed for minimal disruption to traffic on these routes 
while providing the Contractor with the time and flexibility to complete the work. 

UAA Mat-Su Campus Fire Road Upgrade. Trevor served as Staff Engineer for this project and was 
responsible for developing plans and specifications. The project consisted of upgrading an existing 
gravel road to a wider paved road and adding parking and pedestrian improvements. Trevor also 
provided assistance during the bid and construction phases of these projects. 

Council Packet Page 70 



 

 

 
 
 
DAVID 
LUNDIN, PE 
 

Registrations 
■ Professional Civil Engineer, Alaska:  

AELC10127 
■ Professional Environmental Engineer, 

Alaska: AELV14314  
■ Professional Civil Engineer, California:  

C60393 
 

 
 

 
Education 
■ B.S., Civil Engineering, University of 

California Davis, 1993 
 

 

David is a Principal Civil and Environmental Engineer at HDL. 
He manages the company’s site development, water and 
wastewater engineering, construction administration, and 
geotechnical services groups. With more than 28 years of 
experience, David has led planning, design, cost estimating, 
construction administration and construction inspection 
services for public and private site development, water and 
sewer utilities, roads, airports, and fuel storage projects 
throughout Alaska. With his keen eye for detail, he is often 
called upon to provide peer and quality control reviews 

Relevant Project Experience 
Captains Bay Road Paving and Utility Extension, Unalaska. 
David is Contract/Project Manager for this project overseeing 
planning and engineering services for upgrades and 
realignments to the roadway, and extensions to water, 
wastewater, and power utilities. The proposed project will 
improve vehicle and pedestrian safety, reduce road and 
vehicle maintenance costs, and provide public utilities for 
current and future development in this portion of Unalaska 
that is dominated by seafood and support sector businesses. 

Seldon Road and Lucille Street Upgrades, Wasilla. David was 
the Contract Manager for the coordination and development 
of the PS&E for this suburban project to upgrade 
approximately two miles of roadway with widened shoulders, 
improved drainage, a multi-use pathway, and a new 
roundabout intersection. David provided oversight and quality 
review of all deliverables, including the acquisition of 17 ROW 
parcels.  

Mack Drive Extension/Clapp Street Improvements, 
Realignment & Signalization at Knik-Goose Bay (KGB) Road, 
Wasilla. David served as the Contract and Project Manager for 
this $6.6 million project consisting of 2.15 miles of street and 
pathway connecting the Parks Highway to KGB Road and a 
new signalized intersection. The project included coordination 
with the three roadway owners (the Alaska Department of 
Transportation and Facilities, City of Wasilla, and Matanuska-
Susitna Borough) and meeting various documentation 
requirements.  

Council Packet Page 71 



 

David Lundin, PE 2 

Southwest Utility System Extension Phases I and II, Palmer. David was the Lead Civil Engineer 
and Assistant Project Manager for planning and design of the first phase of Palmer’s extension of 
utilities to the southwest portion of their service area. This phase included design of 70,000 feet of 
gravity and pressure pipelines for water and wastewater and three wastewater pumping stations. 
Prepared construction cost estimates, assisted with public meetings, and coordinated the work 
with several agencies and local organizations. David provided construction administration and 
oversight of full-time inspection and material testing services.  

For Phase II of the project, David was the Project Manager for design and construction 
administration of a 10,000-foot extension of the water system, a new 1-million gallon reservoir, and 
a booster pumping station, as well as 1,500 feet of new roadway and distribution main to serve the 
Mat-Su College campus.  

Chlorine Contact/Storage Tank, Unalaska. David was Project Manager for the preliminary design 
of a new 2.6-million-gallon welded steel chlorine contact/storage tank and constant pressure 
booster station, as well as evaluation of the Unalaska’s operational data to determine the project 
need. Following this evaluation, it was determined to delay development of the reservoir until the 
need increased. 

Kenai Wastewater Treatment Facility Functional Assessment. As part of our Water/Wastewater 
Term Engineering contract with the City of Kenai, David provided management and quality review 
for a functional assessment (FA) of the Kenai Wastewater Treatment Facility.  The FA included a 
review of the existing facility infrastructure and operations, identification and cost estimates of 
needed improvements, and prioritizing the projects based on cost and benefit.  David and HDL are 
currently preparing a similar FA for Kenai’s water system and wastewater collection system. 

Rural Power System Upgrades, Sleetmute, Stony River, and Crooked Creek. David prepared 
concept design reports for power system upgrades in each of these villages, including needs 
assessment, forecasting, equipment sizing, site selection, and project cost estimate. 

Steel Water Main Replacement Program, Palmer. David was the Project Manager for planning, 
design and construction oversight of 12 projects over 14 years to replace over 30,000 feet of steel 
water pipeline. HDL has provided planning, CIP programming to sustainably forecast projects with 
available funding, assistance with ADEC grant applications, public involvement, environmental 
analysis/permitting, surveying, easement acquisition, geotechnical, environmental, and civil 
engineering, construction inspection, and material testing. Every project leveraged available local 
funding with grant or loan match money, some of which required the development of local 
improvement districts or energy efficiency analysis to meet grant requirements. For each project, 
HDL identified project challenges early on and worked with Palmer staff to mitigate the challenges 
and successfully complete each project. Because we have continually performed to the highest 
level and have done whatever it takes to get the job done, our relationship with Palmer on these 
projects lasted through five different Public Works Directors, four City Managers, and numerous 
changes to the City Council. 

Council Packet Page 72 



 
  

 
 

Richard Pribyl, PE 

  

Professional Experience 
Rich has 14 years of experience on Alaska roadway projects for clients such as the 
State of Alaska Department of Transportation and Public Facilities (DOT&PF), federal 
entities, and rural cities and boroughs. He has participated in seven value engineering 
studies in Alaska with services similar to the proposed road in Unalaska, including 
highway and hydrologic and hydraulic (H&H) design, as well as other road projects with 
difficult geologic restrictions. Rich’s rural Alaska expertise and thorough knowledge of 
roadway design will allow him to efficiently lead road engineering efforts to evaluate 
design alternatives and provide valuable input on benefits gained from various 
alternatives. His comprehensive understanding of road corridor design and strong 
communication skills will help provide the City of Unalaska with a clear understanding 
of the potential returns on investment this project will bring. 

Project Experience 
Ambler Mining District Industrial Access, Ambler Mining District, Alaska. Rich led 
engineering services for this 211-mile industrial road project, beginning with evaluation 
of several potential road and rail corridors from the Ambler Mining District to potential 
port sites on Alaska's west coast and to road and rail connections to the east of the 
District. During preliminary investigations, Rich investigated hydrologic conditions along 
the corridor alternatives, identified data gaps, and recommended field investigations. 
He oversaw development of design criteria, conceptual cost estimates for corridor 
alternatives, and construction phasing plans. He had a major role in coordinating 
logistics for environmental and engineering field efforts, and led fieldwork investigating 
roadway alignments, bridge siting, snowpack, wind drifting, aufeis formation, river 
breakup, and river morphology along the proposed corridor over multiple years. Rich 
managed the preliminary roadway design (plan and profile) and associated engineering 
tasks required for the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) permit application 
process in support of the consolidated federal permit applications. He prepared cost 
estimates for pioneer, single-lane, and two-lane road options and helped identify 
material needs and available resources. Rich was actively involved in agency 
coordination and the public outreach process through the life of the project, traveling 
to rural communities to discuss project needs and concerns. Rich continued to support 
the Alaska Industrial Development and Export Authority as the project advanced 
through the environmental impact statement process. 
 
Akutan Harbor Access Road Engineering Design and Survey Services, Akutan, 
Alaska. The Native Village of Akutan hired DOWL for a new, two-mile road on Akutan 
Island, connecting Akutan with a small boat harbor constructed by the U.S. Army Corps 
of Engineers. The Village obtained federal Bureau of Indian Affairs dollars to fund the 
project. Akutan Island is characterized by steep topography and remoteness, sizeable 
mountainside watersheds and streams, and conflict with protected wildlife. After 
evaluating a number of alignments, a shoreline alignment was selected to improve 
constructability and cost effectiveness. The project schedule was aggressive given the 
complexity but was successfully completed in 15 months. Rich led the H&H analysis, 
traveling to Akutan to investigate the proposed roadway alignment and document 
stream crossings and drainage features crossing the corridor. He oversaw the 

Senior Water Resources 
Engineer 

Education 
Bachelor of Science 
Civil Engineering 
University of Wyoming 
2005 
 

Licenses 
Alaska #13149 
2011/Professional 
Engineer 
 
#GY2EKP 2019/First Aid 
CPR AED 
 
#1125 2012/Certified 
Inspector of Sediment 
Erosion Control 
 

Years of 
Experience 
14 
 

Professional 
Affiliations 
American Society of Civil 
Engineers  Institute of 
Transportation Engineers 
 

Council Packet Page 73 



 
  

 
 

Richard Pribyl, PE 

Training 
2010 Fish Passage 
Training Expense Report  
 
Confined Space 

delineation of 40 drainage basins to complete hydrologic computations to size crossing 
structures, which included one stream simulation fish passage crossing. He also 
performed a fetch analysis to size armor rock providing shoreline protection from wind-
generated waves.  
 
Sterling Highway Milepost (MP) 58 to 79, Skilak Lake, Alaska. DOWL performed 
environmental and design services for the $54 million project that included an H&H 
analysis, traffic analysis, utility conflicts and agreements, public involvement, agency 
permitting, final design, and construction support tasks. Major elements included new 
passing lanes and expanded shoulders to bring this 21-mile stretch of highway up to 
rural arterial standards. In addition, DOWL completed a moose-vehicle collision 
analysis and developed mitigation countermeasures in conjunction with DOT&PF and 
the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). Mitigation consisted of six wildlife 
underpasses and a bridge to span the East Fork of Moose River. As the project 
engineer (engineer of record), Rich was responsible for completing the H&H report, 
design study report, construction documents (plans, specifications, and cost estimate), 
and providing permitting support. Rich coordinated environmental and geotechnical 
field investigations and reports. He attended public meetings in support of NEPA 
(required public involvement process) and coordinated extensively with the Kenai 
National Wildlife Refuge. The project team was awarded the USFWS 2016 Partnership 
Award. 
 
Sterling Highway MP 157-169 Rehabilitation, Kenai Peninsula Borough, Alaska. The 
project will improve this heavily traveled corridor by rehabilitating the existing surface, 
replacing existing culverts at North Fork Anchor River with a new bridge, replacing the 
Anchor River bridge with a new bridge, realigning and straightening curves to bring the 
roadway to current highway design standards, constructing passing and climbing lanes, 
improving intersections, and widening shoulders. As the project engineer, Rich oversaw 
development of the environmental document, including completion of the noise 
analysis, traffic analysis, and H&H report. Rich led the project team through preliminary 
engineering, preparation of the design construction documents, and completion of the 
design study report. He attended public meetings, helped resolve right-of-way needs, 
optimized the passing/climbing lanes, and assisted DOT&PF in evaluating options for 
phasing the project to match available funding. Rich is currently leading final design 
efforts concurrent with utility coordination and right-of-way appraisal and acquisition 
services with construction planned to start in 2022. 
 

 
 

Council Packet Page 74 



 
  

 
 

Kevin Johnson, PE, BCEE 

  

Professional Experience 
Kevin is the leader of DOWL’s water supply and wastewater practice area. He has more 
than two decades of experience in the facility planning, grant writing, design, and 
construction administration of diverse and complex municipal projects, including pump 
stations, pipelines, water storage tanks, and water and wastewater treatment facilities. 
These projects involved extensive cost estimating and life-cycle alternatives analysis of 
major capital facilities and planning evaluations. Kevin brings recent, related 
experience providing quality control for design of multiple sewer lift stations in Sitka 
and Kodiak and a major water transmission pipeline in Ketchikan, which is in complex 
geologic conditions. As part of funding pursuits for recent projects from Bethel to 
Kodiak, the capital and long-term operations costs were a major part of assessing the 
cost-benefit relationships among infrastructure alternatives under consideration. Kevin 
will leverage this experience to assist in evaluating the overall cost and benefits of the 
water and sewer system extensions for the Captains Bay Road Improvement project. 

Project Experience 
Ketchikan Raw Water Main Replacement, Ketchikan, Alaska. DOWL provided design 
services for replacement of a failing 36-inch ductile iron pipeline with a new 42-inch 
High Density Polyethylene pipeline, which is the sole source of municipal and industrial 
water into Ketchikan. The pipeline route crossed difficult soil and groundwater 
conditions and required limited shut down times to complete the tie ins to the existing 
system. Kevin was the design engineer for replacement of the transmission main. 
 
Juneau Biosolids and Facility Design, Juneau, Alaska. This project included design and 
construction administration for a new biosolids dryer facility at the Mendenhall 
Wastewater Treatment Plant. The dryer has a capacity of 7,200 pounds per hour of wet 
cake and can produce 92 percent dry solids. The new facility includes multiple 
pumping systems, a new belt filter press, two wet cake storage hoppers, biosolids 
dryer, thermal fluid skid, solids bagging station, odor control system, and supporting 
infrastructure. Kevin assisted with the mechanical process design and modeling along 
with modifications to the plant water supply and sludge pumping system modifications. 
 
Mendenhall/Juneau Douglas Wastewater Treatment Plant Headworks Design, Juneau, 
Alaska. This project involved the expansion of two existing headworks facilities, which 
included extensive structural evaluation of existing facilities. For the Mendenhall 
wastewater treatment plant, DOWL evaluated new screening and washing/compaction 
alternatives and grit removal improvements in the multi-story headworks building. For 
the Juneau Douglas Wastewater Treatment Plant, DOWL designed a headworks 
building expansion to construct new influent channels and install mechanical 
screening devices. Kevin was lead designer and engineer of record for the Mendenhall 
headworks replacement components, including the dual screen installation and 
modification of interior 12-inch to 24-inch process piping necessary to accommodate 
the new fine screens. 
 
Sitka Lift Stations Design Build, Sitka, Alaska. DOWL worked with the City and Borough 
of Sitka and the prime contractor on this design-build project for two of Sitka's oldest 

Senior Water Resources 
Engineer 

Education 
Bachelor of Science 
Civil Engineering 
University of Wyoming 
1996 
 

Licenses 
Alaska #12625 
2010/Professional 
Engineer 
 

Years of 
Experience 
25 
 

Training 
American Membrane 
Technology Association; 
Technology Transfer 
Workshop  
 
Confined Space  
 
Improved Project 
Communication  
 
Project Management 
Bootcamp, PSMJ 
Resources, Inc.  

Council Packet Page 75 



 
  

 
 

Kevin Johnson, PE, BCEE 

 
Use of Polymers, 
Coagulants, Flocculants in 
Water Treatment (METC)  
 
Wastewater Treatment & 
Process Design, Montana 
State University  
 
Workshop on Retrofitting 
and Optimizing the 
Operation of Drinking 
Water Treatment Plants; 
Las Vegas, NV 

lift stations. Both lift stations were in poor condition and in desperate need of 
replacement. DOWL worked quickly to assess the lift stations and future development 
in the project areas and obtain an Approval to Construct from the Alaska Department 
of Environmental Conservation (ADEC). DOWL facilitated design reviews and worked 
with the owner on design specifics to accommodate needs of the operators. We 
specified a pump type that is not widely accepted by ADEC and worked hard to show it 
would perform the job. Within three months of receiving a Notice to Proceed, DOWL 
had secured an Approval to Construct. Kevin provided quality control and design 
support for completion of these lift stations. 

 
 

Council Packet Page 76 



 
  

 
 

Neil McMahon 

  

Professional Experience 
Neil brings strong research, data analysis, and planning skills to the team from his 12 
years of experience in Alaska energy planning, consulting, and project management. 
He is practiced in identifying and implementing creative solutions to complex 
problems, including economic analyses, project funding solution, managing state grant 
programs, and quantitative and qualitative data analysis. Neil’s approach is team-
oriented with an eye on larger, longer-term objectives. He is best known for his 
objectivity, intellectual curiosity, high-output productivity, and a nimbleness across 
subject areas that allows him to successfully manage a broad and diverse project 
portfolio. 
 

Project Experience  
Utility Business Plans, Kivalina, Diomede, Akiak, Alaska. The Alaska Native Tribal 
Health Consortium (ANTHC) hired DOWL to provide water and wastewater utility 
business plans for the cities of Kivalina, Diomede, and Akiak, Alaska. ANTHC requested 
that DOWL provide utility business plans to comply with the Alaska Department of 
Environmental Conservation funding requirements. Neil interviewed utility personnel, 
collected and analyzed financial documents, incorporated engineering estimates, and 
developed financial projections for the utilities based on current consumption trends. 

Prior Experience  
Program Manager, Energy Planning, Alaska Energy Authority (AEA), Anchorage, Alaska 
2014-2020. Neil worked closely with the executive team at AEA to manage all aspects 
of planning and data analysis, including the design, implementation, and evaluation of 
programs, projects, and policies. As a project manager, Neil designed and 
implemented all aspects of project portfolios to meet program goals. He initiated and 
developed multiple projects and programs, developed project management plans, 
maintained project documentation, and tracked progress consistent with agency 
requirements. Neil’s key roles included data and data modeling, development and 
training of a rural utility handbook, project evaluation to improve program performance 
and economic efficiency, technical studies, and policy studies. As a program manager, 
Neil planed and implemented programs consistent with State statutes, regulations, 
and policies. For the Renewable Energy Fund, he collaborated with the advisory 
committee and used quantitative and qualitative analysis to make recommended 
changes to the existing application assessment process, updated and improved an 
Excel-based economic model, and produced numerous templates, best practice 
guides, and other tools to guide applicants. Neil developed new project management 
controls to track and report project progress and established processes to create 
consistent data collection from operational projects. 

Energy Planning Consultant, McMahon Energy Consultancy, Anchorage, Alaska 
2013-2014. Neil provided regional and project planning services as an energy 
planning consultant for McMahon Energy Consultancy. Through this role, he planned, 
coordinated, and wrote a regional energy plan for southwest Alaska, including 
stakeholder input from community, regional, and tribal leaders, as well as State and 

Project Manager 

Education 
Master of Science 
Energy, Environmental 
Technology, and 
Economics 
City University of London 
2012 

Bachelor of Science 
Engineering 
University of Alaska, 
Anchorage 
2009 

Master of Arts 
Secondary Education 
University of Alaska, 
Anchorage 
1999 

Bachelor of Arts 
Physics-Geology 
Whitman College 
1997 
 

Licenses 
Alaska 2010/Engineer in 
Training 
 

Years of 
Experience 
9 

Council Packet Page 77 



 
  

 
 

Neil McMahon 

federal agencies. Neil also performed economic analyses and developed technical 
engineering descriptions for three successful energy infrastructure grant applications 
to the Alaska Renewable Energy Fund. 

Assistant Project Manager, Energy Infrastructure, AEA, Anchorage, Alaska , 2009-
2011. Neil provided project, grant, and program management as an assistant project 
manager for AEA. His notable project roles included providing proposal assessment, 
such as economic and technical evaluations of applications to the Renewable Energy 
Fund grant program, and leading a 90-member Alaska Hydrokinetic Working Group to 
identify barriers to development and collaborate with stakeholders. Neil also managed 
the hydrokinetic, geothermal, and emerging energy technology programs for AEA and 
led a team to develop the Emerging Energy Technology Fund grant program. 

 
 

Council Packet Page 78 



J u l y  1 5

2021

City of Unalaska
RFP

Qualified Architectural/
Engineering/Economics 
Services to Perform a Cost-
Benefit Analysis for the 
Captain’s Bay Road & Utilities 
Improvements Project

Tim Gallagher,  
Vice President / Alaska Area Manager

2525 C Street, Suite 500
Anchorage, Alaska 99503
907.644.2000
hdrinc.com

Council Packet Page 79 



Table of Contents
01 Letter of Transmittal i

02 Proposal 

Professional Qualifications 01

Schedule & Deliverable Products 06

Team Experience 07

03 Appendix A: Resumes

Stand Out.
HDR leads the industry as a 
source for innovative ideas and 
strategies. 

The capacity to accomplish the 
City of Unalaska (City’s) objectives 
requires strong leadership, technical 
capability, and project management. 
Our team has been selected for you 
based on past success, demonstrated 
leadership capabilities, specific project 
experience, and the ability to manage 
resources for a successful project. 

Successful projects are those that 
fulfill the client’s needs, and are 
completed on-time and within a 
prescribed budget. Achieving this 
requires technical proficiency, 
problem solving abilities, and a 
team with Alaskan knowledge and 
international experience. 

Council Packet Page 80 



hdrinc.com

July 15, 2021

City of Unalaska, Office of the City Clerk
43 Raven Way
PO Box 610
Unalaska, AK 99685

RE: RFP: Qualified Architectural/Engineering/Economics Services to Perform a Cost/Benefit 
Analysis for the Captain’s Bay Road & Utilities Improvements Project

Dear Selection Committee, 

The City of Unalaska has requested a consultant to provide a cost-benefit analysis for the Captain’s Bay Road 
& Utilities Upgrades Project.  HDR is pleased to have this opportunity to support the City of Unalaska in its 
overall goal of prioritizing and evaluating the benefit of infrastructure improvements. We are proposing to 
support the City managers with HDR subject matter experts in economics, finance, road design, civil and 
utility design, and best practices in rate structures. HDR’s team includes a Contract Manager and Project 
Manager with experience in Unalaska, road design experts, economists who have provided CBA for public 
and private clients and have assisted the whole range of transportation agencies in securing grants for major 
infrastructure projects including in Alaska. HDR has combined our most experienced economists and civil 
design subject matter experts to create a team with deep and diverse expertise to help the City of Unalaska 
meet its goals. HDR has several key attributes that will make this a successful effort.

• National Expertise. We can provide best practices developed through years of providing cost-benefit
analyses for public transportation projects. We offer a unique combination of economic, infrastructure, and
road and utility design expertise.

• Experienced Project Manager. Our Project Manager, Wescott Bott, PE, has familiarity with Unalaska
infrastructure and utilities, having successfully managed the Unalaska Water Master Plan in 2018.

• The Right Team. Our local Contract Manager, Murph O’Brien, has 45 years of Alaskan planning and
management experience. He has worked on several Unalaska projects and has worked with Tom Cohenour
on past projects.

• Economics Expertise. Our team has extensive experience in identifying funding sources and applying for
grant funding for transportation projects. Since 2009, we have assisted clients in procuring $2.3 billion in
grant funding, 15.9% of the total funds available.

I am authorized to make all representations for our firm and assure you that our team has the commitment, 
availability, and expertise to support you on this project. If you have questions, please contact me directly at 
907.644.2000. 

Sincerely, 

HDR Engineering, Inc.

Tim Gallagher
Alaska Area Manager/Vice President

2525 C Street, Suite 500
Anchorage, Alaska 99503 

i
Council Packet Page 81 



HDR’s full portfolio 
of economics 
and finance 
services include:
• Alternative delivery methods

• Benefit-cost analysis

• Business case analysis

• Decision support frameworks

• Demand forecasting

• Economic evaluation

• Econometric modeling

• Economic development

• Economic impact analysis

• Economic research

• Economic forecasting

• Financial feasibility analysis

• Fiscal analysis

• Funding and financial analysis

• Grant application support

• Labor analysis

• Least cost planning

• Life-cycle cost analysis

• Policy analysis

• Pricing and revenue forecasting

• Public-private partnership 

program support rate setting

• Real estate analysis

• Regulatory impact analysis

• Resiliency and climate

• Risk management

• Statistics and data analytics

• Sustainable Value Assessment

01

City of Unalaska  
RFP: Qualified A/E/E Services to Perform a Cost-Benefit Analysis for the Captain’s Bay Road & Utilities Improvements Project

01 Professional Qualifications
HDR’s Proposed Methodology
Under this proposal, HDR Engineering, Inc. (HDR) will assist the City of 
Unalaska (the City) in the development of the Cost-Benefit Analysis (CBA) 
for the proposed Captain’s Bay Road & Utilities Improvement Project (the 
Project). 

Task 1. Kick-Off and Strategic Guidance Meeting 
The HDR team will meet with the City representatives for this Project 
to formally “kick-off” the project and to establish administrative and 
management protocols for the project duration.  

The kick-off meeting is also an opportunity to introduce our team to 
the City, to review the project objectives, present our initial approach, 
deliverables, and to establish communications and project management 
protocols. Also, we will leverage this opportunity to acquire first-hand 
the City’s perspective on the Project and the type/range of expected 
benefits, which we will further explore and define for the purpose of 
this engagement.  

In addition, this meeting will also be an opportunity to identify and collect 
relevant information pertaining to the Project, and to identify information 
sources. While HDR has access to a range of data and modeling parameters 
needed to conduct a cost-benefit analysis, some information and data 
specific to a project or project area may have to be obtained directly from 
the project sponsor and stakeholders. This includes data and information 
such as traffic data, accident data, existing planning and transportation 
studies, or economic development studies. This discussion will be 
summarized into a formal data request for the City for data items which 
are not publicly accessible. We will also prepare and submit a revised and 
refined work plan for this engagement reflecting the discussions.

Regarding project management protocols, HDR proposes to schedule a 
series of “touch points” throughout the project duration in the form of 
bi-weekly calls and project reports. The calls and reports will be used 
to outline the work progress completed since the previous meeting, and 
highlight any outstanding data needs, issues, or problems encountered.  

Depending on the City’s preferences, the Kick-Off Meeting may be 
conducted as an online call or in-person meeting. In the latter case, HDR 
would combine it with the site visit. 

Deliverables for Task 1:   

• Revised Work Plan; and 

• Data Request.   

Task 2. Cost-Benefit Analysis Preparation 
HDR will quantify public benefits and costs related to the Project using a 

Council Packet Page 82 



02

City of Unalaska
RFP: Qualified A/E/E Services to Perform a Cost-Benefit Analysis for the Captain’s Bay Road & Utilities Improvements Project

methodology aligned with federal guidance for cost-benefit analysis — in particular, guidance from the United States 
Department of Transportation (US DOT).[1] 

Generally, this methodology follows a multi-step process outlined below:  

Step 1: Define Baseline/No-Build and Alternative/Build Scenarios  
The benefits of an investment project are estimated relative to a No-Build scenario (the absence of the proposed 
Project). The No-Build scenario may stipulate the continuation of status-quo but should factor in less capital-intensive 
improvements that would be implemented anyway within the existing budgetary plans and allocations. Under this 
step, HDR will work with the City to clarify the baseline conditions and the No-Build scenario as well as alternatives, or 
Build scenarios, for consideration. The build scenario would consist of an analysis for each of the three segments of the 
Captain’s Bay Road specified as:  

• Segment A: Airport Beach Road to Westward Seafoods (STA 100 to STA 168); 

• Segment B: Westward Seafoods to North Pacific Fuel (STA 168 to STA 220); and 

• Segment C: North Pacific Fuel to Offshore Systems, Inc (STA 220 to STA 235). 

Given that the above segments are adjacent to each other, we propose to define the alternative Build scenarios 
sequentially from Segment A to Segment C as outlined below. However, we will discuss this with the City and refine 
as appropriate. 

• Build Scenario 1: Segment A only (Airport Beach Road to Westward Seafoods); 

• Build Scenario 2: Segment A and B (Airport Beach Road to North Pacific Fuel); and 

• Build Scenario 3: Segment A, B, and C (Airport Beach Road to Offshore Systems).

Step 2: Identify Project Benefits and Develop Benefits Methodology 
This step formalizes the benefits categories to be evaluated. We anticipate three broad categories of benefits of this 
Project: (1) transportation and safety benefits, (2) utility extension benefits, and (3) economic developments benefits. 

Typical transportation benefits from transportation infrastructure improvement projects include travel time savings 
for commuters and commercial truck traffic, accident cost savings, vehicle emissions cost savings, and quality of life 
improvements — all resulting from improved road standards and driving conditions. For example, the RFP suggests 
that current speeds on the road are unlikely to exceed 30 mph. The improved road may support higher driving speeds, 
generating travel time savings for autos and trucks. Driver and pedestrian safety are identified issues with the steep cut-
slope cliff along much of the uphill side of the road and a treacherous outer shoulder that could send an out-of-control 
vehicle down the steep fill slope and into the water. We are aware that there have also been instances of rocks tumbling 

Captain’s Bay

Council Packet Page 83 



Benefits of 
New Water 
Main Extension:
• Enable the abandonment of 

that facility’s old leaky wooden 
pipeline and would eliminate 
the waste of about 50 million 
gallons of water per year.  

• Solve a decades-old bottleneck 
in the City’s water system 
and finally enable use of the 
Icy Lake/Creek Reservoir and 
Pyramid Water Treatment Plant 
(WTP) to their fullest potential. 

• Enable the Pyramid WTP 
water storage tank to be taken 
offline for maintenance and 
cleaning - something that has 
never been possible without 
major disruption. 

• Offshore Systems Inc. 
sometimes trucks City water 
to their facility. A piped water 
system extension to that 
facility would eliminate this 
inefficient and environmentally 
wasteful process. 

03

City of Unalaska
RFP: Qualified A/E/E Services to Perform a Cost-Benefit Analysis for the Captain’s Bay Road & Utilities Improvements Project

down onto the road from the cliffs just past Westward Seafood, damaging vehicles, 
and potentially harming pedestrians.  

Benefits of utility extension and improvement projects may include reduction in 
user operating costs, service quality improvements, quality of life improvements, 
reduction in environmental pollution, and utility operational efficiency 
improvements. From our work on your 2018 Water Master Plan, we understand 
several key benefits of a water utility extension at the site, and we already have the 
necessary economic data to perform this work. Specific benefits are detailed in the 
box at right. 

In addition, this Project may offer economic development potential benefits 
to areas served by Captain’s Bay Road. This is because the Project may allow 
economic activities and production which are not currently practical and 
economical. This may lead to additional economic benefits for the community, 
including new business revenues (and value added), creation of jobs, or tax 
revenues. These types of benefits are sometimes referred to as wider economic 
benefits of transportation infrastructure projects and are an emerging area 
of interest. 

HDR will leverage insights from the kick-off meeting and data/documents obtained 
from the City to expand these categories as appropriate and define them for the 
purpose of this analysis. To define and help assess the economic development 
benefits, HDR also proposes a series of interviews with the City’s economic 
development officers and businesses or stakeholders that will be directly affected 
by the Project to better understand the possible impacts.  

For each project benefit identified, logic models will be developed to represent 
the methodology to quantify and monetize it to the extent possible.  Logic models 
are charts that graphically illustrate the underlying logic of a benefit, as well as 
how various data inputs combine to quantify it and convert to a monetary value.  
Benefits that are difficult to quantify because of their underlying nature, conceptual 
challenges in defining measurement metrics, or limited data availability will be 
considered qualitatively.  

The above benefit methodology will be documented in a working paper and submitted to the City for review and 
comments. Within this Step, HDR also proposes to organize a strategy/workshop session with the City representatives 

for this Project to review the methodology. The purpose 
of this session will be both to present the approach and to 
validate the list of benefits to be included in the cost-benefit 
analysis. The approach and the list of benefits will be refined 
as appropriate following this strategy session and after 
written comments are obtained.

Step 3: Develop and Code Cost-Benefit Model, Collect Data, 
and Produce Cost-Benefit Results and Economic Benefits 
Assessment 
The benefit logic models will be coded into an Excel 
spreadsheet as a series of relationships. These will be 
populated with the data and model parameters so as to 
estimate their annual values over a period of 20 years, a 
typical evaluation period in cost-benefit analyses.  

Extending the water main along Captain’s Bay Road would remove 
a bottleneck in the water system and allow the City to use the 
Icy Creek Reservoir (pictured here) and Pyramid WTP to their 
fullest potential. 

Council Packet Page 84 



04

City of Unalaska
RFP: Qualified A/E/E Services to Perform a Cost-Benefit Analysis for the Captain’s Bay Road & Utilities Improvements Project

As suggested earlier, HDR will collect model input data and parameters from a variety of sources including US DOT 
guidance, project documentation, data obtained from the City, and review of literature pertaining to similar project 
aspects and objectives.  

Project benefits will be supplemented with project costs coded into the model according to the construction schedule. 
Summary Project evaluation metrics, net present value, and benefit-cost ratio will be evaluated over a period of 20 years 
using a discount rate recommended by US DOT (currently, 7 percent annually for baseline assessment and 3 percent for 
sensitivity analysis). 

We anticipate that the cost-benefit model will be focused primarily on transportation and safety benefits and 
utility extension benefits. Economic development benefits may be more difficult to quantify in a format suitable for 
inclusion in a cost-benefit analysis. Therefore, the evaluation of these benefits will be supplemental to the CBA with a 
combination of qualitative evaluation and a range of quantitative metrics such as possible number of incremental jobs, or 
business revenues. 

In addition to the overall Project CBA results, separate tabulations will be developed to focus on specific project aspects 
desired by the City, such as: 

• CBA of roadway versus CBA of utility extension (water, sewer, electric); 

• CBA of pedestrian safety improvements (asphalt pathway and streetlights); 

• Other elements in consultation with the City. 

We will generate the above tabulations by comparing benefits pertaining to a project element with the cost to implement 
and construct this element (for example, incremental pedestrian safety benefits from asphalt pathway with streetlights 
compared to their incremental construction costs). We note here, however, that some project benefits may be joint with 
respect to two or more project elements and their costs. HDR will then carefully consider inter-relationships between 
benefits and project elements before completing such tabulations. 

Step 4: Test Sensitivity of Results Against Key Variables 
The CBA outcomes rely on a large number of assumptions and long-term projections which may be subject to some 
level of uncertainty. The primary purpose of the sensitivity analysis is then to help identify the variables and model 
parameters whose variations have the greatest impact on the CBA outcomes, the “critical variables.” This helps assess 
the robustness of the CBA and evaluate, in particular, whether the conclusions reached under the “preferred” set of input 
values are significantly altered by reasonable departures from those values.  

In this step, we will flag key variables for testing, re-run the model, and generate results based on alternative 
input assumptions.   

Additionally, a senior economist familiar with cost-benefit principles will serve as a quality control reviewer for the 
model. The review will focus on coding, modeling, and results. The reviewer’s comments will be addressed at this step 
as appropriate. 

Step 5: Issue Results 
In this step, we will document CBA methodology, input data and assumptions, and results of the analysis in a draft 
report. Both the report and the CBA model (in a MS Excel file format) will be provided to the City for review and 
comments. HDR will review comments from the City and refine or revise the report and the CBA model as necessary to 
produce final report and final CBA model. 

Council Packet Page 85 



05

City of Unalaska
RFP: Qualified A/E/E Services to Perform a Cost-Benefit Analysis for the Captain’s Bay Road & Utilities Improvements Project

Deliverables for Task 2:  

• Working Paper: Methodology of Cost-Benefit Analysis of Captain’s Bay Road Improvements;  

• Cost-Benefit Analysis Model (in Excel spreadsheet); and 

• Interim Report #1 documenting methodology of cost-benefit analysis, interviews with Project stakeholders, 
workshop with City’s representatives, data inputs/assumptions, and analysis results. 

Task 3. Identify and Evaluate Funding Sources  
Several funding sources are available that could be potentially accessed or applied at for funding. These include 
the following: 

• USDOT’s competitive grant programs (e.g., RAISE, INFRA) for transportation infrastructure; 

• State Transportation Improvement Program (STIP); 

• State General Fund Grants, State Revolving Loan Fund through DEC, USDA Rural Development grants for water 
and sewer infrastructure; 

• TIFIA Loans; 

• Impact fees, local improvement districts, and other tax instruments. 

In evaluating the various sources, we will reflect on the following considerations that together will assist in assessing the 
advantages and disadvantages associated with each identified source.  

• What is available and does it fit my need? Certain sources of funding may fit certain projects better than 
other sources. Identifying and evaluating sources includes defining eligibility requirements, selection criteria, 
legislative requirements, political support, and funding level history.  

• What is the experience with a given source of funding?  We will undertake a brief literature review to identify 
the experience of other jurisdictions of similar sizes that used the various sources.  

• What amount can be realistically obtained from a source? Grant and loan sources typically have some 
limitations as to the amount that can be obtained. On the other hand, tax instruments may depend on current 
and future population and business activity as well as the legislative ability to raise taxes/implement tax 
instruments and political support for them. Based on the existing practice for an instrument and tax roll data, we 
will estimate at a high level the amounts that could be raised. 

Deliverables for Task 3:  

• Interim Report #2 on identification and evaluation of infrastructure funding sources 

Task 4. Final Report and Presentation to the City 
Under this task HDR will compile Report #1 and Report #2 into a Final Project Report and present findings to the City. 

Deliverables for Task 4:  

• Final Project Report 

• PowerPoint presentation on study findings 

Council Packet Page 86 



06

City of Unalaska
RFP: Qualified A/E/E Services to Perform a Cost-Benefit Analysis for the Captain’s Bay Road & Utilities Improvements Project

02 Schedule and Deliverable Products
Schedule
The RFP stipulates a performance period of 4 months with a presentation of study findings to the City on December 14, 
2021. Assuming contract award at the end of July 2021, we anticipate the following high-level schedule, by task (and with 
task deliverables/major activities):

• Task 1: From Notice to Proceed to mid-August 2021 

• Kick-off Meeting and Optional Site Visit: Two Weeks from Notice to Proceed

• Revised Work Plan and Data Request: One Week after Kick-off Meeting 

• Task 2: From mid-August to November 1, 2021 

• Data collection, literature review, etc.

• Interviews with City’s Economic Development Officers and Local Businesses: Second Week of September 2021 

• Working Paper: Methodology of Cost-Benefit Analysis of Captain’s Bay Road Improvements: September 24, 
2021 

• Workshop Session to Review Methodology: October 1, 2021 

• Interim Report #1, CBA Model: November 1, 2021 

• Task 3:  November 1 -  30, 2021 

• Interim Report #2, Evaluation of Potential Funding Sources: November 30, 2021 

• Task 4: December 1 – 31, 2021 

• Presentation to the City: December 14, 2021 

• Final Report: by December 31, 2021. 

• Project Management: From Project Award to December 31, 2021 

• Bi-weekly Touch-Point Calls: Every Two Weeks after Kick-Off Meeting 

[1] United States Department of Transportation, “Benefit-Cost Analysis Guidance for Discretionary Grant Programs”, 
February 2021.

HDR’s Adaptability to Provide Required Services
Integrating Economics, Finance, and Engineering for Fully Informed Decisions
Helping clients achieve their goals is at the heart of what we do. With today’s uncertain economic climate and limited 
fiscal resources, HDR can help you make important decisions through objective, independent and transparent economic 
and financial analysis. With more than 30 economists and finance professionals, we have the largest team focused on 
transportation and municipal infrastructure in the industry. We integrate financial, economic, and engineering disciplines 
to help clients make informed decisions covering a wide range of complexities and challenges. Our integrated engineering 
and economic teams have recently completed cost-benefit analyses for the Port of Alaska and the Alaska Railroad to help 
them both secure federal transportation funding from USDOT.

Unbiased Economic Evaluations for Better Decision Support
Our international economics experience provides a broad base of knowledge to inform you about the opportunities and 
constraints associated with a proposed investment and the impacts of meeting long-range objectives. We combine 
this global economics expertise with practical local knowledge of Unalaska’s infrastructure and economy to provide 
customized solutions to best meet the City of Unalaska’s needs. 

We do this by coupling our economists with HDR’s Alaskan engineers and transportation planners who have specific 

Council Packet Page 87 



07

City of Unalaska
RFP: Qualified A/E/E Services to Perform a Cost-Benefit Analysis for the Captain’s Bay Road & Utilities Improvements Project

knowledge of Unalaska. For example, we know that by building the water main extension to North Pacific Fuel you can 
eliminate the costly waste of 50 million gallons of treated water annually. By building the water main extension you 
can also avoid the need for a second water storage tank at the Pyramid WTP – a tank that is only needed because 
you currently do not have the ability to take the existing tank offline for cleaning or maintenance. There are clear and 
economically quantifiable benefits to parts of the Captains Bay Road and Utilities Project, and HDR brings the advantage 
of already understanding many of these aspects of the project.

Financial Modeling to Determine Best Funding Approach
Our team offers extensive experience in developing dynamic, integrated, long-range financial programs for use in 
strategic decision-making, including budgeting, capital expenditure prioritization, and debt planning. Whether it is for 
public-private partnerships, financial planning or third-party reviews, the City of Unalaska will benefit from our proven 
approach to getting infrastructure projects funded. Our success in helping clients secure funding for transportation 
projects remains unrivalled in the industry. We have supported more than 80 projects in successful requests for funding 
under USDOT programs, providing our clients with more than $2 billion in federal funds. 

03 Key Project Staff and Subconsultants
HDR Team
HDR’s team takes advantage of diverse staff, who have in-depth knowledge of Unalaska’s infrastructure, goals, and 
challenges, coupled with HDR’s industry-leading experts from throughout the country. HDR’s focus on self-performing 
the work means that we will be able to minimize the expenses and inherent inefficiencies of managing multiple 
subconsultants, leaving more budget and time to focus on what matters to you: delivering a successful project.

Organizational Chart

CONTRACT MANAGER/
TRANSPORTATION PLANNER
Murph O’Brien+

LEAD ECONOMIST, BENEFIT-
COST ANALYSIS
Dennis Bruce+

SENIOR ECONOMIST, QA/QC
Fred Kramer

MODELER
Stanley Wu

GRAPHIC DESIGN
Summer Hudson

DATA COLLECTION/RESEARCH
Sheryl Li

UNALASKA PROJECT MANAGER

Key:  + = in responsible charge 

PROJECT MANAGER/
ENGINEERING LEAD
Wescott Bott, PE+

Council Packet Page 88 



Key Personnel
Murph O’Brien: Contract Manager/Transportation Planner

Q U A L I F I C AT I O N S  A N D  E X P E R I E N C E

Murph is a transportation and community planner with more than 45 years of Alaskan 
planning and management experience. Murph cut his teeth at DOT&PF in the early 1980s 
working on projects in the Aleutian and Pribilofs area, including the Unalaska Airport Land 
Use Plan, Unalaska Runway Extension, Dutch Harbor Dock, and assessing the viability 
of a small boat harbor at Xatacyon Lagoon (formerly Margaret Bay). He wrote the first 
DOT&PF Port and Harbor Master Plan. Murph was involved with the original St. Paul and 
St. George Harbor Feasibility Studies and was part of HDR’s team when we updated St. 
George’s Harbor Design in 2014. He was the state project manager for several U.S. Army 
Corps of Engineers Feasibility Studies, including Homer Spit Erosion Control, Homer 
Harbor Expansion, and Kodiak St. Herman’s Harbor. All of these projects included a cost-
benefit analysis. He is currently serving as HDR’s contract manager for the Municipality of 
Anchorage’s Port of Alaska Rate Advice Study, where Dennis and other HDR economists 
are assessing rate options to help fund dock reconstruction at the Port of Alaska. Benefit 
to You: Murph is familiar with the infrastructure needs of Unalaska and has a good 
working relationship with Tom Cohenour that will facilitate smooth communication. 

Firm: HDR
Location: Anchorage, AK
Experience: 45 years

Wescott Bott: Project Manager/Engineering Lead (AELC #11521)
Q U A L I F I C AT I O N S  A N D  E X P E R I E N C E

Wescott is a senior civil engineer for HDR and has one of the most diverse resumes of 
projects in HDR’s Alaska practice, having worked on design, construction management, 
and permitting of roads, pipelines, bridges, rail, water treatment plants, water storage 
tanks, sewer systems, aquaculture, hydroelectric, and a variety of other projects 
throughout Alaska. His projects have taken him to every part of the state, including 
Unalaska, and he is no stranger to the logistical and weather challenges Alaska projects 
face. Wescott served as Project Manager for the Unalaska 2018 Water Master Plan. 
Building on the previous plan HDR developed for the City, he updated the city’s existing 
water supply and distribution system and outlined improvements to meet future demands 
and regulations. Successes from that 2018 Water Master Plan were a clear path forward 
with respect to the proposed Captain’s Bay Road Waterline project and the cost-benefit 
analysis for installation of micro-hydroelectric turbines in the Pyramid Creek WTP. 
Benefit to You: Wescott likes seeing projects through design and construction, but only 
if they are feasible. He has experience in planning and feasibility studies for many types 
of infrastructure projects and can apply his keen sense of practicality to the Captain’s 
Bay Road.  

Firm: HDR
Location: Anchorage, AK
Experience: 20 years

Dennis Bruce: Lead Economist
Q U A L I F I C AT I O N S  A N D  E X P E R I E N C E

Dennis is an economist and financial analyst with a diverse range of experience in 
infrastructure economics. He has developed innovative solutions in the areas of business 
case development, financial planning and rate development, cost-benefit analysis, 
and forecasting. He has worked with many municipalities across North America to 
assess transportation infrastructure projects, including cost-benefit analysis in support 
of and project funding through grant applications. Dennis and his team have helped 
secure clients billions in federal grant funding for transportation projects across North 
America.  Dennis is Senior Vice President of HDR and manages HDR’s Economic and 
Finance Practice. He has conducted cost-benefit analyses of several projects in Alaska 
and is currently working with the Port of Alaska to establish rates to recover their port 
modernization investments. This will provide a framework to establish fair and equitable 
rates and tariffs to help fund the replacement of its aging infrastructure. He has played 
the role of Project Principal and/or Project Manager on numerous major infrastructure 
projects across North America. Benefit to You: Dennis brings significant experience in 
cost-benefit analyses and will provide Unalaska with transparent and rigorous analysis 
to assess the Captain’s Bay Road. He will develop a robust funding and financing plan to 
develop the Captain’s Bay Road. 

Firm: HDR
Location: Cornerbrook, 
NL
Experience: 34 years

08

City of Unalaska
RFP: Qualified A/E/E Services to Perform a Cost-Benefit Analysis for the Captain’s Bay Road & Utilities Improvements Project

Council Packet Page 89 



Fred Kramer: Senior Economist/QA/QC
Q U A L I F I C AT I O N S  A N D  E X P E R I E N C E

Fred Kramer is an experienced transportation economist with a thorough understanding 
of decision support, specifically in the creation and interpretation of business case, 
multiple account, benefit-cost, and risk analyses. With HDR for the past 14 years, Fred 
has successfully contributed to and managed numerous economic assessments with a 
focus on the quantification of public benefits of proposed transportation projects. Leading 
HDR’s freight and passenger rail economics practice, Fred has led successful public 
funding applications on behalf of numerous Class 1 freight railroads, including Alaska 
Railroad Corporation. He is currently providing grant writing services for ARRC under a 
term contract. He has also been active in port rail infrastructure benefit-cost analyses, 
helping secure federal and state funds on behalf of the Port of Alaska and others. Benefit 
to You: Fred’s experience with cost-benefit analyses and grant funding applications 
for Alaska transportation projects will result in a streamlined schedule for the City 
of Unalaska. 

Firm: HDR
Location: Calgary, AB
Experience: 32 years

Stanley Wu: Financial Modeling
Q U A L I F I C AT I O N S  A N D  E X P E R I E N C E

Stanley Wu will lead modeling for this project. Stanley is a driven economist focused on 
conducting research and econometric analysis in support of infrastructure projects. Since 
joining HDR, he has worked on a variety of projects conducting benefit-cost analysis, 
risk-adjusted forecasting, and cluster analysis. He developed a model assessing the 
socio-economic benefits of replacing two bridges relative to the project cost as part of 
an Alaska Railroad Corporation BUILD Grant Application. He also developed a benefit-
cost model for two ARRC CRISI Grants. Benefit to You: His experience working with 
this project team on cost-benefit analyses will lead to a smooth project process and 
improved communications.  

Firm: HDR
Location: Vancouver, BC
Experience: 3 years

Sheryl Li: Data Collection/Research
Q U A L I F I C AT I O N S  A N D  E X P E R I E N C E

Sheryl is an economist proficient in economic research and quantitative modeling for a 
variety of industries. Her experience has provided her with knowledge in conducting micro 
and macroeconomic research, analyzing large volumes of data, constructing complex 
economic models, and providing actionable results. She has worked on an array of 
transportation projects with HDR, including conducting cost-benefit analysis, economic 
forecast, market research, risk assessments, and market feasibility analysis. Most 
recently, Sheryl developed a comprehensive benefit-cost analysis for the construction 
of a Petroleum and Cement Terminal at the Port of Alaska to assist in the application of 
INFRA by the U.S. Department of Transportation. Benefit to You: Sheryl’s expertise in 
economic research and cost-benefit analysis for Alaska projects will help our team meet 
Unalaska’s standards. 

Firm: HDR
Location: Toronto, ON
Experience: 5 years

Summer Hudson: Graphic Design
Q U A L I F I C AT I O N S  A N D  E X P E R I E N C E

Summer is a versatile and conscientious designer who has spent the last 8 years working 
with DOT&PF to develop design concepts for project websites, public involvement 
material and collateral, and project specific graphic design needs. She has provided public 
involvement and graphic design services for transportation projects in Unalaska, including 
the Unalaska Airport Master Plan and the FUDS Public Involvement Project. For the FUDS 
project, HDR has assisted USACE in evaluating the need for a Restoration Advisory Board 
in communities throughout Alaska that have been identified as Formerly Used Defense 
Sites, including Unalaska. Benefit to You: Her graphic design experience on Alaska 
transportation projects, as well as her experience in the community of Unalaska, will lead 
to high-quality deliverables that support efficient project completion. 

Firm: HDR
Location: Anchorage, AK
Experience: 21 years

09

City of Unalaska
RFP: Qualified A/E/E Services to Perform a Cost-Benefit Analysis for the Captain’s Bay Road & Utilities Improvements Project

Council Packet Page 90 



Past Projects
HDR has provided design for similar projects. The following pages detail some of our most relevant project experience. 

City of Unalaska 2018 Water Master   
Plan
City of Unalaska
Reference: Jeremiah Kirchhofer, Water Supervisor, City of 
Unalaska, 907.581.1260

HDR prepared a comprehensive Water Master Plan 
to evaluate the City’s existing water supply and 
distribution system and outline improvements to correct 
deficiencies and meet future demands and regulations. 
Key tasks included gathering existing water system 
asset information; analyzing water system components 
and customer demands; evaluating current and future 
regulatory compliance issues; determining regulatory-
driven and non-regulatory driven improvements; 
preparing predesign for improvements; and developing a 
recommended capital improvement program. As part of 
the information gathering effort a team of HDR engineers, 
including Wescott Bott, visited Unalaska to inspect water 
system facilities and discuss the system with operators.

A major theme in the master plan was the need to 
extend a new water main along Captain’s Bay Road from 
Westward Seafoods at least to North Pacific Fuel’s facility. 
The lack of this critical water main has required numerous 
workarounds for many years in order to maintain water 
service to North Pacific Fuel; has prevented the City 
from realizing the full potential of a number of other 
water system assets; has caused the City many years 
of inefficient water supply management; has delayed 
several other critical projects due to interdependencies; 
and accounts for the waste of almost 50 million gallons of 
water annually through existing pipe leaks. 

2020 CRISI Grant Application: MP 25.7 
Trail River Bridge Replacement
Alaska Railroad Corporation (ARRC)
Reference: Brian Lindamood, Vice President of Engineering, 
907.265.2300

With input from ARRC’s engineering department, HDR’s 
team of economists and grant writers created a successful 
CRISI grant application to help fund a critical bridge 
replacement project. The project will enable passengers 
and freight to continue to move safely and economically 
by rail between Anchorage and the Port of Seward, two 
critical traffic and revenue sources; maintain ARRC’s 
vital rail connection for passengers to and from Seward 
and enable the port’s growth potential; preserve and 
contribute to economic development opportunities within 
the State of Alaska through the increased use of modern, 
heavier rail cars; and enhance safety and quality of life for 
the public by preserving and improving an alternate mode 
of transportation to the local roadways in the region.

HDR covered all aspects of the grant application 
preparation. Economists provided the report’s financial 
foundation through a thorough benefit-cost analysis. The 
grant writers explained the need for USDOT funding to 
improve railroad safety, efficiency, capacity, and reliability 
by replacing this aging, deteriorated, railroad bridge across 
the Trail River. An HDR project coordinator managed the 
required supporting forms, and an HDR graphic designer 
streamlined the report’s visual language, including graphs 
and figures for a consistent and aesthetically pleasing 
layout. The application was successful, and ARRC 
obtained the full funding contribution they had requested.

“Every time I use the Water Master Plan that [you] put together for us I am pleased all over again. It has 
such a solid grasp of our system and its various issues. It is very informative but not so wordy as to drown 

the reader... Kudo’s! again.” - Jeremiah Kirchhofer, Water Supervisor, City of Unalaska.

“I just finished reviewing the Draft WMP.  It has been very much a pleasure to work with you.  You have 
a very good grasp of process which has helped your team produce an excellent product!” - Clint Huling, 

Water Supervisor (Retired), City of Unalaska.

10

City of Unalaska
RFP: Qualified A/E/E Services to Perform a Cost-Benefit Analysis for the Captain’s Bay Road & Utilities Improvements Project

Council Packet Page 91 



Port of Alaska

2019 Grant Application: MP 86.6 Bird 
Creek Pony Truss Bridge Replacement
Alaska Railroad Corporation (ARRC)
Reference: Brian Lindamood, VP, Engineering, 907.265.2300

HDR’s economists and grant writers worked with ARRC’s 
engineering department to successfully apply for a bridge 
replacement project. The project will replace an aging 
bridge approaching the end of its useful life on ARRC’s 
main line linking Anchorage with the Ports of Whittier and 
Seward, three key traffic and revenue generating locations 
and ARRC’s connection to the rest of the North American 
rail network. The project will enable ARRC to upgrade the 
capacity of its main corridor, provide necessary freight 
and passenger transportation, and pursue new business 
opportunities well into the future.

Working with ARRC, HDR developed the grant 
preparation. Economists calculated the relevant financial 
metrics through a benefit-cost analysis and supported 
ARRC in defining the project’s benefits. The grant 
writers created a compelling narrative that included 
the operational, environmental, financial, and safety 
benefits, both locally and for the larger region. HDR 
completed supporting forms and also provided captivating 
illustrations for visual consistency throughout the 
application. The application was successful, and ARRC 
obtained the full funding contribution requested.

Port of Alaska Infrastructure 
Development Program
Municipality of Anchorage, Port of Alaska
Reference: Steve Ribuffo, Port Director, 907.343.6201

HDR completed a Cost Benefit Analysis (CBA) of the Port 
of Alaska’s replacement of the existing Petroleum, Oil, 
and Lubricants/Cement Terminal 1 with a new facility 
named Petroleum and Cement Terminal – a critical fuel 
and cement handling facility for the Port and the State 
of Alaska. The CBA was in support of the Municipality 
of Anchorage/Port of Alaska’s request of USDOT funds 
under the Better Utilizing Investments to Leverage 
Development (BUILD) program. Each grant application 
requires a full CBA to demonstrate the project provides 
net economic benefits to the public.

Through the CBA, HDR demonstrated that the existing 
terminal had exceeded its useful life and is unlikely to 
survive a design earthquake, and that the facility should 
be replaced with a modern, resilient terminal built to 
current standards. Without this project, the Port may 
soon lose its ability to provide fuel and cement to 87 
percent of Alaska residents.

Through this grant application, the Port of Alaska was 
successful in receiving $20 million in USDOT funding for 
the project.  

HDR-Assisted USDOT Winning Grant Applications
The following section includes select highlights of HDR’s successful federal funding applications for transportation 
infrastructure. When compared to competing transportation consultancies, HDR has unrivaled success in preparing 
winning grant applications on behalf of clients across North America. Additionally, we have supported more than 80 
projects in successful requests for funding under the Better Utilizing Investment to Leverage Development (BUILD) and 
Infrastructure for Rebuilding America (INFRA) grant funding programs. Together, these projects have received $2.0 billion 
in federal funds for key planning and constructing transportation projects. This accounts for more than 15.9 percent of the 
total construction funds awarded. HDR’s experts in all aspects of grant writing, planning, and project development bring a 
wealth of knowledge and ability to scale solutions for current and future needs. 

City of Unalaska
RFP: Qualified A/E/E Services to Perform a Cost-Benefit Analysis for the Captain’s Bay Road & Utilities Improvements Project

Council Packet Page 92 



BUILD, 2020, Jefferson Avenue and 20th Street Revitalization Corridors | St. Louis, MO, $7.9 million
BUILD, 2020, Pyramid Highway Improvements | Washoe County, NV, $23 million
BUILD, 2020, Reconstruction of US-281 Bridgeport Bridge | Caddo and Canadian Counties, OK, $22 million

CRISI. 2019. Quonset Freight Rail Enhancements and Expansion (Q-FREE) for Mill Creek Railyard | North Kingstown, 
RI.$3 million
CRISI 2019, Vineyard Rail Consolidation Project | Vineyard, UT, $6.8 million
CRISI, 2019, Pines Road/BNSF Grade Separation Project | Spokane Valley, WA, $1.2 million
CRISI, 2019, MP 86.6 Bird Creek Pony Truss Bridge Replacement | Anchorage, AK, $3.8 million
PID, 2019. Port of Alaska Modernization Program | Anchorage, AK, $20 million
PID, 2019, Port Canaveral Cargo Berth Rehabilitation and Modernization Project | Cape Canaveral, FL, $14.1 million
PID, 2019, Container Berth 1 Realignment | Savannah, GA, $34.6 million
PID, 2019, Wando Welch Terminal Wharf Toe Wall and Berth Deepening Project | Charleston, SC, $20 million
PID, 2019, Missouri River Terminal Intermodal Facility | Kansas City, MO, $9.9 million
INFRA, 2019, I-10 Congestion Relief: Mobile River Bridge and Bayway | Mobile, AL, $125 million
INFRA, 2019, I-17: Flexible Demand | Maricopa & Yavapai Counties, AZ, $90 million
INFRA, 2019, I-70 Rocheport Bridge & Mineola Climbing Lanes Project | Montgomery, Boone, & Cooper Counties, MO, 
$81 million
INFRA, 2019, Southeast Arkansas and Northeast Louisiana Multi-modal Freight Corridor Improvement | Southeast 
Arkansas Economic Development District, AR, $11 million
BUILD, 2019, Petroleum and Cement Terminal | Anchorage, AK, $25 million
BUILD. 2019, Phoenix Sky Harbor Northside Rail Expansion | Phoenix, AZ, $24 million
BUILD, 2019, I-70/Picadilly Interchange | Aurora, CO, $25 million
BUILD, 2019, Heartland Parkway | Campbellsville, KY, $9.8 million

BUILD, 2019, Paducah Riverfront Infrastructure Improvement Project | Paducah, KY, $10.4 million
BUILD, 2019, Conley Terminal Container Storage and Freight Corridor | Boston, MA, $20 million
BUILD, 2019, Bridging the Interstate Divide | Brookings, SD, $18.7 million
BUILD, 2018, Gateway Boulevard (CR 106) Improvement Project - Phase 2 | Tea, SD, $9 million
BUILD, 2018, I-95 at Belvedere Road Interchange | Cecil County, MD, $20 million
BUILD, 2018, Geiger Boulevard Infrastructure Improvements Project | Spokane County, WA, $14 million
BUILD, 2018, US 641 Widening | Calloway County, KY, $23 million
BUILD, 2018, SEMO Port Loop Track Terminal Project | Southeast Missouri Regional Port Authority, MO, $20 million
BUILD, 2018, Port of Muskogee Rail Access | Muskogee City-County Port Authority, OK, $6 million
BUILD, 2018, Urban Core Riverfront Revitalization and Complete Streets/Bay Street Innovation Corridor | City of 
Jacksonville/Jacksonville Transportation Authority, FL, $25 million 
BUILD, 2018, Market Street Marine Terminal Main Wharf Rehabilitation | Pease Development Authority, NH, $8 million

We are ready to go to work with you, resolving issues and delivering the collaborative, 
feasible Captain’s Bay Road Cost-Benefit Analysis that Unalaska deserves. 

City of Unalaska
RFP: Qualified A/E/E Services to Perform a Cost-Benefit Analysis for the Captain’s Bay Road & Utilities Improvements Project

Council Packet Page 93 



A
ppendix A

: Resum
es

Appendix A:  
Resumes

Council Packet Page 94 



 
 

 

 

EDUCATION 
Bachelor of Science, Natural 
Resources, Humboldt State 
University, 1975 

Port Executive: International 
Association of Maritime and 
Port Executives 

INDUSTRY TENURE 
45 years 

HDR TENURE 
12 years 

 

Murph O’Brien 
Senior Project Manager 

Murph is a transportation and community planner with more than 45 years of 
Alaskan planning and management experience. He worked in planning and 
operations positions at the Department of Natural Resources, held various 
planning and management positions at Alaska DOT&PF, and rounded out his 
public sector career as Planning Director for the Matanuska-Susitna Borough. He 
has been a Senior Project Manager at HDR since 2010. Murph cut his teeth at 
DOT&PF in the early 1980’s working on various projects in the Aleutian and 
Pribilof’s Planning area including the Unalaska Airport Land Use Plan, Unalaska 
Runway Extension, Dutch Harbor Dock, and assessing the viability of a small boat 
harbor at Xatacyon Lagoon (aka Margaret Bay). While working at the Alaska 
DOT&PF he wrote the Department’s first Port and Harbor Master Plan. He has 
experience in port planning and has been involved with the Alaska Association of 
Harbormasters and Port Administrators. Murph was involved with the original St. 
Paul and St. George Harbor Feasibility Studies in the early 1980s and was part of 
HDR’s team when we were contracted to review and update St. George’s Harbor 
Design in 2014. He served as the state project manager for several U.S. Army 
Corps of Engineers Feasibility Studies, including Homer Spit Erosion Control, 
Homer Harbor Expansion, and Kodiak St. Herman’s Harbor. He managed harbor 
master plans at Whittier and Ninilchik. He worked with several harbors and ports to 
develop fee programs to pay for major repair and replacement activities. He helped 
negotiate the transfer of ownership of State of Alaska-owned facilities to local 
governments to allow for more efficient and effective harbor management. Murph 
is a Certified Port Executive and has taken training from the International 
Association of Maritime and Port Executives.  

Murph has extensive multi-modal transportation planning experience and was 
HDR’s project manager of the Mat Su Borough’s 2035 Long Range Transportation 
Plan which developed a fiscally constrained capital improvement program. He also 
served as the project manager for the Wasilla Main Street Reconstruction 
Environmental Assessment. 

He is currently serving as HDR’s contract manager for the Municipality of 
Anchorage’s Port of Alaska Rate Advice Study where Bruce Dennis and other 
HDR economists are assessing rate options to help fund dock reconstruction at the 
Port of Alaska. Murph will serve as HDR’s contract manager for Unalaska’s 
Cost/Benefit Analysis for the Captain’s Bay Road  & Utilities Improvements 
Project .  

RELEVANT EXPERIENCE 

MOA Port of Alaska Rate Study Advisory Services  
Murph is serving as HDR’s contract manager and local contact for this important 
rate study.  The study will help the Municipality of Anchorage and its Port of Alaska 
determine what level of rates are needed to help pay for the Port of Alaska 
Modernization Project (PAMP).  The PAMP is a total reconstruction of the Port of 
Alaska and managers are determining what level of debt service can be retired 
through an updated rate schedule. He is working with HDR Economists Dennis 

Council Packet Page 95 



 
 

 

Bruce and Tony Homan and Port Management Specialist Captain Jeff Monroe on 
this project.  

Northwest Alaska Transportation Plan (NWATP) Update 
HDR, as a sub-consultant to PDC Engineers, updated the Northern Region 
DOT&PF’s NWATP. The plan identified multimodal transportation needs for the 
next 20 years for Northwest Alaska, an area that includes the North Slope, 
Northwest Arctic Borough, Norton Sound/Seward Peninsula, and Yukon-Koyukuk 
census areas. Murph led HDR’s team focusing on highway and marine needs and 
produced documents relative to the impacts of a warming climate, the opening of 
the Arctic, and transportation needs related to mineral and oil and gas 
developments in the study area. The project engaged in public involvement efforts 
to hear the needs of communities, and Murph coordinated with Native corporations 
and transportation programs to determine the state of their current and future 
operations to generate effective plans.  

Fairbanks Area Road/Rail Crossing Reduction Study 
Murph is managing HDR rail engineers to determine cost effective rail options to 
reduce road rail conflicts in the Fairbanks North Star Borough. Kinney Engineering 
as the prime contractor is integrating the highway elements to address safety, 
congestion, and delay issues. Together they are ensuring that this study is 
consistent with the Alaska State Rail Plan (ASRP). The primary purpose of this 
plan is to serve as a long-range road/rail planning document. The plan will enable 
FAST Planning and its agency partners to implement a more efficient and effective 
approach to integrate passenger and freight rail elements into the larger 
multimodal and intermodal transportation framework. This plan will cover, at a 
minimum, a period of 20 years for integration with the FAST Planning Metropolitan 
Transportation Plan (MTP) with the understanding that it may take longer to fully 
implement the desired vision. 

Matanuska-Susitna Borough Long Range Transportation Plan 
Murph led the Long-Range Transportation Plan that was developed to guide 
transportation decisions in the Matanuska-Susitna Borough for 20 years. He 
headed an innovative public involvement program that employed an online open 
house with an interactive map to engage the public and identify concerns. He also 
facilitated several targeted workshops with various levels of government, including 
road services, community councils, transit providers, transportation professionals, 
and elected officials. 

St. George Harbor Breakwater and Dredging Improvements  
Murph led the St. George breakwater’s original feasibility study. He returned as a 
community advisor when the breakwater was damaged by major storms and 
shoaling within the entrance channel limited draft available to the fishing fleet. HDR 
then provided engineering and environmental review to find cost-effective solutions 
to the harbor’s deficiencies. 

 

 

Council Packet Page 96 



 
 

 

 

EDUCATION 
Bachelor of Science, Civil 
Engineering, Virginia Military Institute 

Master of Science, Civil Engineering, 
Virginia Tech 

REGISTRATIONS 
Professional Engineer - 
Environmental, Alaska, United 
States, No. 14371, Expires: 
12/31/2021 

Professional Engineer - Civil, Alaska, 
United States, No. 11521, Expires: 
12/31/2021 

PROFESSIONAL 
MEMBERSHIPS 
Alaska Water Wastewater 
Management Association, Past 
President 

Water Environment Federation, 
Member 

Alaska Miners Association 

INDUSTRY TENURE 
20 years 

HDR TENURE 
16 years 

Wescott Bott, PE 
Senior Civil Engineer / Project Manager 

Wescott is a professional engineer and senior project manager for HDR’s 
Anchorage office. Wescott has a diverse background in civil engineering 
and has acted as Project Manager, Project Engineer, or Quality Control 
Reviewer on the planning, design, and construction phase of a wide variety 
of transportation, water, sewer, aquaculture, mining, and water resources 
projects. Wescott also serves as the Industrial Market Sector Lead, helping 
to grow HDR presence in the Alaska mining industry. 

RELEVANT EXPERIENCE 

City of Unalaska, 2018 Water Master Plan 
Wescott served as Project Manager for the Unalaska 2018 Water Master 
Plan. Building on the previous master plan that HDR developed for the 
City, he updated the city’s existing water supply and distribution system 
and outlined improvements to meet future demands and regulations. 
Successes from that 2017 Water Master Plan were a clear path forward 
with respect to the proposed Captain’s Bay Road Waterline project and 
the cost-benefit analysis for installation of micro-hydroelectric turbines in 
the Pyramid Creek WTP. 

Anchorage Water & Wastewater Utility, Downtown to Kincaid Water 
Transmission Main 
HDR provided planning and preliminary engineering to AWWU for the 
Downtown to Kincaid project from 2016 to 2018. This project’s focus was 
to finish looping the Anchorage Water Utilities water distribution system 
with a 36-inch water main through developed corridors and business 
districts within the City of Anchorage. The project also envisioned a new 
reservoir and connections to multiple water transmission lines and 
facilities that are were underutilized due to hydraulic limitations. Wescott 
assisted with writing the conceptual design report, as well as the plan and 
profile drawings. 

Anchorage Water & Wastewater Utility, Elmore Reservoir Design-
Build 
Wescott began the project as an engineer, then took over as Project 
Manager for the preliminary design, design-build RFP production, and 
construction management of Anchorage Water & Wastewater Utility’s 10-
million-gallon Elmore Water Storage Tank. During the predesign phase, 
HDR prepared the contract documents for a design-build RFP. HDR then 
provided construction support for the project including stakeholder 
outreach submittal, materials testing, and tank inspections. 

Anchorage Water & Wastewater Utility, Hillside Water Transmission 
Main 
HDR designed the extension of 14,000 feet of 24-foot diameter water 
transmission main from the intersection of Bragaw Street and Abbott 
Road, south along Elmore Road to the 135th Booster Station. Wescott 

Council Packet Page 97 



 
 

 

assisted with the engineering and construction management of the 3-mile 
24-inch ductile iron transmission main. 

Anchorage Water & Wastewater Utility, Lift Station #12 Pump 
Improvements Study 
As a part of a civil engineering term contract, Wescott made pump 
improvement recommendations for Lift Station #12 for the Anchorage 
Water & Wastewater Utility. Tasks included determining a new projected 
design flow, sizing replacement pumps and motors, gathering cost 
information for various pump alternatives, and recommending a design 
alternative to improve the existing pumps.  Due to oversized force mains 
and pipe freezing concerns, the project also required an investigation of 
alternative operation methods to improve sediment transport through the 
force mains. 

Anchorage Water & Wastewater Utility, West Dowling Road Water 
Transmission Main Design 
Wescott assisted with the design of several short segments of 36-inch 
water transmission pipeline that were installed during a major road 
project. These segments were critical to get designed and installed as 
part of the road project in order to facilitate the eventual Downtown to 
Kincaid water transmission main project. 

City of Valdez, WWTP Outfall Design 
Wescott was the project manager and lead designer of a new outfall 
pipeline and diffuser for the Valdez Wastewater Treatment Plant. The 
outfall extends into the marine waters of Port Valdez, a tidal bay 
connected to Prince William Sound. The outfall is 24-inch diameter SDR-
17 HDPE pipe. The outfall is approximately 2,300 feet long and has a 60-
foot long 12-inch diameter multi-port diffuser at the end. 900 of the total 
2,300 feet of pipe was installed through uplands. 1,100 feet of the pipe 
was trenched through tidal flats, and the remaining 300 feet of outfall pipe 
and the diffuser were installed from a crane barge. 

City of Valdez, Force Main Condition Assessment Study 
Employing the expertise of HDR’s pipeline condition assessment team, 
Wescott managed and delivered and condition assessment study of a 
critical 3-mile long 16-inch sewer force main for the City of Valdez. The 
study considered a wide variety of condition assessment methods and 
tools in order to provide the City with a path forward for eventual 
replacement or rehabilitation of the pipeline. 

City of King Cove, Emergency Water Supply Pipeline 
Wescott managed the design, materials procurement and delivery, and 
construction of an emergency pump system and pipeline designed to 
provide necessary processing water to a critical seafood processing plant 
in King Cove, Alaska.  The project involved a custom-built pump skid and 
7,500 linear feet of 6 HDPE pipe that was designed, delivered, installed, 
and operational in less than 2 months. 

 

 

Council Packet Page 98 



 
 

 

 

EDUCATION 
Master of Arts, Economics, 
University of Western 
Ontario, 1997 

Bachelor of Science, 
Mathematics, Memorial 
University of Newfoundland, 
1986 

INDUSTRY TENURE 
34 years 

HDR TENURE 
19 years 

 

Dennis Bruce 
Senior Vice President 

Dennis is an economist and financial analyst with a diverse range of experience in 
both the private and public sectors. He has developed innovative solutions in the 
areas of business case development, financial planning and rate development, 
cost-benefit analysis, and forecasting. Dennis has worked with many ports across 
North America to develop port plans, assess infrastructure investments, and secure 
funding. He has developed and implemented specific methods for incorporating 
risk and uncertainty into decision making in both the private and public sectors. He 
has provided due diligence services for bond insurers on traffic, revenue, and 
financial forecasts related to infrastructure financings across North America. He 
has developed financial models in support of capital market transactions.  

Dennis is Senior Vice President of HDR and manages HDR’s Economic and 
Finance Practice in Canada. He has provided testimony on financial and economic 
matters in many forums, including the California Public Utilities Commission, 
federal finance committees, the Federal Court of Canada, the Canadian Radio and 
Telecommunications Commission, and the Ontario Energy Board. 

RELEVANT EXPERIENCE 

Port of Argentia, Port Development Plan  
He developed a port develop plan to enable the port to take advantage of 
opportunities in the resource industry in Newfoundland, primarily opportunities in 
the offshore oil and the mining sector. The plan will also take into account various 
financing opportunities with industry and government(s) to develop the site 
through examination of experiences in the North Sea and the Gulf Coast. 

Port of Corner Brook, Business Case of Infrastructure Improvements 
He conducted a business case analysis for infrastructure improvements at the 
port.  The business case included a functional assessment of current 
infrastructure, the identification of business opportunities at the port, the new 
infrastructure required for these opportunities, and the financial and economic 
impacts of these opportunities.  The port is leveraging the analysis contained in 
the final report as well as economic and financial models to seek funding in 
support of new infrastructure development at the port.  

Port of Longview, WA, Forecasting of Port Volumes 
He conducted a market assessment and forecast of commodity movements as input 
into the port’s master plan development. 

Long Pond Harbour Authority Inc., Port Development Plan 
He conducted a market assessment to identify potential opportunities for the Port 
of Long Pond. Through research, interviews, and knowledge, he identified 10 
opportunities for the port, and estimated revenue potential and the infrastructure 
required in order to realize the opportunities. He determined the ROI and economic 
impact of each opportunity, a marketing plan, and implementation plan as part of 
the overall port development plan. 

Council Packet Page 99 



 
 

 

Panama Canal Authority, Due Diligence of Financial Model 
He reviewed the financial analysis and feasibility model for a transshipment 
terminal and recommended modifications to improve result validity and reliability as 
well as the methodology compliance with industry standards. 

City of Toronto, Transit Fare Integration Modeling 
He provided economic analysis and traffic modeling support in relation to transit 
fare integration. The overall objective was to develop an independent analytical 
tool to support the City of Toronto's review of transit fare policies, including an 
elasticity model and fare policy simulation tool for the Toronto context. 

Transport Canada, Economic Impact of Great Lake and St. Lawrence Seaway 
Ports 
He led and managed an economic evaluation study to determine the economic 
impact of the St. Lawrence Seaway and Great Lake marine system on the 
Canadian economy. The study determined the overall level of employment and 
output associated with the project.  

Transport Canada and the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Great Lakes and 
St. Lawrence Seaway Study 
He managed the development of a cost benefit analysis tool to determine the 
optimal long run investment strategy for maintaining the infrastructure (e.g., locks, 
bridges) of the St. Lawrence Seaway and Great Lakes. This was used as input into 
the Great Lakes St. Lawrence Seaway Study to evaluate the infrastructure needs 
of the Great Lakes St. Lawrence Seaway system, specifically the engineering, 
economic, and environmental implications of those needs as they pertain to 
commercial navigation. 

Several Port Clients, Grant Support for Applicant’s Submissions to Transport 
Canada’s National Trade Corridors Fund (NTCF) 
He led grant submissions to demonstrate the business case application for the 
client’s grant applications under Transport Canada’s NTCF Program. Similar to 
USDOT’s programs, the grant application demonstrates the strategic alignment of 
the project to Transport Canada’s evaluation criteria, including financial, economic, 
operational, trade facilitation, and other criteria. Through the development of the 
grant applications, Dennis has engaged stakeholders, including shippers, project 
sponsors, truckers and Transport Canada to ensure that the project justification 
was well supported. HDR has helped clients secure more than $300 million in 
funding from this program over the last 2 years. 

MBIA Insurance Corporation and LatAM Capital (Bond Insurer), Risk Analysis 
and Due Diligence of Transportation Infrastructure Financing  
He managed studies that provided risk analysis of their Latin American highway, 
airport infrastructure, and tax revenue-secured government financings. In each of 
the individual financings, he provided an independent opinion as to the probability 
that traffic levels will be attained, whether the concession related to transportation 
infrastructure will default, and what claims will have to be paid by MBIA. Key 
considerations assessed in these studies included the impact of differential toll 
rates for electronic tolling and time of day pricing. To date, projects have included 
several privatized urban toll roads in Mexico, major international airports in 
Santiago and Mexico City, and numerous state tax revenue-based securitizations. 
Study outcomes were presented to rating agencies such as Fitch, S&P, and 
Moody’s. 

 

Council Packet Page 100 



 

 
 

 

EDUCATION 
Master of Arts, 
Economics, Simon Fraser 
University 

Bachelor of Arts and 
Science, University of 
Lethbridge 

INDUSTRY TENURE 
31 years 

HDR TENURE 
14 years 

 

Fred Kramer 
Senior Economist/QA/QC 

Fred Kramer is an experienced transportation economist with a thorough 
understanding of decision support, specifically in the creation and interpretation of 
business case, multiple account, benefit-cost, and risk analyses. With HDR for the 
past 14 years, Fred has successfully contributed to and managed numerous 
economic assessments with a focus on the quantification of public benefits of 
proposed transportation projects. Leading HDR’s freight and passenger rail 
economics practice, Fred has led successful public funding applications on behalf 
of numerous Class 1 freight railroads, including Alaska Railroad Corporation. He is 
currently providing grant writing services for ARRC under a term contract. He has 
also been active in port rail infrastructure benefit-cost analyses, helping secure 
federal and state funds on behalf of the Port of Alaska and others. Fred’s 
experience with cost-benefit analyses and grant funding applications for Alaska 
transportation projects will result in a streamlined schedule for the City of Unalaska.  

RELEVANT EXPERIENCE 

Alaska Railroad Corporation, Bird Creek Bridge Replacement CRISI Grant 
Application 
Provided full application writing and benefit cost analysis services utilizing a triple-
bottom line approach. Alaska Railroad requested and received a $3.8 million grant. 
The project will replace an aging bridge approaching the end of its useful life on the 
Alaska railroad’s main line linking Anchorage with the Ports of Whittier and 
Seward.  

Alaska Railroad Corporation, 2020 CRISI Grant Application: MP 25.7 Trail 
River Bridge Replacement 
Created a successful CRISI grant application to help fund a critical bridge 
replacement project with input from ARRC’s engineering department.  ARRC 
requested and received a $4.1 million grant. 

Portland Marine Terminal Freight and Jobs Access Project Benefit-Cost 
Analysis 
Provided a detailed benefit cost analysis of a grade separation over a busy marine 
terminal rail lead and construct associated road, intersection, and multimodal 
improvements to increase access and connectivity on a National Highway System 
Connector in support of a Tiger VIII discretionary grant application. The Port 
requested and received $7.3 million. 

San Joaquin Regional Rail Commission, Stockton Diamond Grade 
Separation Benefit-Cost Analysis 
Provided a detailed benefit-cost analysis of the Stockton Diamond Grade 
Separation project in support of a CRISI grant application. SJRRC requested and 
received $20 million. 

BNSF and UP, Tower 55 At-Grade Rail Improvement Project 
HDR developed benefit-cost analysis and economic impacts of enhancements to 
Tower 55 in Fort Worth. The project was awarded $34 million. 

 

Council Packet Page 101 



 

 
 

BNSF and UP Railroads, Colton Crossing Grade Separation Project 
HDR developed a public benefits analysis for the proposed Colton Crossing grade 
separation project. The study quantified the potential benefits accruing from 
increased time saving to motorists and inventories, reduced vehicle operating costs 
and lower environmental emissions. This project was allocated $97.3 million in 
Transportation Corridor Improvement Funding (TCIF). 

SEMO Port, Loop Tracks Terminal Project BUILD Grant 
SEMO proposes construction of a new state of-the-art, highly efficient rail-barge 
terminal consisting of a railroad loop track for the accommodation of unit freight rail 
trains, a rail to-barge conveyor system for rapid unloading and product transfer, 
and a river barge loadout terminal. HDR provided full application development and 
a benefit-cost analysis in support of a federal funding request under the BUILD 
program. SEMO Port received $19.8 million. 

Georgia Port Authority, Port of Savannah International Multi-modal 
Connector USDOT Grant Application 
Developed a comprehensive benefit-cost analysis and federal funding grant 
applications on behalf of the Georgia Port Authority’s (GPA) International Multi- 
Modal Connector (IMMC) project. Upon review of the application the USDOT 
awarded GPA $44 million from the U.S. Department of Transportation’s FY2016 
FASTLANE Grant Program. 

Port of Vancouver, West Vancouver Freight Access (WVFA) Project Federal 
Funding Application 
The WVFA project constructs a new rail access route that eliminates severe rail 
traffic congestion on a high-speed intercity passenger rail corridor to which USDOT 
granted $580 million. In support of the Port of Vancouver’s TIGER II application, 
HDR provided full application writing and benefit-cost analysis services utilizing a 
triple-bottom line approach. The Port requested and received a $10 million grant. 

Port of Coos Bay, Benefit-Cost Analysis in Support of Federal Funding 
Application, OR. Principal Economist. 
In support of the Port of Coos Bay TIGER II application, HDR provided full 
application writing and benefit-cost analysis services utilizing a triple-bottom line 
approach. The Port requested and received a $13.5 million grant. 

Port of Prince Rupert, Economic Impact Analysis in Support of the National 
Trade Corridor Fund Application 
In support of a Canadian National Trade Corridor Fund (NTCF) grant application 
HDR provided a detailed analysis of the costs and benefits of the terminal 
improvement and bridge replacement projects for the Port of Prince Rupert. 
Following a triple bottom line approach, HDR monetized economic, social (safety), 
and environmental (emissions reductions) aspects of the projects. 
 

 
 

Council Packet Page 102 



 
 

 

 

EDUCATION 
Master of Food and 
Resource Economics, 
University of British 
Columbia 

Bachelor of Arts, 
Economics Major, 
Mathematics Minor, 
University of British 
Columbia 

INDUSTRY TENURE 
5 years 

HDR TENURE 
2 years 

 

Sheryl Li 
Economist 

Sheryl is an economist proficient in economic research and quantitative modeling 
for a variety of industries. Her experience has provided her with knowledge in 
conducting micro and macroeconomic research, analyzing large volumes of data, 
constructing complex economic models, and providing actionable results. She has 
worked on an array of transportation projects with HDR, including conducting cost-
benefit analysis, economic forecast, market research, risk assessments, and 
market feasibility analysis. Most recently, Sheryl developed a comprehensive 
benefit-cost analysis for the construction of a Petroleum and Cement Terminal at 
the Port of Alaska to assist in the application of INFRA by the U.S. Department of 
Transportation. Benefit to You: Sheryl’s expertise in economic research and cost-
benefit analysis for Alaska projects will help our team meet Unalaska’s standards.  

RELEVANT EXPERIENCE 

Port of Alaska, Cost-Benefit Analysis for the Construction of a Petroleum ad 
Cement Terminal 
Developed a comprehensive cost-benefit analysis with advanced Microsoft Excel 
modeling for evaluating the replacement of a petroleum and cement terminal for 
the Port of Alaska. The analysis focused on impacts including shipper cost savings, 
avoided capital costs, safety, pavement maintenance cost and greenhouse gas 
emissions. Sensitivity analysis provided decision makers with information regarding 
potential risks of the project.  

San Diego Association of Governments, Cost-Benefit Analysis in Support of 
Trade Corridor Enhancement Program (TCEP) Grant Applications 
Developed comprehensive cost-benefit analysis with advanced Microsoft Excel 
modeling to assist in the application of TCEP grant application for a proposal. San 
Diego Association of Governments is looking to expand freight and passenger rail 
capacity, as well as stabilize the right-of-way rail track along part of the Los 
Angeles – San Diego – San Luis Obispo Rail Corridor. Such improvements will 
ensure continuous rail service efficiency and accountability. The analysis focused 
on financial, social and environmental impacts. The project was awarded $106 
million through TCEP. 

Prince Rupert Port Authority, Cost-Benefit Analysis in Support of National 
Trade Corridors Fund (NTCF) Grant Applications 
Developed comprehensive cost-benefit analysis with advanced Microsoft Excel 
modeling to assist in the application of NTCF by Transport Canada for 2 proposals. 
Prince Rupert Port Authority is looking to replace a sing-track trail bridge with a 
new double track rail bridge and develop an inter-modal logistics park, which will 
significantly alleviate existing bottlenecks of the rail traffic, and enable the 
continuous growth of container exports. The analysis focused on financial, social 
and environmental impacts. Sensitivity analysis provided decision makers with 
information regarding potential risks of the projects. The project was awarded $154 
million by Transport Canada through NTCF. 

 

Council Packet Page 103 



 
 

 

 

EDUCATION 
Graduate Diploma, Risk 
Management, Queen's 
University, Kingston, 2017 

Master of Arts, 
Economics, Queen's 
University, Kingston, 2016 

Bachelor of Arts, 
Economics, Simon Fraser 
University, 2015 

INDUSTRY TENURE 
3 years 

HDR TENURE 
3 years 

 

Stanley D. Wu 
Economist 

Stanley Wu is a driven economist focused on conducting research and 
econometric analysis in support of infrastructure projects. Stanley holds a Master’s 
degree in Economics and a Graduate Diploma in Risk Policy and Regulation 
(financial risk) from Queen’s University. His academic background has provided 
him with considerable experience in analyzing and solving complex problems 
through econometric modeling and presenting insightful findings. His experience in 
econometric analysis has allowed him to be well versed in Excel, R, STATA, and 
SAS.  

Since joining HDR, Stanley has worked on a wide array of projects, including 
benefit-cost analysis, risk-adjusted forecasting, and cluster analysis. He also 
gained experience in conducting Monte Carlo simulations through At-Risk®, as 
well as statistical analysis through SPSS. 

RELEVANT EXPERIENCE 

Alaska Railroad Corporation, ARRC BUILD Grant 
Stanley prepared a BUILD Grant and Benefit-cost Analysis. The proposed program 
is looking at replacing two rail bridges on the main line connecting Anchorage and 
Fairbanks. Currently, these two bridges are located on a bed of melting permafrost 
that has significantly impacted the structure’s integrity leading to a potential 
structural failure. If either of the bridges were to fail, transportation of passengers 
and freight will divert from the rail to roadway.   

Stanley developed a model assessing the costs and the benefits from replacing the 
two rail bridges. The project is expected to allow the safe transportation for freight 
and passengers along the rail line, as well as avoid the need to use the roadway. 

Alaska Railroad Corporation, ARRC CRISI 
HDR supported Alaska Railroad (ARRC) in the development of a Federal Railroad 
Administration (FRA), CRISI grant application. 

The project looks to replace the current Bird Creek Rail Bridge connecting 
Anchorage to Seward and Whittier, two key Alaskan ports. The current rail bridge 
is structurally obsolete and part of the only rail connection from Anchorage to the 
two port cities. The project looks to avoid the potential need to divert transportation 
to roadway options (i.e., trucks and busses) when the structurally obsolete bridge 
fails. The project was awarded $3.9 million in funding from the federal grant 
program. 

Stanley developed a model assessing the costs and benefits from replacing the 
obsolete rail bridge. The project is not only expected to allow safe transportation 
along the rail line but will also allow the railroad to transport heavier railcars in line 
with current industry standards. The project is expected to avoid the potential need 
to truck freight and bus passengers between Anchorage and Seward or Whittier. 

 

Council Packet Page 104 



 
 

 

Alaska Railroad Corporation, ARRC CRISI Grant #2 
Stanley prepared a BUILD grant application for ARRC. The project looks to replace 
a rail bridge connecting Seward, Alaska with Anchorage. The current rail bridge, 
originally constructed in 1951, is a structurally obsolete bottleneck that is reaching 
the end of its useful life. If the bridge failed, transportation of passengers and 
freight would divert from rail to highway. 

Stanley developed a model assessing the costs and benefits from replacing the rail 
bridge. The project is expected to allow the safe transportation of freight and 
passengers along the rail line, as well as avoid the need to use the roadway. 

 
 

 

Council Packet Page 105 



 

 
 

 

EDUCATION 
Bachelor of Arts, Arts, 
Prairie View A&M 
University 

Associate of Science, 
Graphic Design, 
Westwood College 

INDUSTRY TENURE 
21 years 

HDR TENURE 
8 years 

 

Summer Hudson 
Graphic Design 

Summer is a versatile and conscientious designer who has spent the last 8 years 
working with DOT&PF to develop design concepts for project websites, public 
involvement material and collateral, and project specific graphic design needs. She 
has provided public involvement and graphic design services for transportation 
projects in Unalaska, including the Unalaska Airport Master Plan and the FUDS 
Public Involvement Project. For the FUDS project, HDR has assisted USACE in 
evaluating the need for a Restoration Advisory Board in communities throughout 
Alaska that have been identified as Formerly Used Defense Sites, including 
Unalaska. Her graphic design experience on Alaska transportation projects, as 
well as her experience in the community of Unalaska, will lead to high-quality 
deliverables that support efficient project completion.  

RELEVANT EXPERIENCE 

ARRC FY2021 MARAD PIDP Grant Application 
Summer is providing graphic design to support ARRC in the development of a 
MARAD PIDP discretionary grant application.  

ARRC CRISI Grant #2 
Summer provided graphic design for this BUILD Grant application for ARRC.   

Unalaska Airport Master Plan Update  
Summer provided graphic design for this project that involved reviewing and 
compiling a list of the issues affecting the Unalaska Airport. This project included a 
robust public involvement program.  

TO-FY19 FUDS Public Involvement 
Since 2016 HDR has assisted the USACE Alaska District in implementing the 
necessary activities to evaluate the need for a Restoration Advisory Board in 
communities throughout Alaska that have been identified as Formerly Used 
Defense Sites (FUDS). Our team prepares a Public Involvement Plan for each 
location that addresses the FUDS properties and recommends implementation of 
public outreach and community involvement initiatives that are suited to the 
planned cleanup activities at these properties.  

Airport Way/Steese Expressway Interchange 
HDR provided preliminary engineering through final design for this Highway Safety 
Improvement Program (HSIP) project to construct a grade-separated facility at the 
intersection to improve safety and traffic flow. 

Angoon Airport 
HDR is providing roadway engineering, hydrology & hydraulic engineering, 
environmental support services, public involvement, and Right of Entry (ROE) 
acquisition services with acquired ROEs from residents and community entities in 
the City of Angoon, and assisting with public outreach to the community 

Council Packet Page 106 



 

 
 

Chiniak Highway Erosion Design 
HDR has completed bid-ready PS&E at nine discrete sites between MP 19-43 on 
the Chiniak Highway and supported the DOT&PF during construction. 

Dalton Highway MP 109-144 Reconstruction 
HDR provided technical design and led the reconstruction of 35 miles of the 
Dalton, which will widen the highway to 32 feet with 12-foot lanes and 4-foot 
shoulders, resurface the highway, provide embankment repairs and new signage, 
replace culverts to improve drainage, and replace the Douglas Creek Bridge and 
guardrails at seven bridge crossings. 

Egan-Yandukin PEL 
This intersection project, DOT&PF’s first Planning and Environmental Linkages 
(PEL) Study in Southcoast Region, simultaneously evaluated issues such as traffic 
operations and safety, business and property impacts, land use planning, non-
motorized connectivity, wetlands, and other environmental concerns.  

South Tongass Highway: Deermount to Surf Design Services 
HDR is leading design improvements of a 3-mile stretch of the South Tongass 
Highway that connects the cities of Ketchikan and Saxman. Work includes highway 
widening, minor realignments, retaining walls, drainage improvements, utility 
relocation, and construction of a multiuse pathway.  

13th Street Traffic Calming Design 
This HDR lead effort began with a robust public outreach process to determine 
beneficial ways to calm traffic along each corridor. Alternative solutions presented 
consisted of bulb-outs at key intersections, placement of Rectangular Rapid 
Flashing Beacons (RRFB), chicanes, radar speed signs, and improvements to non-
compliant ADA pedestrians access points. The outreach process and planning 
level analysis resulted in a distinct approach to traffic calming for each corridor. 
13th St traffic calming primarily consisted of bulb-outs at key intersection crossings, 
and placement of an RRFB. Kootenai St will develop chicanes, signalized 
intersection upgrades, and replacing sections of on-street parking with raised 
sidewalks and dedicated bicycle lanes. Both corridors will improve non-ADA 
complaint driveways and pedestrian ramps. 

 

Council Packet Page 107 



Qualifications Evaluation 

Capt. Bay Road Paving and Utility Extension

Cost/Benefit Analysis RFP

Technical Attributes Weight % HDR Northern Economics

Responsiveness and Understanding 25 25.0% 100 95

Professional Qualifications 25 25.0% 100 95

Schedule and Deliverable Products 25 25.0% 100 95

Team Experience 25 25.0% 100 95

Technical Proposal Raw Score 100 100 95

Technical Proposal Adjusted Score 50% 1 0

Total Score 50% 48%

Ranking 1 2

For each Technical Attribute rank each Respondent starting with 1,2,3,4,5 and 

6 and so forth. 1 is best, 2 is next best, 3 is third best, etc.. Do not skip or 

repeat numbers.

Council Packet Page 108 



 

 

 

CITY OF UNALASKA 

Consulting Services Agreement 

Captains Bay Road and Utilities Upgrades Project 

Cost/Benefit Analysis 

Project No. 19201 

 

 

 

 

 

Prepared By: 

City of Unalaska 

P.O. Box 610 

Unalaska, Alaska 99685 

907.581.1260 

  

Council Packet Page 109 



 

Page | 2 
 

Contents 
1.  Employment of Consultant ................................................................................................................... 1 

2.  Performance ......................................................................................................................................... 1 

3.  Fee ......................................................................................................................................................... 1 

4.  Payments............................................................................................................................................... 1 

5.  Personnel .............................................................................................................................................. 2 

6.  Independent Contractor Status ............................................................................................................ 2 

7.  Indemnification ..................................................................................................................................... 2 

8.  Assignment ............................................................................................................................................ 2 

9.  Subcontracting ...................................................................................................................................... 2 

10.  Designation of Representatives ........................................................................................................ 2 

11.  Termination ....................................................................................................................................... 2 

12.  Ownership and Use of Documents ................................................................................................... 3 

13.  Insurance ........................................................................................................................................... 3 

14.  Claims Recovery ................................................................................................................................ 4 

15.  Performance Standard ...................................................................................................................... 5 

16.  Compliance with Applicable Laws ..................................................................................................... 5 

17.  Records and Audit ............................................................................................................................. 5 

18.  Reporting of Progress and Inspection ............................................................................................... 5 

19.  Form of City Approval ....................................................................................................................... 5 

20.  Duration of Agreement ..................................................................................................................... 5 

21.  Inspections by City ............................................................................................................................ 5 

22.  Endorsements on Documents ........................................................................................................... 6 

23.  Notices .............................................................................................................................................. 6 

24.  Venue/Applicable Law ...................................................................................................................... 6 

25.  Attorney's Fees ................................................................................................................................. 6 

26.  Waiver ............................................................................................................................................... 6 

27.  Binding Effect .................................................................................................................................... 6 

28.  Entire Agreement/Modification ........................................................................................................ 6 

 

Council Packet Page 110 



 

Page | 1 
 

AGREEMENT FOR CONSULTING AND RELATED SERVICES 

THIS AGREEMENT is entered into this ___________ day of _________________, 2021, by and between 

HDR ENGINEERING, INC. (hereinafter called "Consultant"), and the CITY OF UNALASKA (hereinafter called 

"City"). 

  WITNESSETH THAT: 

WHEREAS City desires to engage Consultant to render consulting and related services for the performance 

of a Cost/Benefit Analysis and Other Professional Services for the Captains Bay Road & Utilities Upgrades 

Project and  

WHEREAS Consultant represents that it has the experience and ability to perform such services; and 

WHEREAS the parties hereto desire to enter into a basic agreement setting forth the terms under which 
Consultant will, as requested, perform such work; 

NOW THEREFORE the parties hereto do mutually agree as follows: 

1.  Employment of Consultant 
Consultant agrees to provide professional services in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement. 
A written description of the work to be performed, schedule and compensation is set out in Exhibits A‐C 
of this Agreement. 

2.  Performance 
Consultant agrees to perform the work described in Exhibit A‐ Scope of Services; however, the Consultant 
is not authorized to perform any work or incur any expense which would cause the amount for which he 
is entitled to be paid under this Agreement to exceed the amount set forth in Exhibit C – Fee Proposal 
without  the prior written  approval of  the City. All  services  shall be  rendered  in  accordance with  the 
schedule set forth in Exhibit B – Contract Schedule.   

The work shall include but not be limited to the following:  furnishing all equipment, transportation, per 
diem, travel, and supplies to perform all scopes of work that are authorized under their State of Alaska’s 
Professional License,  in connection with the Cost/Benefit Analysis and Other Professional Services for 
the City of Unalaska Captains Bay Road & Utilities Upgrades Project. 

3.  Fee 
After receipt of a periodic billing for said services, the City agrees to pay Consultant as compensation for 

the services under this Agreement such sums of money as set forth in Exhibit C of this Agreement. The 

amount payable to the Consultant shall not exceed the amount specified in Exhibit C.  

4.  Payments 
City agrees to make periodic payments to Consultant as services are performed and costs are incurred, 

provided Consultant  submits  a proper  invoice  for  each payment,  in  such  form  accompanied by  such 

evidence in support thereof as may be reasonably required by the City. All invoices are otherwise due and 

payable within thirty (30) days of receipt by City. City shall pay Consultant for the services  identified in 

Exhibit A  the Not  to Exceed Total Fee of Two Hundred Thirty Four Thousand, Nineteen Dollars and 

Council Packet Page 111 



 

Page | 2 
 

Seventy Five Cents ($234,019.75). The Not to Exceed Total Fee is based on the distribution of the Not to 

Exceed Total Fee between tasks set forth in Exhibit A. The portion of the Not to Exceed Total Fee billed 

and paid for Consultant’s services shall be equal to the proportion of services actually completed for each 

task set forth in Exhibit A during the billing period to the fee total specified for that task. 

5.  Personnel 
Consultant agrees to furnish all personnel necessary for expeditious and satisfactory performance of this 

Agreement, each  to be competent, experienced, and well qualified  for  the work assigned. No person 

objected to by the City shall be employed by Consultant for work hereunder. 

6.  Independent Contractor Status 
In  performing  under  this  Agreement,  Consultant  acts  as  an  independent  contractor  and  shall  have 

responsibility for and control over the details and means for performing the consulting services required 

hereunder. 

7.  Indemnification 
Consultant shall defend and save harmless City or any employee, officer, insurer, or elected official thereof 

from and against losses, damages, liabilities, expenses, claims, and demands but only to the extent arising 

out of any negligent act or negligent omission of Consultant while performing under the terms of this 

contract. 

8.  Assignment 
Consultant shall not assign this Agreement or any of the monies due or to become due hereunder without 

the prior written consent of City. 

9.  Subcontracting 
Consultant may not subcontract its performance under this Agreement without prior written consent of 

City. Any subcontractor must agree to be bound by terms of this Agreement. 

10.  Designation of Representatives 
The Parties agree, for the purposes of this Agreement, the City shall be represented by and may act only 

through  the Director of Public Works, Tom Cohenour, or  such other person  as he may designate  in 

writing.  Consultant  shall  advise  City  in  writing  of  the  name  of  its  representative  in  charge  of  the 

administration of this Agreement, who shall have authority to act for and bind Consultant in connection 

with this Agreement. 

11.  Termination 
Either party  shall have  the  right  to  terminate  this Agreement  in whole or  in part at any  time and  for 

reasonable cause, by delivery of thirty (30) days written notice, specifying the extent and effective date 

thereof. After receipt of such notice, Consultant shall stop work hereunder to the extent and on the date 

specified in such notice, terminate all subcontracts and other commitments to the extent they relate to 

the work  terminated, and deliver  to City all designs, computations, drawings, specifications and other 

Council Packet Page 112 



 

Page | 3 
 

material and  information prepared or developed hereunder  in  connection with  the work  terminated. 

Consultant shall not be terminated for cause if it has cured the default or event that would have otherwise 

given rise to the termination within 15 days from receipt of written notice of such default or event.  

In the event of any termination pursuant to this clause, Consultant shall be entitled to be paid as provided 

herein for direct labor hours expended and reimbursable costs incurred prior to the termination pursuant 

to  Section 3 hereof,  and  for  such direct  labor hours  and  reimbursable  costs  as may be expended or 

incurred  thereafter with City's  approval  in  concluding  the work  terminated,  it being understood  that 

Consultant shall not be entitled to any anticipated profit on services not performed. Except as provided 

in this clause, any such termination shall not alter or affect the rights or obligations of the parties under 

this Agreement. 

12.  Ownership and Use of Documents 
Consultant agrees that all original design reproducible drawings, all pertinent calculations, specifications, 

reports, data, and other documents prepared for the City hereunder are the property of the City and the 

City shall have the right, without payment of additional compensation, to disclose, reproduce, and use 

such documents for this project However, City’s re‐use of such deliverables or materials for purposes not 

contemplated in this Agreement shall be at City’s sole risk and without liability to Consultant.  

13.  Insurance 
A.  During the term of the contract, the Consultant shall obtain and maintain in force the insurance 

coverage  specified  in  these  requirements. Such  coverage  shall be with an  insurance  company 

rated “Excellent” or “Superior” by A. M. Best Company, or a company specifically approved by the 

City. 

B.  The Consultant shall carry and maintain throughout the life of this contract, at its own expense, 

insurance not less than the amounts and coverage herein specified, and the City of Unalaska, its 

employees, and agents shall be named as additional  insured under  the  insurance coverage so 

specified and where allowed, with respect to the performance of the work. There shall be no right 

of subrogation against the City or its agents performing work in connection with the work, and 

this waiver of subrogation shall be endorsed upon  the policies.  Insurance shall be placed with 

companies acceptable to the City of Unalaska; and these policies providing coverage thereunder 

shall contain provisions  that no cancellation  in  the policy  relative  to  this project shall become 

effective except upon 30 days prior written notice thereof to the City of Unalaska. 

C.  Prior  to  commencement  of  the work,  the  Consultant  shall  furnish  certificates  to  the  City  of 

Unalaska, in duplicate, evidencing that the Insurance policy provisions required hereunder are in 

force. Acceptance by the City of Unalaska of deficient evidence does not constitute a waiver of 

contract requirements. 

D.  The Consultant shall furnish the City of Unalaska with certified copies of policies upon request. 

The minimum coverages and limits required are as follows: 

1.  Workers’ Compensation insurance in accordance with the statutory coverages required 

by  the  State  of  Alaska  and  Employers  Liability  insurance  with  limits  not  less  than 

$1,000,000  and, where  applicable,  insurance  in  compliance with  any  other  statutory 

Council Packet Page 113 



 

Page | 4 
 

obligations,  whether  State  or  Federal,  pertaining  to  the  compensation  of  injured 

employees assigned to the work,  including but not  limited to Voluntary Compensation, 

Federal  Longshoremen  and Harbor Workers Act, Maritime  and  the Outer Continental 

Shelf’s Land Act. 

2.  Commercial General Liability with  limits not  less  than $1,000,000 per Occurrence and 

$2,000,000  Aggregate  for  Bodily  Injury  and  Property Damage,  including  coverage  for 

Premises  and  Operations  Liability,  Products  and  Completed  Operations  Liability, 

Contractual Liability, Broad Form Property Damage Liability and Personal Injury Liability.   

3.  Commercial Automobile Liability on all owned, non‐owned, hired, and  rented vehicles 

with limits of liability of not less than $1,000,000 Combined Single Limit for Bodily Injury 

and Property Damage per each accident. 

4.  Umbrella/Excess Liability insurance coverage of not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence 

and annual aggregate providing coverage in excess of General Liability, Auto Liability, and 

Employers Liability. 

5.  If work  involves use of aircraft, Aircraft Liability  insurance covering all owned and non‐

owned aircraft with a per occurrence limit of not less than $1,000,000. 

6.  If work involves use of watercraft, Protection and Indemnity insurance with limits not less 

than $1,000,000 per occurrence. 

7.  Professional  Liability  insurance with  limits  of  not  less  than  $1,000,000  per  claim  and 

$1,000,000 aggregate 

E.  All insurance policies as described above are required to be written on an “occurrence” basis. In 

the event occurrence coverage is not available, the Consultant agrees to maintain “claims made” 

coverage for a minimum of two years after project completion. 

F.  If the Consultant employs subcontractors to perform any work hereunder, the Consultant agrees 

to require such subcontractors to obtain, carry, maintain, and keep  in force during the time  in 

which they are engaged in performing any work hereunder, policies of insurance which comply 

with  the  requirements as set  forth  in  this section and  to  furnish copies  thereof  to  the City of 

Unalaska. This requirement is applicable to subcontractors of any tier. 

14.  Claims Recovery 
Claims by City resulting from Consultant’s failure to comply with the terms of and specifications of this 

contract and/or default hereunder may be recovered by City by withholding the amount of such claims 

from compensation otherwise due Consultant for work performed or to be performed. City shall notify 

Consultant of any such failure, default or damage therefrom as soon as practicable and no later than 10 

days  after  discovery  of  such  event  by written  notice.  Nothing  provided  herein  shall  be  deemed  as 

constituting an exclusive remedy on behalf of City, nor a waiver of any other rights hereunder at law or in 

equity. Design changes required as a result of failure to comply with the applicable standard of care shall 

be performed by the Consultant without additional compensation. 

Council Packet Page 114 



 

Page | 5 
 

15.  Performance Standard 
Services performed under this Agreement will be performed with reasonable care or the ordinary skill of 

the profession practicing in the same or similar location and under similar circumstances and shall comply 

with all applicable codes and standards. 

16.  Compliance with Applicable Laws 
Consultant shall in the performance of this Agreement comply with all applicable federal, state, and local 

laws,  ordinances,  orders,  rules,  and  regulations  applicable  to  its  performance  hereunder,  including 

without limitation, all such legal provisions pertaining to social security, income tax withholding, medical 

aid,  industrial  insurance, workers'  compensation,  and  other  employee  benefit  laws.  Consultant  also 

agrees to comply with all contract provisions pertaining to grant or other funding assistance which City 

may choose to utilize to perform work under this Agreement. The Consultant and all subcontractors must 

comply with state laws related to local hire and prevailing wages. 

17.  Records and Audit 
Consultant agrees to maintain sufficient and accurate records and books of account,  including detailed 

time records, showing all direct labor hours expended and all reimbursable costs incurred and the same 

shall be subject  to  inspection and audit by City at all  reasonable  times. All such  records and books of 

account pertaining to any work performed hereunder shall be retained for a period of not less than six (6) 

years from the date of completion of the improvements to which the consulting services of this Agreement 

relate. 

18.  Reporting of Progress and Inspection 
Consultant agrees to keep City informed as to progress of the work under this Agreement by providing 

monthly written progress reports, and shall permit City to have reasonable access to the work performed 

or being performed, for the purpose of any inspection City may desire to undertake. 

19.  Form of City Approval 
Except as otherwise provided  in  this Agreement, City's  requests and approvals, and Consultant’s  cost 

estimates and descriptions of work to be performed, may be made orally where necessary, provided that 

the oral communication is confirmed immediately thereafter in writing. 

20.  Duration of Agreement 
This agreement is effective for a period of one (1) year from the date first shown above. The agreement 

may be extended by the mutual written agreement of City and Consultant. 

21.  Inspections by City 
The City has the right, but not the duty, to inspect, in the manner and at reasonable times it considers 

appropriate during the period of this Agreement, all facilities and activities of the Consultant as may be 

engaged in the performance of this Agreement. 

Council Packet Page 115 



 

Page | 6 
 

22.  Endorsements on Documents 
Endorsements and professional  seals,  if applicable, must be  included on all  final plans,  specifications, 

estimates, and reports prepared by the Consultant. Preliminary copies of such documents submitted for 

review must have seals affixed without endorsement (signature). 

23.  Notices 
Any official notice that either party hereto desires to give the other shall be delivered through the United 

States mail by certified mail, return receipt requested, with postage thereon fully prepaid and addressed 

as follows: 

  To City:             To HDR Engineering: 
  Tom Cohenour            Wescott Bott 
  City of Unalaska           HDR Engineering 
  Box 610             2525 C Street Suite 500  

Unalaska, Alaska  99685         Anchorage, Alaska 99503 
             

The addresses hereinabove specified may be changed by either party by giving written notice thereof to 

the other party pursuant to this paragraph. 

24.  Venue/Applicable Law 
The venue of any legal action between the parties arising as a result of this Agreement shall be laid in the 

Third Judicial District of the Superior Court of the State of Alaska and this contract shall be interpreted in 

accordance with the laws of the State of Alaska. 

25.  Attorney's Fees 
In the event either party institutes any suit or action to enforce its right hereunder, the prevailing party 

shall be entitled to recover from the other party its reasonable attorney's fees and costs in such suit or 

action and on any appeal therefrom. 

 26.  Waiver 
No failure on the part of City to enforce any covenant or provisions herein contained, nor any waiver of 

any right hereunder by City, unless in writing and signed by the parties sought to be bound, shall discharge 

or  invalidate such covenants or provisions or affect the right of City to enforce the same or any other 

provision in the event of any subsequent breach or default. 

27.  Binding Effect 
The terms, conditions and covenants contained in this Agreement shall apply to, inure to the benefit of, 

and bind the parties and their respective successors. 

28.  Entire Agreement/Modification 
This agreement, including Exhibits A‐C, and the Consultant’s proposal dated August 12, 2021 constitutes 

the  entire  Agreement  between  the  parties with  respect  to  the  subject matter  hereof,  and  all  prior 

Council Packet Page 116 



 

Page | 7 
 

negotiations  and understandings  are  superseded  and  replaced by  this Agreement  and  shall be of no 

further force and effect. No modification of this Agreement shall be of any force or effect unless reduced 

to writing, signed by both parties and expressly made a part of this Agreement. 

In witness whereof, the parties hereto have executed, or caused to be executed by their duly authorized 

officials, this Agreement in duplicate on the respective date indicated below. 

HDR ENGINEERING, INC. 

 

 

By: ____________________________________ 

         Tim Gallagher, Vice President 

 

State of Alaska    ) 

                                      ) ss.     

Third Judicial District  )     

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged 

before me on the ____ day of ______________, 

2021, by Tim Gallagher, the Vice President of 

HDR Engineering, Inc., a Corporation qualified 

to do business in Alaska, on behalf of the 

corporation. 

 

____________________________________ 

Notary Public, State of Alaska 

My Commission Expires _______________  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CITY OF UNALASKA, ALASKA 

 

 

By: ________________________________ 

  Erin Reinders, City Manager 

 

State of Alaska    ) 

                                     ) ss. 

Third Judicial District  ) 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged 

before me on the ____ day of ______________, 

2021, by Erin Reinders, City Manager for the 

City of Unalaska, a First Class Alaska Municipal 

Corporation, on behalf of the City of Unalaska. 

 

__________________________________  

Notary Public, State of Alaska 

My Commission Expires ______________ 

  

Council Packet Page 117 



 

Page | i 
 

CITY OF UNALASKA 
EXHIBIT “A” 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 

The Consultant’s Proposal dated August 12, 2021, is attached and incorporated into this Scope of 

Services. An abbreviated Scope of Services is set out below. 

Task 1.  Project Management 

Deliverables for Task 1 

1.  Monthly Project Status Meetings 
2.  Monthly Invoices and Progress Reports 

Task 2.  Kick‐Off and Strategic Guidance Meeting 

Deliverables for Task 2 

1.  Revised Work Plan 
2.  Data Request 

Task 3.  Site Visit 

Deliverables for Task 3 

1.  Field Trip Report and Recommendations 

Task 4.  Cost‐Benefit Analysis Preparation 

Deliverables for Task 4 

1.  Initial version of Technical Memorandum #1: Methodology of Cost‐Benefit Analysis of Captains 
Bay Road Improvements 

2.  Cost‐Benefit Analysis Model (in a MS Excel spreadsheet) 
3.  Updated version of Technical Memorandum #1 documenting the CBA methodology,  interviews 

with Project stakeholders, workshop with City’s representatives, data  inputs and assumptions, 
and analysis results 

Task 5.  Identify and Evaluate Funding Sources 

Deliverables for Task 5 

1.  Technical Memorandum #2 on identification and evaluation of infrastructure funding sources 

Task 6. Draft/Final Report and Presentation to the City 

Deliverables for Task 6 

1.  Draft Project Report for review and comment 
2.  Final Project Report 
3.  PowerPoint presentation on study findings 

Task 7.  Prepare Federal Infrastructure Grant Application 

Deliverables for Optional Task 7 

1.  Draft Federal Grant Application 
2.  Final Federal Grant Application 

 

Council Packet Page 118 



 

Page | ii 
 

CITY OF UNALASKA 

EXHIBIT “B” 

CONTRACT SCHEDULE 

The proposed contract schedule is set forth below. 

Tasks 1 ‐ 6 

September 1 – September 30, 2021: 

1.  NTP 

2.  Kickoff Meeting 

3.  Field Investigation 

4.  Data Gathering 

5.  City and Stakeholder Interviews 

6.  CBA Initiation 

October 1, – November 15, 2021 

1.  CBA Development 

a.  Identification of No Build and Build Alternatives and Engineering Review 

b.  Project Benefits Identification and Benefit Methodology 

c.  CBA Model Development, Data Input, Draft CBA Results, Economic Benefits Assessment 

d.  Sensitivity Analysis 

e.  Final Results 

2.  Identify and Evaluate Funding Sources 

November 15 – December 31, 2021 

1.  Draft Final Report Preparation 

2.  Draft Report Presentation 

3.  Review Comments and Provide Response 

4.  Final Report Preparation and Submittal 

January 1 – January 31, 2022 

1.  Project Closeout 

Task 7 

January 15 – January 31, 2022  

1.  NTP 

2.  Kickoff Meeting with City 

3.  Review of NOFO 

4.  Initiate Grant Application 

a.  Identify Appropriate Project Alternative 

b.  Identify Appropriate Grant Program 

February 1 – February 28, 2022 

1.  Prepare Draft Grant Application 

March 1, 2022 – March 31‐2022 

1.  Draft Grant Review 

2.  Address Comments 

Council Packet Page 119 



 

Page | iii 
 

3.  Prepare Final Grant Application 

April 1 – April 30, 2022 

1.  Submit Final Grant Application 

2.  Project Closeout 

 

Council Packet Page 120 



 

Page | iv 
 

CITY OF UNALASKA 

EXHIBIT “C” 

FEE PROPOSAL 

Council Packet Page 121 



 

Page | v 
 

CONSULTANT FEE PROPOSAL DETAIL 

CITY OF UNALASKA  PROJECT NAME:  INVOICE DATE:  
DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS  DPW CONTRACT NO.:   PAY ESTIMATE NO.:  
P.O. BOX 610  CONSULTANT:  PERIOD: FROM     TO  
UNALASKA, AK 99685     

 

 

Budget Assumptions Tasks 1‐6: 

1. Assumes 12/31/21 submittal of final report with project closeout extending to 1/31/22 

2. Assumes one field visit to review the project area by project engineering staff.  Economist will participate in any meetings associated with the field trip 

virtually. 

3. Assumes all interviews of stakeholders and City personnel by economists will be virtual or by telephone. 

4. Assumes monthly status meetings, work product review meetings and final presentation to the City will be virtual. 

5. Assumes between 4 to 6 alternatives will receive a Cost Benefit Analysis 

6. Cost associated with travel delays or schedule changes outside HDR’s control are not included in the budget and will be assessed on a Time and Expense 

Basis 

TASK  DESCRIPTION  FEE TOTAL ($)  % COMPLETE  $ VALUE TO DATE  $ REMAINING 

1  Project Management  $20,436.46   %  $  $ 

2  Kickoff/Strategy Meeting  $ 6,578.96   %  $  $ 

3  Site Visit  $22,645.52   %  $  $ 

  3.1    Site Visit Report and Data Organization  $ 3,075.26   %  $  $ 

4  Cost Benefit Analysis     %  $  $ 

  4.1    Identify Baseline/No Build/Build Scenarios  $36,025.48   %  $  $ 

  4.2    Identify Project Benefits/ Benefits Methods Memo  $18,335.68   %  $  $ 

  4.3    Cost Benefit Model/ Economic Benefit Assessment  $22,870.84   %  $  $ 

  4.4    Sensitivity Analysis  $ 5,832.12   %  $  $ 

  4.5    Document Results   $ 9,637.44   %  $  $ 

5  Identify and Evaluate Funding Sources  $26,142.84   %  $  $ 

6  Draft and Final Report and Presentation  $21,640.73   %  $  $ 

7  Federal Grant Preparation  $   %  $  $ 

  7.1    Project Management  $ 4,235.48   %  $  $ 

    Grant Preparation and Submittal  $36,562.95   %  $  $ 

  Total All Tasks  $234,019.75   %  $  $ 

Council Packet Page 122 



 

Page | vi 
 

7. Task 1 Project Management includes $75.00 for black and white and color copying 

8. Task 3 includes travel, lodging and per diem for one overnight trip for two HDR staff. 

9. The fee is built on 2021 labor rates assuming that the majority of the work for Task 1‐6 will be accomplished by 12/31/21. If there is a delay in project start 

up or other delays that are beyond HDR’s control that push the majority of the basic services related to tasks 1‐6 into 2022, HDR requests the opportunity 

to negotiate a fee adjustment with the City to reflect changes in HDR’s labor rates. 

Budget Assumptions for Task 7 

1. Assumes project elements meet federal grant criteria 

2. Assumes separate NTP after the completion of the Cost Benefit Analysis Tasks 

3. Assumes federal grant Notice of Funding Opportunity will be issued in early 2022. 

4. Assumes all grant meetings will be virtual 

5. Estimate is based on the submittal of one grant application for a feasible alternative based on the findings of the Cost Best Analysis. 

6. Estimate is based on the 2021 federal grant criteria for various infrastructure grants with the assumptions that federal 2022 grant criteria will be similar. 

Cost for any major increases in 2022 grant requirements will be negotiated prior to the issuance of the NTP. 

7. The fee for Task 7 is based on 2021 labor rates. If task 7 is approved, HDR requests the opportunity to negotiate a revised fee reflecting to reflect changes 

in HDR labor rates. 

Council Packet Page 123 



-1- 
 

CITY OF UNALASKA 
UNALASKA, ALASKA 

 
RESOLUTION 2021-57 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE UNALASKA CITY COUNCIL ENCOURAGING COMMUNITY WIDE 
COVID-19 PROTECTIVE MEASURES  
 
WHEREAS, the COVID-19 pandemic has generated a public health emergency that threatens to 
overwhelm the City of Unalaska health system and the economy of our community, endangering 
the lives and wellbeing of our citizens if gone unmanaged; and  
 
WHEREAS, on March 15, 2020, Mayor Vincent M. Tutiakoff, Sr. declared a local emergency in 
the City of Unalaska, authorizing the City Manager to take necessary actions to reduce the impact 
and spread of the coronavirus known as COVID-19 through the City of Unalaska; and 
 
WHEREAS, on March 18, 2020, the Unalaska City Council passed Resolution 2020-16, declaring 
a local emergency to remain in effect for so long as the declaration of a Public Health Disaster in 
the State of Alaska Remains in effect; and 
 
WHEREAS, on November 10, 2020, the Unalaska City Council passed Resolution 2020-71, 
extending the local emergency declaration through June 30, 2021, to allow the City to continue to 
take necessary actions to reduce the impact and spread of the coronavirus known as COVID-19 
in the City of Unalaska; and 
 
WHEREAS, on February 14, 2021, Governor Dunleavy issued four Health Advisories with 
guidance and recommendations on general safety and best practices, international and interstate 
travel (modified April 26, 2021), intrastate travel (modified April 26, 2021), and critical 
infrastructure; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Commissioner of the State of Alaska, Department of Health and Social Services, 
Adam Crum, pursuant to and in accordance with the authority granted by the Alaska State 
Legislature in House Bill 76, Chapter No. 2, SLA 2021, declared a Public Health Emergency 
effective at 12:02 a.m. on May 1, 2021, which shall remain in effect until rescinded or until the 
federal public health emergency issued under Section 319 of the Public Health Services Act 
expires, whichever is sooner; and 
 
WHEREAS, on June 22, 2021, the Unalaska City Council passed Resolution 2021-47, extending 
the local emergency declaration through December 31, 2021, to allow the City to continue to take 
necessary actions to reduce the impact and spread of the coronavirus known as COVID-19 in the 
City of Unalaska; and 
 
WHEREAS, local health officials have advised that protective measures are beneficial given 
Unalaska’s remoteness, lack of road access to the mainland; and 
 
WHEREAS, the State of Alaska has specifically recommended communities with limited health 
care infrastructure or high-risk populations may consider more restrictive protective measures 
than the State; and 
 
WHEREAS, as of August 16, 2021, there were 77,343 (residents and non-residents) cumulative 
known COVID-19 cases in the state, including travel-related cases in geographically isolated and 
remote communities; and 

Council Packet Page 124 



-2- 
 

 
WHEREAS, on April 26, 2021, Unalaska’s Local Risk Level was changed to Medium in 
accordance with Unalaska’s COVID-19 Emergency Response Plan; and  
 
WHEREAS, on August 17, 2021, Unalaska Local Risk Level was moved to High in accordance 
with the Emergency Response Plan; and 
 
WHEREAS, COVID-19 continues to pose a threat to the health, safety, and welfare to the 
residents of the City; and 
 
WHEREAS, this resolution shall have the same effect as a rule issued by the City Manager 
pursuant to Unalaska Code of Ordinances § 2.96.040; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Aleutians West Census Area is at 60% fully vaccinated and 73% with at least 
one dose of the vaccine. 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED: 

 
1. State Health Advisories. Everyone in the City of Unalaska (the City) is encouraged to follow 
current Health Advisories issued by the State of Alaska related to COVID-19.  
 
2. Face Coverings. All customers and visitors of businesses and organizations that are open and 
operating are encouraged to wear face coverings over their nose and mouth to provide additional 
protection for employees and customers. Additionally, employees and volunteers of open 
businesses and organizations are encouraged to wear face coverings when interacting with 
customers and visitors. Face coverings may be temporarily removed as necessary and incidental 
to utilizing the business or service. The City encourages anyone that is feeling ill to stay home 
from work and public facing business to ensure that Unalaska remains healthy throughout the 
year. 
 
A business owner or operator may refuse admission or service to any individual who fails to wear 
a face covering in violation of the business’s policy.  
 
3. Reserved. 
 
4. Traveler Quarantine. A person traveling into the City by vessel or airplane, from another 
community or port, is encouraged to self-quarantine for 10 days upon arriving at their destination. 
A quarantine period of 7 days is recommended for those travelers with a negative PCR test result 
obtained on days 6 or 7 of quarantine. No quarantine is necessary for travelers who have tested 
positive for COVID-19 within the past 3 months and who have recovered, as long as no new 
symptoms develop. No quarantine is necessary for travelers who have been fully vaccinated for 
at least 14 days prior to the date of travel. 
 
People traveling for critical business purposes should follow their approved plan according to 
State Health Advisory No. 4.  
 
5. Essential Services/Critical Infrastructure Safety Plans and Protocols. Businesses 
identified as “essential services” or as “critical infrastructure” that are recommended to submit 
plans or protocols to the State under Health Advisory No. 4 or its appendices should submit 
COVID-19 plans directly to the City if they are operating in Unalaska. The plans should be in a 
format substantially similar to that recommended by State Health Advisory No. 4. Such 

Council Packet Page 125 



-3- 
 

businesses may submit their plans, protocols, or relevant notifications to the City by email to 
COVID19PLANS@ci.unalaska.ak.us.  
 
6. Business COVID-19 Protection Measures and Protocols. All businesses and organizations 
which are open to members of the public at a physical location within the City are encouraged to 
post “COVID-19 Protection Measures and Procedures” on all entrances to and exits from the 
business. The measures should address sanitation and physical distancing approaches taken by 
the business or organization and any masking requirements of the business or organization.  
 
7. Marine Tourism. Marine tourism includes travel to Unalaska for non-essential purposes by 
state ferry, a cruise ship of any kind, or private vessel. Marine tourism passengers and providers 
are required to adhere to resolutions, ordinances, orders of the City Manager, or any other local 
mandates related to public safety during the COVID-19 pandemic. Local requirements are in 
addition to any laws, regulations, agreements or plans that apply to travelers, vessels, or 
businesses through the State of Alaska, the Center for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), 
or the US Department of Homeland Security.  
8. Reserved.  
 
9. Effective Date; Expiration. This resolution shall be effective at noon on Wednesday, August 
25, 2021, and expires at noon on Wednesday, October 13, 2021. The City Council may extend it 
as necessary, or the City Manager may extend it or amend it pursuant to the emergency 
management powers under Unalaska Code of Ordinances § 2.96, and Resolutions 2020-71 and 
2021-47. This resolution repeals and replaces any other inconsistent resolution or ordinance.  
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by a duly constituted quorum of the Unalaska City Council on August 
24, 2021. 
 
      ___________________________________ 
      Vincent M. Tutiakoff, Sr. 
      Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Marjie Veeder, CMC 
City Clerk 

Council Packet Page 126 



- 1 - 
 

 

MEMORANDUM TO COUNCIL 
 

 
To:  Mayor and City Council Members 
From:  Patrick Shipp, Acting Incident Commander 
Date:  August 24, 2021 
Re:  Resolution 2021-57: Encouraging community wide COVID-19 protective 

measures  
 

 
SUMMARY: This resolution was developed with close consultation of local health care providers, 
after consideration of CDC and State guidance in our local context, and continues encouraging 
community wide protective measures. The primary changes include the effective duration of the 
resolution and removal of several “whereas” statements that were no longer applicable. This 
resolution is set to expire on October 13, 2021, but can be revisited as necessary.  
 
PREVIOUS COUNCIL ACTION: On March 18, 2020, the Unalaska City Council passed 
Resolution 2020-16, declaring a local emergency to remain in effect for so long as the declaration 
of a Public Health Disaster in the State of Alaska remains in effect. 
 
Council approved Resolution 2020-17 on March 24, 2020. The focus of Resolution 2020-17 was 
on hunkering down, traveler quarantine and the closure of non-essential business.  
 
Council approved Resolution 2020-19 on April 14, 2020, extending and clarifying the orders 
outlined in Resolution 2020-17, and instituted additional measures protecting the public health.  
 
Council approved Resolution 2020-25 on April 28, 2020, extending the orders in Resolution 2020-
19.  
 
Council approved Resolution 2020-34 on May 12, 2020, extending the orders in Resolution 2020-
25 and replacing the “Hunker Down” section with a “Social Distancing” section. Also on May 12, 
Council discussed the topic of Cruise Ships and the Alaska Marine Highway System passengers. 
 
Council approved Resolution 2020-36 on May 26, 2020, extending and clarifying the orders in 
Resolution 2020-34 and specifically addressing the Alaska Marine Highway System.  
 
Council approved Resolution 2020-38 on June 9, 2020, extending and clarifying the orders in 
Resolution 2020-36 and removed the reference to the Alaska Marine Highway System.  
 
Council approved Resolution 2020-41 on June 23, 2020, extending the orders in Resolution 2020-
38 and allowing for individuals in traveler self-quarantine to go outside or in their personal vehicles 
and vessels with certain limitations.  
 
Council approved Resolution 2020-45 on July 14, 2020, extending the orders in Resolution 2020-
41 and clarified that time at sea counted toward the 14 day traveler self-quarantine time period.  
 

Council Packet Page 127 



- 2 - 
 

Council approved Resolution 2020-49 on July 28, 2020, extending the orders in Resolution 2020-
45, and removed a number of the “whereas” background statements to focus on the mitigation 
strategies and reduce the length of the document.  
 
Council approved Resolution 2020-51 on August 11, 2020, extending the orders in Resolution 
2020-49.  
 
Council approved Resolution 2020-54 on August 25, 2020, extending the orders in Resolution 
2020-51.  
 
Council approved Resolution 2020-58 on September 8, 2020, extending the orders in Resolution 
2020-54.  
 
Council approved Resolution 2020-63 on September 22, 2020, extending the orders in Resolution 
2020-58.  
 
Council approved Resolution 2020-66 on October 13, 2020, extending the orders in Resolution 
2020-63.  
 
Council approved Resolution 2020-70 on October 27, 2020, extending the orders in Resolution 
2020-66.  
 
Council approved Resolution 2020-71 on November 10, 2020 extending the local declaration of 
the public health emergency through June 30, 2021. On that same date, Council approved 
Resolution 2020-72, extending the orders in Resolution 2020-70 and revising it to provide 
additional clarity if there is a change the State’s declaration of emergency. This resolution expired 
November 25, 2020.  
 
Council approved Resolution 2020-73 on November 24, 2020, extending and further clarifying the 
orders in Resolution 2020-72. This resolution was set to expire on December 9 so that Council 
could reconsider the action at the December 8 Council Meeting. 
 
In response to the change in the local risk level, Council approved Resolution 2020-74 at a Special 
meeting on December 1, 2020 extending the orders in Resolution 2020-73 and adding sections 
addressing a hunker down order, limits to public gatherings, and temporarily closing in person 
service at bars and restaurants.  
 
Council approved Resolution 2020-77 on December 15, 2020 extending the orders in Resolution 
2020-73 and revising it to provide additional clarity if there is a change the State’s declaration of 
emergency. This resolution was set to expire on January 13, 2021. Council decided it would call 
a Special Meeting to reconsider the restrictions if the local risk level was changed before then. 
The allowance for time spent at sea to count toward the local traveler self-quarantine was 
removed. 
 
In response to the change in the local risk level, Council approved Resolution 2020-79 at a Special 
meeting on December 30, 2020. This resolution removed the hunker down order and public 
gathering size restriction, allowed for in person service at bars and restaurants to open to 50% 
capacity, and added back in the allotment for time at sea to count toward the local traveler self-
quarantine. Additional clarification was also included for critical infrastructure industries in the 
traveler quarantine section.  
 

Council Packet Page 128 



- 3 - 
 

In response to the increase in the local risk level to High, Council approved Resolution 2021-01 
at a Special meeting on January 8, 2021. This resolution reinstated the hunker down order and 
the limit to public gathering size, and temporarily stopped in person service at bars and 
restaurants.  
 
Council approved Resolution 2021-04 at their regular meeting on January 12, 2021. This 
resolution removed the hunker down order; removed the temporary closure of in-person dining, 
allowed for exceptions to the public gather size for schools, places of worship, and 
bars/restaurants.  
 
Council approved Resolution 2021-05 at their regular meeting on January 26, 2021. The 
resolution clarified that police and other city employee may enter businesses for the purposes of 
monitoring compliance with the resolution or state health orders.  
 
Council approved Resolution 2021-09 at their regular meeting on February 9, 2021. The 
resolution addressed marine tourism and Alaskan residents traveling on the Ferry to access 
critical needs.  
 
On February 10, 2021, the local Risk Level was reduced to Medium from High. A special meeting 
was scheduled for Council to consider Resolution 2021-10 removing the capacity restrictions 
currently in place. Council voted that resolution down given new information that would likely result 
in an increased risk level once again.  
 
On February 23, 2021, Council approved Resolution 2021-11 extending previous protective 
measures, updating references to State Health Advisories and treating them as requirements, 
and updating Traveler Self Quarantine requirements to align with CDC guidance.  
 
On March 3, 2021, Council approved Resolution 2021-13 at a Special Meeting extending many 
of the protective measures, removing limit to public gatherings because in response to the 
decreased Local Risk level, and updating Traveler Self Quarantine requirements to align with 
CDC guidance. 
 
On March 23, 2021, Council approved Resolution 2021-15 extending previous protective 
measures. The resolution removed the three month time limitation for fully vaccinated individuals 
in the traveler quarantine section, based on updated guidance; and removed the passenger limit 
in taxis, consistent with the opening up of other business and gatherings. 
 
On April 13, 2021, Council approved Resolution 2021-18 extending previous protective measures. 
Council chose to keep the measures as they were, even though the local Risk Level increased 
from Medium to High. The situation continued to be monitored.  
 
On April 27, 2021, Council approved Resolution 2021-20 extending previous protective measures. 
The Risk Level returned back to Medium on April 26, 2021. 
 
On May 11, 2021, Council approved Resolution 2021-28 extending previous protective measures.  
 
On May 25, 2021, Council approved Resolution 2021-34 transitioning the previous required 
community wide protective measures into recommended ones. This resolution was developed 
with close consultation of local health care providers, after consideration of CDC and State 
guidance in our local context.  
 

Council Packet Page 129 



- 4 - 
 

On June 8, 2021, Council approved Resolution 2021-43 continuing support for the recommend 
community wide protective measures. The local Risk Level was reduced to Low on June 8, 2021 
as well. 
 
On June 22, 2021, Council approved Resolution 2021-48, encouraging community wide COVID-
19 protective measures. 
 
BACKGROUND: The State of Alaska’s COVID-19 disaster declaration was officially ended by 
Governor Dunleavy on April 30, 2021. Pursuant to HB 76 and the Department of Health and 
Human Services COVID-19 Declaration of Public Health Emergency dated April 30, 2021, the 
State will continue to assist with testing, vaccinations, contact tracing, and take other limited, 
necessary actions. The State has issued four health advisories, listed below, addressing general 
safety, travel and critical infrastructure, with appendices focusing on the seafood industry. 
 
Health Advisory 1 – Recommendations to Keep Alaskans Safe – Addresses the safety 
measures Alaskans can take to mitigate the spread of COVID-19. 
 
Health Advisory 2 – International and Interstate Travel – Other than prohibiting persons who 
are currently positive with COVID-19, the State no longer has entry or travel testing requirements. 
The existing airport testing infrastructure will remain in place to protect Alaskans and visitors alike, 
but testing is voluntary.  
 
Health Advisory 3 – Intrastate Travel – Like Health Advisory 2, the State’s guidance regarding 
intrastate travel was modified April 26. It continues to permit local travel restrictions, and outlines 
expectations of communities for allowing travel of Critical Infrastructure personnel, as well as for 
community members and those traveling for critical personal needs. 
 
Health Advisory 4 – Critical Infrastructure – The advisory provides clear guidance for Critical 
Infrastructure businesses operating in Alaska to protect both communities and industries. There 
are appendices for Seafood Processing Workers; Independent Commercial Fishing Vessels; and 
Independent Commercial Harvesters. 
 
The City’s current local declaration is set to expire on August 25, 2021, and the continued 
emergency declaration is being considered by City Council this evening. 
 
DISCUSSION: Our local numbers continue to be at a level that allow for patient care to be 
managed by local health care providers. Vaccination rates continue to rise, and the vaccine itself 
is widely available. Yet, B-Season is underway with an influx of workers from all over the globe 
living and working in close quarters and supporting our primary economic driver.  
 
Recently there was a spike in the wastewater sampling causing the EOC concern after a weekend 
filled with large public gatherings. The week following the gatherings we saw some additional 
positive cases. After monitoring throughout the week following, The EOC believes that our local 
healthcare systems are functioning normally. While we are at the high risk level the EOC will 
monitor throughout the weekend and a decision will be made weather to decrease our risk level 
or recommend action from council.  
 
The effective duration of this resolution is about two months. The hope is that this will provide 
much desired consistency, but we will continue to monitor the situation and adjust as necessary. 
Resolution 2021-57 is set expire October 13, 2021 and will be revisited at the Council Meeting on 
October 12, 2021.  

Council Packet Page 130 



- 5 - 
 

 
The resolution’s subject matter itself is unchanged from previous meetings, and outlines 
recommended – but not required – community wide protective measures. With adequate support 
in place, this focus on personal responsibility and education seems to be working. This resolution 
was developed with close consultation of local health care providers, after consideration of CDC 
and State guidance in our local context. An overview is provided below.  
 
 State Health Advisories - This section references and encourages everyone in the City to 

follow the State’s Health Advisories. This is not mandated locally. 
 

 Face Coverings - Customers and visitors of businesses and organizations are encouraged, 
but not locally mandated, to wear a covering over their nose and mouth. Additionally, 
employees or volunteers of businesses and organizations are encouraged, but not locally 
mandated, to wear a face covering when interacting with customers or visitors.  

 
 Traveler Self Quarantine - Individuals traveling into the City by vessel or airplane are 

encouraged, but not locally mandated, to self-quarantine.  
 
 Essential Services/Critical Infrastructure Safety Plans - Businesses that are 

recommended to submit plans to the State as a result of Health Advisory 4 are encouraged, 
but not locally mandated, to submit those to the City if they are operating in Unalaska.  

 
 Protective Protocols - All business open to the public are encouraged, but not locally 

mandated, post their basic measures to protect the public health on their doors.  
 
ALTERNATIVES: Council may choose to approve, amend or disapprove this resolution. 
Ultimately, the decisions on what is contained in the resolutions addressing community wide 
protective measures are policy decisions made by Council. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: Unknown at this time. 
 
LEGAL: This resolution’s subject matter, like all the other public health measures that Council 
has considered during this pandemic, was drafted in close collaboration with Sam Severin, one 
of our City Attorneys.  
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: The City Manager recommends approval of the form of this 
resolution, as it has been developed based on Council discussions and consultation with local 
health officials. Council may wish to alter some of the details based on further discussion.  
 
PROPOSED MOTION: I move to adopt Resolution 2021-57.  
  
 
 
 
 

Council Packet Page 131 



CITY OF UNALASKA 
UNALASKA, ALASKA 

RESOLUTION 2021-58 

A RESOLUTION OF THE UNALASKA CITY COUNCIL AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER 
TO ENTER INTO A CONTRACT WITH PARKSIDE DEVELOPMENT, LLC TO CONSTRUCT 
PRIMARY ELECTRIC, WATER AND SEWER UTILITY SERVICE EXTENSIONS FOR THE 
PARKSIDE ESTATES SUBDIVISION 

WHEREAS, Unalaska Code of Ordinances Title 10 sets the terms and conditions upon which 
Primary Utility Services will be extended; and 

WHEREAS, Parkside Development, LLC has formally requested the City’s approval to construct 
Primary Utility Service infrastructure as part of its 23-parcel residential subdivision project; and 

WHEREAS, Parkside Development, LLC’s request to install Water and Wastewater Primary Utility 
Service infrastructure has been reviewed and approved by the Alaska Department of 
Environmental Conservation; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council has determined it is in the best interests of the City to have such a 
project; and 

WHEREAS, Parkside Development, LLC has complied with the requirements of Title 10 in 
requesting a contract for the construction of Primary Utility Service Extensions.  

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Unalaska City Council authorizes the City 
Manager to enter into a Contract with Parkside Development, LLC for the construction of Primary 
Electric, Water, and Sewer Utility Service Extensions. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by a duly constituted quorum of the Unalaska City Council on August 
24, 2021. 

___________________________________ 
Vincent M. Tutiakoff, Sr. 
Mayor 

ATTEST: 

__________________________ 
Marjie Veeder, CMC 
City Clerk 

Council Packet Page 132 



- 1 -

MEMORANDUM TO COUNCIL 

To: Mayor and City Council Members 
From: Dan Winters, Director, Department of Public Utilities 
Through: J. R. Pearson, Acting City Manager 
Date:  August 24, 2021 
Re: Resolution 2021-58: Authorizing the City Manager to enter into a contract with 

Parkside Development, LLC to construct primary electric, water and sewer utility 
service extensions for the Parkside Estates Subdivision 

SUMMARY:  Resolution 2021-58 will approve the request by Parkside Development, LLC 
(Parkside) to extend primary utilities (electric, water and wastewater) to a 23-lot subdivision 
development, Parkside Estates.  

PREVIOUS COUNCIL ACTION: Council has taken no action on this particular item. The criteria 
for Utility Extensions are contained in Unalaska Code of Ordinances (UCO) Title 10, Public 
Utilities, which received its last major update via Ordinance 2006-14, approved and adopted 
December 29, 2006. 

BACKGROUND: UCO § 8.08.100 outlines the developer’s responsibilities in making subdivision 
improvements. Parkside has been granted preliminary plat approval for the Parkside Estates 
Subdivision by the Planning Commission through Planning Commission Resolution 2021-12 on 
June 17, 2021.  

UCO §10.04.035 sets out the basic conditions for extending utility services, and UCO § 10.04.060 
details the conditions private developers must meet in order to receive the City’s approval for the 
extension of primary utility services. Per UCO § 10.04.060(A), private developers are required to 
apply and be granted approval by the City Council to extend primary electric, water or wastewater 
services. Per UCO § 10.04.060(C)(1), private developers shall file a written request to the City to 
extend or expand a City utility system. Parkside submitted the attached written request on May 
17, 2021 in accordance with UCO § 10.04.060(A) and § 10.04.060(C)(1) and is seeking City 
Council approval of this request. Per UCO § 10.04.060(C)(2), the City and developer shall enter 
into a contract that addresses design and construction costs, bonding, as-built drawings, 
ownership, testing and expanded capacity. City staff have been working with the City attorney to 
draft such a contract. A copy of this draft agreement is attached for reference. 

DISCUSSION: Resolution 2021-58 represents the City’s approval of Parkside’s extension of 
primary utility services for the Parkside Estates Subdivision and is separate from the Building 
Permit Application process which will be required for development on each individual lot when 
they are eventually developed.  

Parkside has received an Approval to Construct and an Interim Approval to Operate from the 
Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation, Division of Environmental Health, Drinking 
Water Program for this Project. Parkside has also received Alaska Department of Environmental 
Conservation, Division of Water, Conditional Approval to Construct a Wastewater Collection 
System.  

Council Packet Page 133 



- 2 -

Parkside’s prime contractor is Northern Alaska Contractors, LLC, a local, experienced, and well-
respected entity with whom the City and its Utilities have a good working relationship. 

If Resolution 2021-58 is approved then the City will negotiate with Parkside to enter into a 
development agreement that addresses the issues identified in UCO § 10.04.060(C)(2). 

ALTERNATIVES: The alternative would be to not approve this request by Parkside. This would 
stop the development of the Parkside Estates 23-lot subdivision.  

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: Parkside will bear all costs of constructing the utility extensions, 
including bonding and fees for testing and inspection services provided by the Utilities Division 
and third-party inspectors.  

LEGAL: City staff are working with the City attorney to develop a development agreement 
contract in accordance with UCO § 10.04.060(C)(2). 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends Council approve Resolution 2021-58. 
Parkside’s subdivision development will increase revenue for the City and provide much needed 
housing units within the community. 

PROPOSED MOTION: I move to adopt Resolution 2021-58. 

CITY MANAGER COMMENTS: I recommend approval of Resolution 2021-58. Available housing 
has been ongoing issue in the community and this subdivision development will be a significant 
step toward resolving this issue. 

ATTACHMENTS:  

1. Parkside Development, LLC’s Formal Request for Utility Extension; and
2. Draft Development Agreement between the City of Unalaska and Parkside Development, 

LLC. 

Council Packet Page 134 



Parkside Development, LLC 

May 17, 2021 

Attn: Dan Winters/Dept. of Public Utilities 

PO Box 610 

Unalaska, Alaska 99685 

PO Box 810 
Unalaska, Alaska 99685 

Re: Utility Extension for Parkside Estates Subdivision 

Dan, 

Parkside Development, LLC is requesting a utility extension for electricity, water, and sewer for our twenty-three

parcel residential subdivision located in Unalaska, Alaska. 

Northern Alaska Contractors, LLC (NAC) will be installing the utilities per the safety and quality standards of the 

Department of Public Works/Public Utilities Standard Details dated January 29, 2018, and following the Extension of 

Primary Utility Service form on approval of the extension. 

Below we have provided detailed information needed by the City of Unalaska to approve the extension of utilities. 

Please contact our office at the number above if more information is needed to meet the approval standards. 

• Owner Information: Parkside Development, LLC- PO Box 810 - Unalaska, Alaska 99685 

• Contractor Information: Northern Alaska Contractors, LLC - 3610 Mere Circle - Anchorage, Alaska 99502 

• Engineers: Scot Menzies, PE, SE, LS - Menzies Engineering Group, Inc, Ketchikan, Alaska 

• Surveyor: John Segesser, PLS - Segesser Surveys, Soldotna, Alaska 

• Project Information: A 23 parcel residential subdivision 

• Project Address: NHN E. Broadway Ave, Unalaska, Alaska 99685 

• Subdivision: Tract 11D", Parkside Estates Subdivision, Aleutians East County, Alaska 

• Plat#: 2011-7, Aleutian Island recording District, Third Judicial District, State of Alaska 

• Lot Size: 478,942 sf. 

• SWPPP- APDES Project/Permit Number: AKR10GG30 

After installing utilities and approval from a licensed engineer, Parkside Development will forward the as-bullts and a 

copy of the third-party inspection report to the City of Unalaska; at that time, the City shall become the owner of all 

Utilities and rights-of-way. 

Thank you for your time regarding this matter. I have attached a copy of the ADEC approvals for the sewer and water 

installation and approved design drawings to this letter. 

Regards, 

Glenn Olson, Owner 

Northern Alaska Contractors, LLC 
Parkside Development, LLC 

Council Packet Page 135 



THF STATE 

~ (~~LASKA 

October 28, 2019 

Scot Menzies, P.E. 
Menzies Engineering Group 
9737 Mud Bay Road, Suite 301 
Ketchikan, AK 99901 

Re: Parkside Estates Snbdivision Project, Unafaska P\v'S 
Construction Approval 

Mr. Menzies: 

Department of Environ111ental 
Conservation 

DIVISION OF ENVIRONrv1ENT AL HEAL TH 
Drinking: \\Tater Progrnm 

555 Cordo·,o Street 
Anch orage, Alaska 9950\ 

/;loin: 907.269.6064 
Toll Free: 866.956.7656 

Fox: 907.269.7650 
dec.alosko.gov 

chris.pletnikoff@aloska.gov 

File: City of Unalaska 
PWSID: AK2260309 

Class: Community 
Source: Surface & Groundwater 

On July 7, 2019, this office received your submittal requesting Construction Approval for the 

Parkside Estates Subdivision project in Unalaska. Additional information and revised drawings dated 

10/9 /19 were received on October 10 and 21, 2019 to support the submittal. This letter issues 
Approval to Construct for this project, as detailed in the submitted engineering plans and 
summarized below. 

Project Descdption 

This project will develop a twenty-lot subdivision, Parkside Estates, in a single-family, residential 

zone in Unalaska, at 1500 East Broadway Avenue. 

The proposed water distribution system includes installation of 950 feet of 8-inch ductile iron, class 

52 water line that loops south from two connections to the existing water distribution main on East 

Broadway Avenue, just north of Kelty Field Road. Water improvements also include two gate 

valves, two fire hydrants, and service line stub outs and appurtenances. 

The project will also install sanitary sewer and storm drain improvements. 

Approval to Construct 

The submitted engineering plans and supporting information have been reviewed and are approved 

in accordance with Alaska Drinking Water Regulations 18 AAC 80. The enclosed Construction 
and Operation Certificate, with the Approval to Construct section completed, constitutes 
written approval. 

Deviations from approved plans which affect capacity, flow, pressure, operation, compliance, and 

materials of major system components (particularly any components which do not meet National 

Sanitation Foundation (NSF) Standard 61), must be approved by the Drinking Water Program prior 

to their construction or implementation. 

Council Packet Page 136 



2 
Parkside Estates Subdivision, Unalaska PWS AK2260309 

Requirements for Interim Approval to Operate 

Interim Approval to Operate (IATO) must be requested and granted prior to serving water from the 

new water lines and may be requested for sections of the project as they are completed. As part of 

your submittal requesting JATO, please provide written verification of the following. 

1. Construction of the modifications to the water system have been completed under the 

direction of a professional engineer licensed to practice in the State of Alaska and in 

accordance with the engineering plans and specifications. 

2. Water distribution lines have been successfully pressure tested. 

3. Water distribution lines have been flushed, disinfected, and sampled for total coliform in 

accordance with A WW A Standard C651. Provide the location in the system where each 

sample was taken (plan or station numbers), the time and date of each sample, and the 

results for each sample. 'fhis includes any existing water lines that were depressurized to 

connect the new water lines. 

Requirements for Final Approval to Operate 

Final Approval to Operate (F ATO) must be requested within 90 days after receiving IATO for the 

final section of this project. As part of the submittal requesting FATO, please provide Record 

Drawings, sealed and signed by an engineer licensed in the State of Alaska, confirming that the 

system meets the requirements of 18 AAC 80, and verifies the granted separation distance waiver 

encroachments were unchanged. "Record Drawings" refers to the original plans prepared for 

construction and department approval, revised to reflect how the system was constructed or 
installed. 

Limitations, Expirations, and Appeal Process 

This determination is not approval of omissions or oversights by this office or non-compliance with 

any regulation. This does not imply the granting of additional authorizations, nor obligate any 

federal, state, or local regulatory body to grant future authorizations. This determination does not 

guarantee correctness of functional design or waiver the owner's responsibility for continued 

compliance with state, federal, and local regulations. Before proceeding you are advised to obtain 

any other necessary project authorizations/permits. 

If the applicant fails to construct, install, alter, renovate, or improve the water system within two 

years, this approval is void in accordance with 18 AAC 80.215(6). If during the two-year period site 

conditions, plans and information, and requirements in 18 AAC 80 do not change, and if the 

applicant pays the required fee, the department will grant the applicant an extension. 

The applicant, owner or operator, or other person adversely affected by this decision may request an 

informal review of this decision in accordance with 18 AAC 15.185, or may request an adjudicatory 

hearing in accordance with 18 AAC 15.19 5-15.340. Requests may be sent by mail, email, or 

facsimile. Informal review requests must be received by the Division Director within 20 days of this 
decision. Adjudicatory hearing requests must be received by the Commissioner within 30 days of 

this decision or the decision of the informal review issued by the Division Director; otherwise, the 

191028_Parkside_Estates_Sub_ Unalaska_260309 _ CA.docx 
Council Packet Page 137 



3 
Parkside Estates Subdivision, Unalaska PWS AK2260309 

right to appeal is waived. For more information, visit htt;ps://dec.alaska.gov/cotnmish/teview
pagce. 

If you have any questions regarding this plan review, please call me at 907-269-6064 or email at 

chris.plemikoff@aJgska.gov. 

Sincerely, 

~~= 
Chris Pletnikoff, PE 
Engineer I 
DEC Drinking Water Program 

Encl.: Construction and Operations Certificate for Public Water Systems 

Cc.: City of Unalaska, Public Works Department 

Dan Winters, dwinters@ci.unalaska.ak.us 

Jeremiah Kirchhofer, jkirchhofer@ci.unalaska.ak.us 

Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation, Drinking Water Program 

Leah Van Sandt, EPS, leah.vansandt@alaska.gov 

Jessica Cahill, EPT, jessica.cahill@alaska.gov 

191028_Parkside_Estates_Sub_ Unalaska_260309 _ CA.docx Council Packet Page 138 



State of Alaska 
Department of Environmental Conservation 

Drinking Water Program 

PUBLIC WATER SYSTEM 
CONSTRUCTION AND OPERATION CERTIFICATE 

Approvals listed below are for compliance with the requirements of the State of 
Alaska Drinking Water Regulations 18 AAC 80. Any approvals granted do not 

Imply or grant any other federal, state or local authorizations that may be required 

Water System Name: Unalaska Water System PWSID: AK2260309 

Water Source: Surface & Ground Water Classification: Community 

• System Wide Approval 181 Modification Approval 
Project Description: Parkside Estates Subdivision Project, Unalaska PWS 

This project will develop a twenty-lot subdivision, Parkside Estates, in a single-family, residential zone in Unalaska, at 1500 
East Broadway Avenue. The proposed water distribution system includes installation of 950 feet of 8-inch ductile iron, class 
52 water line that loops south from two connections to the existing water distribution main on East Broadway A venue, just 
north of Kelty Field Road. Water improvements also include two gate valves, two fire hydrants, and service line stub outs and 
appurtenances. 

A. APPROVAL TO CONSTRUCT 
Plans submitted in accordance with 18 AAC 80.205 by Scot Menzies, P.E. have been received and are 

~a~ submi~ed • conditionally approved, see attached letter 

~ - t.--"1.- Engineer 11 DEC October 28, 2019 
Chris Plelnikofl', .P.E. (Title) (Date of Approval) 
(Reviewing Engineer) 

If applicant.fails to construct, alter, install, or modify the system within two years of the date of approval to construct, 
approval ts void, and plans must be resubmitted for Department review and approval (as per I 8 AAC 80.215 (a)) . 

Approved Change Order 
Change (contract order number or description): ________________________ _ 

(Reviewing Engineer) (Title) (Date of Approval) 

B. APPROVAL TO OPERATE 
This section must be completed and signed by the Department before any water is made available for pub/ ic use. 

Interim Approval to Operate: 
This interim approval to operate expires on ______ . It is illegal to operate a public water system beyond the 
expiration date without Fina/ Approval to Operate from the Department. 

(Reviewing Engineer) (Title) (Date of Approval) 

Interim Approval Extension: 
This interim approval to operate has been extended to _______ _ 

(Reviewing Engineer) (Title) (Date of Approval) 

Interim Approval Extension: 
This interim approval to operate has been extended to _______ _ 

(Reviewing Engineer) (fitle) (Date of Approval) 

Final Approval to Operate 
Record drawings and other documents submitted to the Department, or an inspection by the Department, has confirmed 
that the public water system was constructed in substantial conformance to 18 AAC 80. 

(Reviewing Engineer) (Title) (Date of Approval) 
Council Packet Page 139 



Depa1·tment of Environmental Conservation 
DIVISION OF WATER 

July 17, 2019 
Scot A. MenziesP.E. 
9737 Mud Bay Road, Suite 301 
Ketchikan, Alaska 9990 I 

555 Cordova S!reet, 3'0 f!oo, 
And1orC1ge, AK 99501 
Bill Rietl1: 907.269.7519 

Re: Unalaska-Parkside Estates Subdivision Tract D-Wastewater Collection System-Conditional Approval to 
Construct-.ADEC Plan Tracking Number 28125 

Dear Mr. Porter, 

On July 9, 2019 engineering plans, payment and needed documentation of construction forms were 
received for the Parkside Estates Subdivision, Tract D. The Project adds over 880lf of 8 inch Ductile iron 
pipe and 4 standard manholes which per your documentation has been accepted by the City oflJnalaska. 

The Department has reviewed the engineering plans submitted for the Sewer Rehabilitatio.n of the 
domestic wastewater system and per the Wastewater Regulations 18 AAC 72.235 a conditional approval 
to construct is issued for the domestic wastewater systems. A "Certificate of Construction" so marked for 
the domestic wastewater system is enclosed. Please use the referenced plan number in correspondence 
regarding this project. 

This approval is contingent upon compliance with the following conditions: 

1) The engineer must provide site inspections to assure that the design is maintained. Please 
also identify on the Record Drawings any deviations from this plan to allow for our 
review. Also pressure testing results and alinement must be assured a form used for 
Lamp testing is attached for your use please complete it. Please also provide assurance 
that the City will now be responsible for this additional line as a part of their collection 
system. 

2) If the applicant fails to construct, alter, install, or modify the system within two (2) years 
after the date that the department issues an approval to construct, the approval is void, 
and plans must be resubmitted, [along with associated fees], for department review and 
approval. 

3) Deviations from approved plans which affect capacity, flow, operation, major design of 
units, point of discharge, materials of major system components (such as pipe, lagoon 
liners, etc.), or separation distances, must be approved by DEC in writing prior to their 
implementation. 

Council Packet Page 140 



4) This approval is contingent upon compliance with the conditions of Wastewater Disposal 
Regulations, 18 AAC 72.235, Construction Certification. The noted section of the 
regulations requires that a "Certification of Construction" be completed and submitted to 
the Department within ninety (90) days of completion of construction. As-built plans or 
record drawings should indicate any changes or deviations from the approved plans to 
facilitate final review. A "Certification of Construction" fonn is enclosed for your use. 

5) This approval is contingent upon your receipt of any other state, federal or local 
authorizations which are required for your project. You are required to obtain all other 
necessary authorizations before proceeding with your project. 

6) You are advised that if this development will require placing fill in wetlands or working 
in a stream, river, or lake, permits from the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers and the Alaska 
Department of Natural Resource may be required. The previous required Coastal 
Projects Questionnaire could be helpful to you to identify other permits and approvals 
that may be required for your project. 

This approval does not imply the granting of additional authorizations nor obligate any state, federal or 
local regulatory body to grant required authorizations. 

Any person who disagrees with this decision may request an adjudicatory hearing in accordance with 18 
AAC 15.195- 18 AAC 15.340 or an informal review by the Division Director in accordance with 18 AAC 
15.185. Informal review requests must be delivered to the Division Director, 555 Cordova, Anchorage, 
Alaska 99501, within 20 days of receiving the decision. Guidance information on the informal review 
process may be found at http: //www.dec.stalc.ak.us/commish/Review-Guidancc.htm. Adjudicatory 
hearings requests must be delivered to the Commissioner of the Department of Environmental 
Conservation, P.O. Box 111800, Juneau, Alaska 99801, within 30 days of the decision. If a hearing is not 
requested within 30 days, the right to appeal is waived. 

Thank you for your cooperation. If you have any questions please do not hesitate to contact me at 269~ 
7519. 

Respectfully, 

v~n.~ 
William R. Rieth, P.E. 
Environmental Engineer 

Council Packet Page 141 



STATE OF ALASKA 
DEPAfHMENT OF. ENVIRONM~NTAL CONSc:RVATION 

CONSTRUCT!ON ANO OPERATlON CERTIFICATE 

- -··------

locate a In () >.JltLASJ<:/t , Alaska, subn,ltted In aocord~nce wl~h 18 AAC 72.225 

by. Seo]' A, M.,aAJ¢1 ES. P. £.., have been reviewed and am 
I 

SY rm.e OATE 

tt constructlon·has·not started wrtt,ln ~o y~~rs or the approval d°ate1 t11 li c~rtltrcats is void and naw p·!an.s and 
spac lfiqatlon~ must be submlttad for ravlaw and approval before conslrucUon. · . 

t APPROVED CHANGE ORDERS 

Change (~ontract order no. or da.sorlp_ijva releranca) Approved by Date 

APPROVAL TO OPERATE 

The "APPROVAL ro OPERATE" ssotlon must be completed and ~lgned by ths 
Osp :irtmant bators this system Is made available for. usa. 

i:,e construction of tha ---------- domestic wast~waterdisposal 

:ystam was cqmpf ated on --------- (data) . Tna systam Is harsby 

j~3.ntad interim approval to op~_rats for 90. days foil owing lhe complatlon data. 

'( TlTl: DATE 

3-bullt ~la.ns submi .3d during the interim approval parlod,.or an inspsctiof'\ by tha 
3f:3.,~men. has conflrrnsd th ~ system was constructad according t6 tha approved plans . . 
s syst::m Is her~by gr~ntad final' approval to opsrate. 

Council Packet Page 142 



State of Alaska 
DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL CONSERVATION ~'\!,· 

; ' 

Certification of Construction for 
D01nestic Wastewater Systems 

Jnstruc lilrn : With in 90 days after the conslrnction, installation, or modification of a project is 
completed, the owner, the contractor(s) responsible for constructing the project, and a rcgislervcl 
engineer responsible for construction inspection, must complete and sign thi form declaring that 
the project was constructed in accordance with the most recent Department-approved plans, or in 
accor lance w"th the attached a:;i-built drawings. 

:~ . 

If a project i being completed in pl.lascd c nstrnction, a map shall be attached showing that 
portion f the project being declared complete I on the date stated in Section A - Owners Section. 
Completion of each phase of a project must be declared as it is completed. Additional 
Ce1tification ofConslructi n forms are available from any Department of Environmental 
Conservation office. 

P/e{lse type or print, except for signatures 

SECTION A- Owner's Section 

Name and brief description of the project _________________ _ 

Owner Name ---------------
O wn er Address ------------ ----- - - --------

City State Zip 

ADEC Project No. _ ____ _ Date Project Completed: 

I certify that I am the owner of lhe above-referenced project. I forther certify that l'his project 
was constrncted in accordance with the lat l plans st1bmitted to and :-1pprnved by the Alaska 
Department of Environmental Conservation (ADEC)i or in accordance with the attached as-built 
drawings. I understand that I may be required to take remedial measure to correct any 
constmction which was completed without prior ADEC approval> wh[ch departs rom the 
approved plans, and which is fcund to be inconsistent with the applicable requirements of ADEC 
wastewater disposal regulations (18 AAC 72). 

Signature of Owner (Please Sign in Ink) Date 

Page l of2 

Council Packet Page 143 



SECTION B- Contractor's Section 

1 certify that r (or an individual under my dire,:t supervi: ion) have conducted an inspection of the 
pr jecl referenced in ct ion A, or portions of 1hc project wh ich I had the re:sponsibility for 
onstructing, ttnd tha.t to the best of my knowledge and infomrntion the project or those 

portion. was r were constrnctcd in accordance with the lalcst pl.ms submitted to and approved 
by the Alaska Department of ·nvir nmenlal Con ervati n, or in accol'dsnce with the attached as
built drawings. 

Printed Name of Contractor Signature of Contrnctor Date 

For multiple contractors, if applicable: 

Printed Name of Contractor Signature of Contractor Date 

Printed Name of Contractor Signature of Contractor Date 

SECTION C- Engineer's Section 

J certify that I (or any individual undt:r my direct. upervision) have cl)nducted an inspection o 
the above referenced project, and that to the best of my knowledge and information, the project 
was constructed in accordance with: (check one of th following) 

[ ] the 1atest plans submitted to and approved by the Alaska Department of 
Environmental Conservation 

Q[ 

l""IZ-COl?A 
IX! in accordance with the attached as,.bu.i,1-l drawings. 

I further certify that: 

[ ] all conditions placed on the construction approval have been met as described 
briefJ.y below: (if using a cover letter, you may write "see cover letter") 

Signature of Professional Engineer 
Responsible for Construction Inspection 

(Please Sign in Ink) 

State of Alaska 
Professional Engineer 
Registration Number 

Typed or Printed Name of Professional Engineer 

Page 2 of2 

Date 

Council Packet Page 144 



Comm.ulJty 

1>10};:lcl Muata-(1) 

-~ 

S,upcaitmlmt 

Er,gintu 

tngfnur 

SEWER tlNE LAMP TI:ST - CERTIFICA 110N FORM- v.2106 
~~huNaUY1tHaalh~(JHS}So~lilcfl9JmGJfdcduJG'->.0-]j(~:igsa) 

PrinlfdNcma 

Slgn1ture &.~ 

•, 

rev Prqca&Jrc: 
I 

1. -~ lbd be dOM e1kf bwdl kcoqiadod niam,kih.· 
i. fil'k¢ Jg)Jt ~ one dru:l (lv~ mu1lola) of s.th ~p,t ~ ~ m&'.holti. · 
3. "fd Molif mw,i ~ vhllll« (~ ab~ mul'-de) to•~ fw grade•~ 
-i. >l. lod. lJJ'W'HoDn" rrbJl,l bo vi:A,k (at oblaMtlaa ~) tD •paw- for twrlmrtal of,g ivnent:. 
~· 11.fFpocr~rncra. dlip!.ko4~orcUkr~•niud.:I. 
'6, Pafnnnll<\W ~ test oa ooy ~ Jedia!u. 

' 

l.1aip41d I lnirnif»d ObPtvab Ohservllt!OA t.pgtha.twMn •p,.u;" htlud lwne of P~Slli 
~ M..~ HMholll Manldc HriJob Of" ~Tait ~- Strut Name Ul. ~r st~on J,OIJ .. rwv.- Stalm . ,i=-n T cit Rnlllt. -~ --,_ I 

I I 

, -

---·-··--· - - - ---··· ------ - -- _ .... ··-- ··· .. . ···•·-

. , ..... - t 

Grade; ,'1fo \fTli-nl fesf ll~.mlfR,cmm\.-.•• ~ {tll,V)J.\lC.ijl Te(R,mill F.um2k•: 
. 

' . . . 
'G-Flll.• '>J-1/4-". •o-HJ(_( ,"fi-3/'t" 'H-fll..t': 'li-t/-t· °l;-H.-\l="' 

0 0 ~ ~ 0 0 • () 
... P"'-3•" -FJLU" "Fail·· •Fail" ''Pan" .. fail"' ··1~ '"?au" 

'J 
i fl uJ . ,( . 

a : "%. ' 
-c.:: l - ~ I 
fV I ;- J l .... 
\:) I X-![r> 

Al 
I I j H 
( ). (".) 

I /" ' 
,. 

\ f C 
I (). ( ) 
( )- (y 
r~y 
' [ C) 
( \t 
\._ I! ( ) 

• ("' t 
~ _) I () 

• 
I 

Council Packet Page 145 



 

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
PARKSIDE SUBDIVISION  Page 1 of 5 

 DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

PARKSIDE SUBDIVISION 

 This Agreement is made ___________, 2021 between the City of Unalaska, an Alaska 
municipal corporation, and Parkside Development, LLC, an Alaska limited liability company 
(“Developer”).  

1. Scope of Agreement 

A. Development. This Agreement applies to all improvements, including sewer utility, water 
utility, electrical utility, and road and drainage, intended for dedication to the City (the “Work”) 
as part of Developer’s development and subdivision of Tract D, Parkside Estates Subdivision, 
Plat 2011-7, as further described in City of Unalaska, Alaska, Planning Commission/Platting 
Board Resolution 2021-12. 

B. Expiration. This Agreement is made in connection with the Planning Commission’s 
approval of a preliminary plat and to enable Developer to proceed to application for a final plat. 
Accordingly, the Agreement shall expire upon expiration of the primary plat approval as set forth 
in UCO 8.08.070(A)(4)(d). 

2. Design, Construction, and Testing 

A. Developer agrees that the Work will be performed in accordance with: 

i. All applicable federal, state, and municipal law, and specifically, though not limited 
to, Unalaska Code of Ordinances Chapter 8.08, Title 10, Title 15, and Title 17; 

ii. City of Unalaska Standard Details dated January 29th, 2018; 

iii. Alaska Standard Specifications for Highway Construction 2017 edition and Alaska 
DOT&PF Southcoast Region Special Specifications dated 2017; and 

iv. All plans submitted by Developer and approved by the City. 

B. Developer shall pay 100 percent of all costs associated with construction, including but 
not limited to design, engineering, full time inspection, testing, as well as all work, labor, and 
materials furnished for the Work. 

C. Developer shall have prepared by a registered engineer a complete set of construction 
plans, including profiles, cross-sections, specifications, and other supporting data for the Work. 
Such construction plans shall be based on data contained in the approved preliminary plat and 
conform to the requirements for utilities, roads, and subdivisions set forth in the Unalaska Code 
of Ordinances, Plans shall be submitted to the Department of Public Works for review prior to 
commencing the Work. 

D. Developer shall have prepared by a registered engineer a detailed cost estimate for the 
construction of the Work.  This engineers’ cost estimate shall be submitted to the Department of 
Public Works for review prior to commencing the Work. 

Council Packet Page 146 



 

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
PARKSIDE SUBDIVISION  Page 2 of 5 

E. Developer warrants that the Work shall be performed in a workmanlike manner and that 
all materials incorporated into the Work will be new and of good quality. If requested by the 
Director of Public Works, Developer shall furnish satisfactory evidence as to the source, kind 
and quality of the materials. 

F. Prior to beginning the Work, Developer shall submit to the Director of Public Works a 
proposal for inspection and testing of the Work. The proposal shall: 

i. Identify an independent registered engineer who has no financial interest in the 
development retained by Developer to inspect and test the Work; 

ii. Include a schedule for inspections by the City during such times as the Work is being 
performed; and 

iii. Identify how all inspection and testing requirements of the Unalaska Code of 
Ordinances as well as Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation regulations 
for water and wastewater systems will be satisfied. 

The City shall review inspection and testing proposal and confer with Developer 
regarding changes to the proposal prior to approval. 

G. Developer shall pay 100 percent of all costs relating to any inspection, surveillance, and 
testing by the City, performed for acceptance of the Work and correction period. Surveillance 
shall be performed by the City during the course of construction and up to the point of final 
acceptance of the completed project. 

H. Sanitary Sewer shall be tested in accordance with the 2015 Municipality of Anchorage 
Standard Specification.  Specifically, Division 50 – Sanitary Sewers, Article 2.5 Testing. 

I. Water systems shall be tested in accordance with the 2015 Municipality of Anchorage 
Standard Specification.  Specifically, Division 60 – Water Systems, Article 2.5 Testing. 

3. Security 

A. If the Work has not been completed prior to submittal of a final plat to the Planning 
Commission, Developer shall submit to the City a surety bond or certified check in an amount 
equal to the cost of the Work (“Security for the Work”) as estimated by the City. The Security 
for the Work will be subject to the condition that the Work will be completed within 24 months 
after approval of the final plat. If not completed, the City may complete the Work using the 
Security for the Work. Any amount in excess of the costs of completing the Work, including the 
City’s administrative costs, will be returned to the Developer. 

B. The City shall release the Security for the Work upon satisfaction of each requirement of 
Section 4 of this Agreement. The City may refuse to release the Security for the Work if the 
Developer is in present or imminent default, in whole or in part, of completion of the Work or 
any provision of this Agreement. 

4. Acceptance of the Work. 

Council Packet Page 147 



 

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
PARKSIDE SUBDIVISION  Page 3 of 5 

A. Initial Inspection. Inspection shall be made by the City prior to acceptance of the Work. 
The City shall have 14 days to provide Developer a list of deficiencies, except that the Director 
of Public Works may extend the 14-day period for unusual circumstances such as extreme 
weather. The 14-day period shall begin on the day the City receives written notice from 
Developer that Developer’s own comprehensive inspection has confirmed that the Work is 
complete, and all applicable Agreement requirements are fulfilled, and the Work is ready for 
City inspection.  The initial inspection cannot occur before Final Approval to Operate 
certification has been received for both the water and wastewater utility from the Alaska 
Department of Conservation. 

B. Follow-Up Inspection. After the initial City inspection has been completed and all listed 
deficiencies noted in the initial City inspection report have been corrected, Developer shall notify 
the City in writing and the City shall perform a follow-up inspection within 14 days of receiving 
the notification, except that the Director of Public Works may extend the 14-day period for 
unusual circumstances such as extreme weather. If the follow-up inspection reveals continuing 
deficiencies, this process shall be repeated until all deficiencies noted in an inspection report 
have been corrected. 

C. Submittals. Developer shall submit to the Department of Public Works: 

i. A complete record of the engineer’s daily inspection reports; 

ii. Copies of all test results; 

iii. A complete set of as-built plans for the Work (As-builts shall contain both horizontal 
and vertical location of the Work and shall be furnished in both AutoCAD and in .pdf 
format); 

iv. Final Approval to Operate documentation for both the water and wastewater utility 
extensions from the Alaska Department of Conservation; 

v. Letters from electric and water/wastewater utilities that all lots have service available;  

vi. Certificate of monumentation. 

D. Security for Correction Period. Developer shall furnish a surety bond or cash deposit in 
an amount equal to five percent of the cost of the Work for payment of costs for any correction, 
reconstruction, repair, or maintenance of the Work during the correction period. The amount of 
this security shall not limit Developer’s liability for correction, reconstruction, repair, or 
maintenance during the correction period. 

E. Acceptance of Ownership. The City shall provide its written acceptance of Developer’s 
dedication of the Work only if each requirement of Section 4 of this Agreement is satisfied. 

5. Correction Period. 

A. Duration. Upon satisfaction of each requirement of Section 4 of this Agreement, the 
Work shall be placed in a correction period of not less than one year as described in this Section. 

Council Packet Page 148 



 

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
PARKSIDE SUBDIVISION  Page 4 of 5 

Repairs or modifications made during the correction period may extend the duration of the 
correction period for those repairs or modifications. 

B. Guarantee. During the correction period, Developer guarantees that the Work will remain 
in good condition and meet operating specifications. Such guarantee covers all defects and 
failure of the Work to meet operating specifications except to the extent such condition is caused 
by the gross negligence or deliberate misconduct of the City. 

C. Correction of deficiencies. Within 30 days, or a reasonable extension at the sole 
discretion of the Director of Public Works, of written notification by the City of the need for 
repair or reconstruction, Developer shall correct the deficiencies. If Developer fails to repair or 
reconstruct the deficiency within the time specified in this section, the City will make the repair 
at Developer’s sole expense. The City may then bill Developer for the cost of the repair and 
associated administrative costs and declare the bond or deposit forfeited. If Developer identifies 
need for repair or reconstruction during the correction period, Developer shall notify the City by 
certified mail and shall make the repair or reconstruction with authorization (in lieu of the above 
notification) from the City. 

D. End of correction period. Not sooner than 60 days prior the anticipated end of the 
correction period, Developer shall give the City written notice and request for final inspection. 
The City shall inspect the Work and provide a list of deficiencies to Developer with 30 days, 
except that the Director of Public Works may extend this time due to inappropriate weather or 
other conditions that impede complete inspection. All deficiencies identified in during this 
inspection or during the correction period shall be corrected, inspected, and approved within 30 
days, except that the Director of Public Works may extend the 30-day period for unusual 
circumstances or inappropriate weather. Upon approval and final acceptance of any corrections, 
the correction period shall terminate. 

E. Release of Security. The City is under no obligation to release any remaining security if 
Developer fails to correct any identified deficiencies. The City will release the remaining 
security within 90 days of final acceptance. 

6. Interpretation & Disputes. 

A. The Director of Public Works may make written orders and determinations regarding 
interpretation of and Developer’s performance under this Agreement. 

B. Developer may appeal such order or determination by filing a written notice of appeal 
with the Director of Public Works within 10 business days of the date of the action being 
appealed. Upon receipt of such appeal, the Director of Public shall transmit the appeal to the city 
manager, who shall set the time and place for a hearing at which the appeal will be considered. 
The city manager or the manager’s designee shall serve as the hearing officer. Prior to the 
hearing, the Director of Public Works shall transmit to the city manager’s office all records 
pertaining to the decision being appealed. The city manage shall timely issue a decision on the 
appeal, which may be appealed by filing a notice of appeal with the Superior Court within 30 

Council Packet Page 149 



 

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
PARKSIDE SUBDIVISION  Page 5 of 5 

days of notification of the manager’s decision. Citations for minor offenses are governed by the 
Alaska Rules of Minor Offense Procedure and are not appealable under this section. 

C. Any suit relating to or arising out of this Agreement, including appeal of the city 
manager’s decision, shall be brought in the Third Judicial District, Superior Court at Unalaska. 

7. General Terms. 

A. Modification. No modification of this Agreement, or waiver of any portion thereof, shall 
be valid unless made in writing and duly executed by all parties. 

B. Assignment & Contracting. Developer may not assign any right or interest under this 
Agreement. Developer’s contracting with any third party for performance of the Work shall not 
relieve Developer of any obligation under this Agreement. Developer shall be responsible for the 
actions and conduct of its contractors.  

C. Governing Law and Forum. This Agreement shall be interpreted, construed, and enforced 
in accordance with, and otherwise governed in all respects by, the laws of the State of Alaska.  

D. Attorney Fees. In any action undertaken to enforce any provision of this Agreement the 
prevailing party, whether in an administrative or judicial proceeding, shall be entitled to 
reimbursement of reasonable attorney fees and costs incurred by it in such action or proceeding. 

WHEREFORE, the parties agree to the terms and conditions appearing above. 

 

CITY OF UNALASKA PARKSIDE DEVELOPMENT, 
LLC 

 

_____________________________   _____________________________ 
 Erin Reinders       Date   Glenn Olson   Date 

City of Unalaska, City Manager   Owner 
 
 
 

Council Packet Page 150 


	00 Agenda 2021 08 24
	07  Draft Meeting Minutes 2021 08 10
	08 Manager's Report 2021 08 24
	12a Ordinance 2021-15 FY22 BA #1
	Ordinance 2021-15 FY22 BA #1
	Page 2 - Ordinance 2021-15 FY22 BA #1
	Staff Memo BA #1 2021 08 10

	12b Resolution 56 Awarding contract for cost benefit analysis, Captains Bay Rd Project
	Reso 2021-56 Memo Award CBA to HDR rev1
	Resolution 56 Awarding contract for cost benefit analysis, Captains Bay Rd Project
	Reso 2021-56 Resolution
	Reso 2021-56 Memo Award CBA to HDR rev1
	Reso 2021-56 Att 1 RFP
	Attachment A Project Status for Cost-Benefit Analysis.pdf
	05 1 Design 65%  Less 234 Pages.pdf
	A Sheets
	18028_05_A01-A01-H

	F Sheets
	18028_05_F01-F15-F01-H
	18028_05_F01-F15-F02-H
	18028_05_F01-F15-F03-H
	18028_05_F01-F15-F04-H




	Reso 2021-56 Att 2 Northern Economics Proposal
	Prepared for
	Prepared by
	In Association with
	Letter of Transmittal
	Professional Qualifications: Methodology
	Description of Major Tasks

	Schedule and Deliverables
	Team Experience
	Team Firms
	Key staff
	Northern Economics
	Mike Fisher, MBS, MSPM | Project Management, Cost/Benefit Analysis Lead
	Marcus Hartley, M.S. | Economic Modeling and Fisheries Industry Subject Matter Expert

	HDL
	Trevor Strait, PE, PTOE (AELC14864) | Transportation Engineer
	David Lundin, PE (AELC10127; AELV14314) | HDL Project Manager

	DOWL
	Rich Pribyl, PE | Road Engineering
	Kevin Johnson, PE | Water/Wastewater Engineering
	Neil McMahon, MS | Rate Analysis/Funding Options/Project Management


	Relevant Project Experience
	Northern Economics
	UMC TIGER Grant BCA, 2015
	City of Unalaska TIGER Grant BCA, 2014
	Little South America (LSA) Land Development Study, 2013
	Tanana Road Phase II Benefit-Cost Analysis for BUILD Grant, 2018
	Tanana Road Upgrade Project Benefit-Cost Analysis for TIGER Discretionary Grant, 2017
	Benefit-Cost Analysis of the Emmonak Barge Ramp and Dock Project, 2018
	FASTLANE Grant Cost Benefit Analysis, 2016

	HDL
	Captains Bay Road Paving and Utility Extension, Unalaska
	Chiniak Highway, MP 15-31 Rehabilitation

	DOWL
	Bethel Avenues Piped Water and Sewer Preliminary Engineering Report (PER)/Environmental Assessment (EA)
	Sterling Highway Milepost (MP) 45-79
	Ambler Mining District Industrial Access Project
	Akutan Harbor Access Road Design



	Resumes
	Mike F Resume.pdf
	EDUCATION and CERTIFICATION
	NORTHERN ECONOMICS EXPERIENCE
	Vice President, September 2017–Present
	Principal Consultant, June 2015–Present
	Projects


	Marcus Resume.pdf
	EDUCATION
	EXPERIENCE
	Projects



	Reso 2021-56 Att 3 HDR Proposal
	Reso 2021-56 Att 4 Scoring Sheet Summary
	Summary

	Reso 2021-56 Att 5 Agreement-Scope-Fee Proposal


	13a Resolution 57 COVID protective measures
	Resolution 2021-57-08242021 Encourage Aug 25 Updated
	Memo to Council Resolution 2021-57 08242021 Encourage

	13b Resolution 58 Utility Extension Agreement Parkside Estates
	Resolution 2021-58 PD LLC
	Memo supporting Res 2021-58 - rev3
	Parkside Development - Request to extend City Utilities - 210517
	2021.08.19 DRAFT Contract City of Unalaska and Parkside Development LLC




